
* Indicates attachment included for this item

SPECIAL MEETING 
of the 

OPERATIONS & CUSTOMER RELATIONS COMMITTEE 

MONTECITO WATER DISTRICT 
583 SAN YSIDRO ROAD 

WEDNESDAY, JANUARY 17, 2024 
9:30 A.M. 

Attend in Person or Join by Teleconference:  
https://us06web.zoom.us/j/88470789887?pwd=8mQPAgDbfRYDREWR7RTmySJsyy7zf8.1 

Meeting ID: 884 7078 9887     Passcode: 720372 
Tel: (669) 900-6833 

AGENDA 

1. CALL TO ORDER, DETERMINATION OF COMMITTEE QUORUM

2. PUBLIC FORUM

NOTE: This portion of the agenda may be utilized by any person to address the Operations &
Administration Committee on any matter within the jurisdiction of the Committee. No consideration
or discussion shall be undertaken by Committee members at this time on any item not appearing on
this agenda except as permitted by the Ralph M. Brown Act. Discussion items receiving
recommendations by the Committee, and/or items requiring action will be placed on the agenda of a
future meeting of the Montecito Water District Board of Directors.

3. ITEMS FOR COMMITTEE CONSIDERATION

Update on Development of Parcel Water Budgets

B. Proposed 2024 Employee Handbook

C. Proposed Revision 6 of the COVID-19 Prevention and Response Plan as required by the
California Department of Public Health

D. Proposed Resolution No. 2271 adopting an updated Procurement Policy

E. Proposed Resolution No. 2272 adopting an updated Signatory Authority Policy

F. Proposed modifications to implementation of the Water Use Efficiency Plan

G. Office Property Repaving Opportunity

H. Review of alternatives for crossing conflict at Coast Village Road as part of the State of
California US101 Highway Widening Project Segment 4E

I. Declaration of Surplus Equipment

  A. 

* 

* 

* 

* 

* 

* 

* 

*
 
 

* 

https://us06web.zoom.us/j/88470789887?pwd=8mQPAgDbfRYDREWR7RTmySJsyy7zf8.1


MWD Operations and Customer Relations Committee Meeting Agenda 
January 17, 2024 
Page 2 of 2 
 

J. Consideration of Contract Amendment for Juncal Pipeline Repair Project Resulting from 
the January 2023 Storms 

K. Customer Relations and Public Information Update 

4. ITEMS FOR A FUTURE AGENDA 

5. ADJOURNMENT 

Note: Montecito Water District has resumed in-person meetings in accordance with the Brown Act.  
The District also provides alternative methods of participation which permit members of the public to 
observe and address public meetings telephonically and/or electronically. These methods of 
participation can be accessed through the internet link provided at the top of this agenda.    

This agenda was posted on the District website, and at the Montecito Water District outside display 
case at 5:00 p.m. on January 12, 2024.  The Americans with Disabilities Act provides that no qualified 
individual with a disability shall be excluded from participation in, or denied the benefits of, the 
District’s programs, services or activities because of any disability. If you need special assistance to 
participate in this meeting, please contact the District Office at 805-969-2271. Notification at least 
twenty-four (24) hours prior to the meeting will enable the District to make appropriate arrangements. 

Agendas, agenda packets, and additional materials related to an item on this agenda submitted to the 
Committee after distribution of the agenda packet are available on the District website. 

* 

* 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 



MONTECITO WATER DISTRICT 
MEMORANDUM 

SECTION: 3-A

DATE: JANUARY 17, 2024 

TO: OPERATIONS AND CUSTOMER RELATIONS COMMITTEE  

FROM: ASSISTANT GENERAL MANAGER & GENERAL MANAGER 

SUBJECT: UPDATE ON PARCEL MAPPING AND DEVELOPMENT OF PARCEL 
WATER BUDGETS  

RECOMMENDATION:  

• That the Operations and Customer Relations Committee review the latest progress on the
development of parcel water budgets and consider the need for further refinement, if any.

• That the Operations and Customer Relations Committee consider how the District shall
utilize parcel water budgets, if at all, for the benefit of the District and/or its customers (i.e.
water efficiency tool, basis for water rates, etc.).

• That the Operations and Customer Relations Committee consider supporting a presentation
of parcel water budgets to the Board of Directors with the intent of receiving input and
direction on next steps.

BACKGROUND: 

At its meeting of October 25, 2022, the District Board of Directors discussed various financial 
mechanisms to encourage a reduction in water use and subsequently directed staff to prepare a 
work plan for the development and possible implementation of water budgets by parcel including 
penalties for excessive use.  Addressing excessive water use is of priority for the District due to 
the continual reoccurrence of droughts locally and statewide, diminishing surface water supplies, 
and the State’s development and 2024 planned implementation of Urban Water Use Objectives 
(UWUO). Water supply conditions significantly improved following the 2023/24 winter, 
eliminating the near-term need for penalties for excessive water use.  However, parcel water 
budgets remain a District priority to provide customers with the tools needed to manage water use 
efficiently and to help avoid excessive water use.   

A parcel water budget is a quantified monthly water use target that promotes efficient water use 
by providing sufficient water for typical, yet efficient, water use indoors and outdoors for a specific 
property.  Parcel water budgets account for seasonal changes in water use such as irrigation in 
winter versus summer and provide flexibility to customers to choose how they use water on their 
property while discouraging water waste and excessive use. Parcel water budgets are a tool that 

Section 3-A 
Page 1 of 9



 

will assist the District with compliance with the State’s new UWUO regulation, which became 
effective with reporting in January 2024 for water use in calendar year 2023. Additionally, parcel 
water budgets will enable the District to manage water demand more effectively and equitably and 
could be used as the basis for establishing future water rates.    

In November 2022, staff began developing the methodology for calculating parcel water budgets 
and have provided periodic updates on progress. In December 2022, the Board of Directors 
supported the continued development of parcel water budgets including the approval of contracts 
with Eagle Aerial for aerial mapping, Raftelis for potential fee development, and Michael 
Colantuono as special legal counsel. In January 2023, staff provided an outline of the parcel budget 
methodology and received feedback from the Directors.   

Staff returned to the Operations and Customer Relations Committee in May 2023, August 2023, 
October 2023, and November 2023 to present updates on the development of parcel water budgets.  
As a result of ongoing Committee input and staff progress on parcel water budgets, the following 
has tentatively been agreed to during prior committee meetings: 

• The use of 2022 aerial imagery at 3-inch resolution instead of the 2018 12-inch resolution 
aerial imagery. 

• Reducing parcel water budgets to the 3-year average for properties utilizing groundwater 
from a private well. 

• Refinement of the plant factor for “trees, shrubs, other” plant category to 0.3 to align with 
data acquired through the review of proposed plantings at 38 new and/or redevelopment 
projects in the community over the last 12-18 months. 

• Refinement of the turf plant factor to 0.6 which is the mid-point between high and low 
water using turf types. 

• For commercial and institutional properties, using the average winter month usage from 
2017, 2019 and 2023 to determine indoor water usage (targeted wet years and avoided 
COVID years). 

• Refinement of Multi-Family Residential (MFR) occupancy from 3 to 2 persons following 
an additional investigation into occupancy for MFR housing in the community. 

• Accounting for evaporation from pools and lined ponds at evaporation rates consistent with 
published evaporation rates on the South Coast. 

• Using an irrigation efficiency coefficient of 0.8, consistent with state guidance. 

DISCUSSION:  

At its November 6, 2023, regular meeting, the Operations and Customer Relations Committee 
requested staff perform additional refinement of the parcel water budget methodology, specifically 
requesting further analysis of the outliers (parcels whose 3-year average is at least 70% below or 
above their parcel water budget), determining the reason for their low or high water use, and if any 

Section 3-A 
Page 2 of 9



 

changes to the parcel water budget methodology were justified following the review of these 
accounts.  Staff have updated the analysis, as presented below.  

Modifications to Parcel Budget Methodology since November 2023 

Refinement of “Open Water” Classification  

During review of accounts with 3-year average usage 70% below or above their parcel water 
budget, staff identified approximately 15 properties where the legal property boundary extend into 
the ocean and this portion of the property was being given an “open water” classification.  This 
added to the property’s parcel water budget by allowing for evaporation from the open water to be 
additive to the parcel budget and resulting in a significant variance from the actual water use on 
these properties.  These areas have been removed from the parcel water budgets for these 
properties, resulting in a reduction of parcel water budgets by approximately 4-acre feet per year 
(AFY).   

Refinement of Parcel Water Budgets for Accounts with Private Wells 

As previously agreed, the parcel water budget for a property with a private well has been reduced 
to the parcel’s 3-year average use. As of November 2023, this included approximately 600 
properties with known wells. However, histograms showing actual use compared to parcel water 
budgets show many properties actual usage is far below the parcel water budget for the property.  
Staff reviewed accounts whose actual usage was significantly below their parcel water budget 
(70% or more under budget) and whose difference between parcel water budget and actual use was 
at least 450 HCF (approximately 1 acre-foot).  The list included 95 total properties.  Staff called 
each individual property to ask if there was an alternate water source on the property.  Of the 95 
properties, staff were able to speak with 39 customers and the remaining either did not answer and 
staff left a voicemail, or the phone number was not a valid phone number.  Of the 39 customers 
that staff spoke directly with on the phone, 34 customers confirmed the use of a private 
groundwater well on their property or the use of groundwater from a private water company or 
neighbors’ groundwater well.  In general, properties confirmed well water was used for outdoor 
irrigation while District water is used for indoor use.  Two properties were vacant for the last 2-3 
years, and five properties said they are extremely mindful of water conservation, and rarely 
irrigated any of their landscaping.  The parcel water budgets for the 34 properties with new 
confirmed wells have been reduced to their 3-year average, resulting in a total reduction of 67 
AFY.   

Comparison of Parcel Water Budges to 3-Year Historical Usage 

The total parcel water budget for each account was compared to 3-year historical water use and 
summarized for each customer class as shown in Table 1.   

 

 

 

 

Section 3-A 
Page 3 of 9



 

Table 1. Summary of Parcel Water Budgets compared to District Customer Historical Use 

Customer  
Class 

Parcel Water  
Budget 

3-Year Average  
Historical Use 

AF  
Variance  

Agricultural 306 301 5 
Commercial 246 223 23 
Institutional 283 253 30 

Multi-Family Residential 122 103 19 
Single Family Residential 3177 3141 36 

TOTAL 4134 4021 113 

Figures 1 and 2 present histograms showing the percent difference between 3-year historical use 
and parcel water budgets for all properties (Figure 1) and by customer classes (Figure 2).  Figure 
2 has a spike at zero because approximately 660 parcels with wells had their parcel water budgets 
reduced to the 3-year average, so their historical use matches their parcel water budget (zero 
variance).  The average deviation of actual use compared to the proposed parcel water budgets is 
approximately -1.6%.  

Figure 1 – Histogram of 3-Year Average Use to Parcel Water Budgets 

 

 
 

 

Section 3-A 
Page 4 of 9



 

 

Figure 2 – Histogram of 3-Year Average Use to Parcel Water Budgets by Customer Class 

 
Confirmed Explanations for Outlier Properties 

District staff contacted accounts noted as outliers on the histograms presented above.  This 
included accounts whose actual usage was far below their parcel water budget and accounts whose 
usage was far above their parcel water budget.  As discussed above, the majority of these outliers 
either had wells that were not being accounted for (low end outliers) or the District had assumed 
wells were active when they were not (high end outliers).   Outside of properties with wells, several 
reasons for possible variations between actual usage and parcel water budgets were identified.  

For low end outliers, reasons include: 

• Properties are under construction.  Properties under construction often use less water. 
Currently, the County of Santa Barbara website lists over 4,000 active building permit 
applications in the Montecito area.  

• Properties are used seasonally.  Many property owners are not present at the property 
year-round, resulting in actual use being lower than the parcel water budget.  

• Conservation / Low Outdoor Usage. Many customers choose to use less than efficient 
water use for the purposes of conserving water and/or reducing costs.  As illustrated by the 
brown turf in Figure 3, many parcels have large turf areas which receive a parcel water 
budget but the customer has chosen to irrigate less.  

Section 3-A 
Page 5 of 9



 

Figure 3.  Examples of brown turf areas indicating less than optimal irrigation 

 

      

      
 

For high end outliers, reasons include: 

• New Customers – new customers unfamiliar with water rates or water wise irrigation 
practices were not aware of their overuse of water on the property. 

• Leaks – customers experienced large and sometimes long occurring leaks, increasing 
actual usage beyond their parcel budget. 

• Recent Landscape Improvements – parcels that may have been undeveloped or not 
landscaped during the August 2022 aerial imagery have since added turf, or other water 
using landscapes.  

 

 

Section 3-A 
Page 6 of 9



 

CONCLUSIONS: 

The goal of developing parcel water budgets is to provide customers and the District with a 
calibrated and accurate tool for monitoring water use on a specific property.  The process of parcel 
water budget development has required significant research into some factors of the parcel water 
budget equation to ensure the factors reflect local conditions.  The list below details how the 
process has ensured accuracy and completeness during the development of parcel water budgets.  

• Methodology and calculation used to determine parcel water budget aligns well with the 
SWRCB’s regulations for Urban Water Use Objectives. 

• Data refinement has been a priority 

o APN/meter correlation 

o Identifying parcels with ongoing conservation (i.e., Santa Barbara Cemetery) 

o Direct contact with parcel owners to explain data anomalies 

o Through vetting of data outliers  

• Accounting for private groundwater well use 

o Identifying parcels with or benefitting from an active well 

o Direct contact with parcel owners to confirm use of private groundwater well 

• Scientific-based published resources used 

o Occupancy – Defined by census and UWMP data 

o Eto – Defined by California Irrigation Management Information System 

o Landscape Area – Defined using high resolution imagery 

o Precipitation Efficiency – defined by Model Water Efficient Landscape Ordinance 

o Irrigation Efficiency – Defined by Model Water Efficient Landscape Ordinance 

o Plant Factors – Ranges defined by Water Use Classification of Landscape Species 
(WUCOLS)  

 Turf – Limited selection; more easily determined 

 Ag – Limited and common Ag types grown in the region; more easily 
determined 

 Trees/Shrubs/Other Plant Factors are the subjective input 

• Refinement of understanding of Trees/Shrubs/Other Plant 

o Review of past SFR development plans to determine weighted average 
Shrub/Tree/Other Plant Factors used by landscape architects 

o Experience in the community including onsite visits to estimate high water 
consuming versus drought tolerate shrubs/trees/other 

Section 3-A 
Page 7 of 9



 

 

1 Non Potable usage will be accounted for in a property’s parcel specific water budget 
  GPCD = Gallons per Capita per Day          Eto = Evapotranspiration   IE = Irrigation Efficiency 
  SFR = Single Family Residential MFR = Multi Family Residential AG = Agricultural 
 

• Model developed and iterative process used to test accuracy of calculated parcel water 
budgets (compared to 3-yr historical average) 

• Latest model output indicates general alignment of Parcel Water Budgets with 3-Yr 
Average Historical Use; 2% difference 

Customer  
Class 

Parcel Water  
Budget 

3-Year Average  
Historical Use 

AF  
Variance  

Agricultural 306 301 5 
Commercial 246 223 23 
Institutional 283 253 30 

Multi Family Residential 122 103 19 
Single Family Residential 3186 3141 45 

TOTAL 4143 4021 122 

• Modify individual parcel water budgets to represent efficient water use most accurately on 
a property based on updated information when available.  

 

NEXT STEPS: 

The development of parcel water budgets has been a methodical and cautious process using the 
best available science and conscientious decision making.  Staff have been working carefully on 
each component of the parcel water budget methodology for approximately 9 months and have 
performed extensive testing of the assumptions of the methodology. The methodology provides 
the most accurate representation of efficient water use on a property.  

Staff’s recommendation is to introduce parcel water budgets on customer bills, to replace the 
existing “3-year average water use” bars on the graph included in customer bills.  Parcel water 

  INDOOR OUTDOOR 

Class1 Occupancy  GPCD Eto Landscape 
Areas 

Turf 
Plant 

Factor 

Ag. 
Plant 

Factor 

Shrub/ 
Other 
Plant 

Factor 

IE 
Pools/Lined 

Ponds 
Evap 

SFR 3 55 

46.1 
inches 

per 
year 

Per 
Mapping 
by Eagle 

Aerial 

0.6 0.5 0.3 0.8 43.0 inches 
per year 

MFR 2 per 
dwelling  55 

Commercial 2017, 2019, 2023 
January to March 

90th Percentile Usage Institutional 

AG 3 per 
dwelling  55 

Section 3-A 
Page 8 of 9



budgets can also be used to perform targeted outreach to properties exceeding their parcel water 
budget for an extended period of time.   

The use of parcel water budgets for water rates by parcel could be used in the future if desired by 
the Board.  

Section 3-A 
Page 9 of 9



Page left intentionally blank.



MONTECITO WATER DISTRICT 
MEMORANDUM 

SECTION: 3-B

DATE: JANUARY 17, 2024 

TO: OPERATIONS AND CUSTOMER RELATIONS COMMITTEE 

FROM: GENERAL MANAGER 

SUBJECT: 2024 EMPLOYEE HANDBOOK 

RECOMMENDATION: 
1. That the Operations and Customer Relations Committee provide staff with input on the

proposed revisions to the current Employee Handbook; and

2. That the Operations and Customer Relations Committee recommend the Board of
Directors adopt the 2024 Employee Handbook.

DISCUSSION: 

The District regularly reviews and revises its Employee Handbook to ensure compliance with 
California law and to incorporate other changes as deemed appropriate by the Board of 
Directors.  Attached to this memorandum is the draft 2024 Employee Handbook. 

Law changes for 2024 include the following: 

• Section 5.8 (formally Section 5.9) – Amended to add a “Reproductive Loss” Leave
requirement, similar to Bereavement Leave.

Other proposed revisions to the handbook include the following: 

• Section 2.6 Employee References – Delete “Information on the annual salary or hourly
rate of the employee will be provided upon written inquiry” to be consist with law.

• Section 4.3 Retirement Program, C. 457 Deferred Compensation Plans – Changes clarify
that employees have access to both pre- and post- tax deferred compensation plans.

• Section 4.3 D – Revised to be consistent with Section 4.1 and past practice. The use of
the term “Health Insurance Coverage” for retirees means medical insurance coverage
only.

• Section 5.2 Family and Medical Leave – Changes are intended for clarification.

• Section 5.6 A – Delete last sentence.  Pregnancy Disability Leave (PDL) does not run
concurrent with leave granted under the CFRA.

Section 3-B 
Page 1 of 55



• Section 5.8 New Parent Leave – Section deleted entirely as it is covered under Section
5.2 Family and Medical Leave.

• Section 6.5 is amended to provide a definition of “business casual”.

• Section 6.12, Accident Reporting – Amended to add “The driver shall report all accidents
or moving violations that occur on District business to their Department Manager and/or
Superintendent 1) immediately, or (2) as soon as safe to do so.”  This section is expanded
to more thoroughly reflect ACWA JPIA requirements.

While the draft 2024 Employee Handbook includes significant redlines, they are not material 
changes and are suggested to improve the organization of readability of the Handbook. 

The Employee Handbook has been reviewed with the assistance of legal counsel, Mr. Grant 
Burton, an attorney with Wendelstein Law Group PC. 

ATTACHMENTS 

1. Draft 2024 Employee Handbook

Section 3-B 
Page 2 of 55



Draft 
Employee Handbook

2024 

Adopted by the Board of Directors on January __, 2024 

Section 3-B 
Page 3 of 55



MWD Employee Handbook 2024 
Section 3-B 
Page 4 of 55



 

MWD Employee Handbook 2024 i 

FORWARD ................................................................................................................................... 1 
1. INTRODUCTION..................................................................................................................... 1 

1.1 MISSION STATEMENT ..................................................................................................... 1 
1.2 VISION STATEMENT ........................................................................................................ 2 

2. EMPLOYMENT PRACTICES ............................................................................................... 2 
2.1 PRE-EMPLOYMENT PHYSICAL EXAMINATIONS ...................................................... 2 
2.2 REHIRED EMPLOYEES ..................................................................................................... 2 
2.3 AUTHORIZATION TO WORK .......................................................................................... 2 
2.4 DEFINITIONS ...................................................................................................................... 2 
2.5 EQUAL EMPLOYMENT OPPORTUNITY ....................................................................... 3 
2.6 EMPLOYEE REFERENCES ............................................................................................... 4 
2.7 HIRING PRACTICES AND APPLICATION PROCEDURES .......................................... 4 
2.8 ANNIVERSARY DATES .................................................................................................... 4 
2.9 JOB PERFORMANCE REVIEW ........................................................................................ 5 
2.10 PERSONNEL FILES .......................................................................................................... 5 
2.11 JOB DESCRIPTION .......................................................................................................... 6 
2.12 CLASSIFICATION STUDY REQUESTS......................................................................... 6 
2.13 NOTICE OF CHANGES TO EMPLOYEE INFORMATION .......................................... 6 
2.14 OUTSIDE EMPLOYMENT ............................................................................................... 6 

3. HOURS, PAY PRACTICES AND BREAK TIME ............................................................... 6 
3.1 NORMAL WORKING HOURS .......................................................................................... 6 
3.2 OVERTIME .......................................................................................................................... 7 
3.3 AFTER HOURS POLICY (ON-CALL AND OTHER PAY) .............................................. 8 
3.4 COMPENSATORY TIME ................................................................................................... 9 
3.5 PAYDAY AND TIMESHEETS ........................................................................................... 9 
3.6 REST AND MEAL BREAKS ............................................................................................ 10 
3.7 LACTATION ACCOMMODATION POLICY ................................................................. 10 
3.8 RESIDENCY ...................................................................................................................... 10 

4. BENEFITS ............................................................................................................................... 10 
4.1 HEALTH INSURANCE BENEFITS ................................................................................. 10 
4.2 FLEXIBLE SPENDING ACCOUNT & DEPENDENT CARE ACCOUNT .................... 12 
4.3 RETIREMENT PROGRAM .............................................................................................. 12 
4.4 VACATION ........................................................................................................................ 13 
4.5 HOLIDAYS ........................................................................................................................ 14 
4.6 LONGEVITY PAY ............................................................................................................ 15 

Section 3-B 
Page 5 of 55



 

MWD Employee Handbook 2024 ii 

4.7 COST OF LIVING ADJUSTMENT OF WAGES AND SALARIES (COLA) ................ 15 
4.8 WORKERS' COMPENSATION ........................................................................................ 15 
4.9 CONTINUATION OF HEALTH COVERAGE (COBRA) ............................................... 16 
4.10 EMPLOYEE ASSISTANCE PLAN (EAP) ..................................................................... 16 
4.11 REIMBURSABLE ITEMS ............................................................................................... 16 
4.12 CERTIFICATION INCENTIVE PAY ............................................................................. 17 
4.13 TEMPORARY PROMOTION ......................................................................................... 18 

5. LEAVES OF ABSENCE ........................................................................................................ 18 
5.1 SICK LEAVE ..................................................................................................................... 18 
5.2 FAMILY AND MEDICAL LEAVE   ................................................................................ 19 
5.3 MILITARY LEAVE ........................................................................................................... 21 
5.4 MILITARY FAMILY LEAVE........................................................................................... 22 
5.5 DOMESTIC VIOLENCE LEAVE ..................................................................................... 22 
5.6 PREGNANCY-RELATED DISABILITY LEAVE (PDL) ................................................ 22 
5.7 PERSONAL LEAVE OF ABSENCE ................................................................................ 24 
5.8 BEREAVEMENT LEAVE/REPRODUCTIVE LOSS LEAVE ........................................ 24 
5.9 JURY/WITNESS DUTY .................................................................................................... 25 
5.10 RELIGIOUS OBSERVANCE LEAVE ............................................................................ 25 
5.11 TIME TO VOTE ............................................................................................................... 25 
5.12 OTHER LEGALLY REQUIRED LEAVES OF ABSENCE ........................................... 25 
5.13 GENERAL STATUS DURING UNPAID LEAVES OF ABSENCE ............................. 25 
5.14 EARLY RETURN TO WORK PROGRAM .................................................................... 25 
5.15 FITNESS-FOR-DUTY EXAMINATION ........................................................................ 26 

6. RULES OF CONDUCT ......................................................................................................... 26 
6.1 DISCIPLINARY ACTION ................................................................................................. 26 
6.2 PERSONAL BUSINESS CONDUCT ................................................................................ 29 
6.3 DISTRICT PROPERTY ..................................................................................................... 29 
6.4 WORKPLACE VIOLENCE ............................................................................................... 30 
6.5 PERSONAL APPEARANCE ............................................................................................. 30 
6.6 ANTI-HARASSMENT, ANTI-DISCRIMINATION, ANTI-RETALIATION POLICY . 31 
6.7 COMPLAINT PROCESS ................................................................................................... 33 
6.8 GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE ............................................................................................. 34 
6.9 SAFETY PROGRAMS ...................................................................................................... 35 
6.10 INJURY AT WORK ......................................................................................................... 35 
6.11 EMERGENCY PREPAREDNESS .................................................................................. 36 

Section 3-B 
Page 6 of 55



 

MWD Employee Handbook 2024 iii 

6.12 SAFE DRIVING PROGRAM .......................................................................................... 36 
6.13 USE OF DISTRICT AND PERSONAL VEHICLES ...................................................... 37 
6.14 CELLULAR PHONE, PDA, RADIO POLICY ............................................................... 37 
6.15 SMOKE FREE ENVIRONMENT ................................................................................... 38 
6.16 VOICE MAIL, E-MAIL AND TECHNOLOGY POLICY .............................................. 38 
6.17 RECORDING WITHOUT CONSENT POLICY ............................................................. 39 
6.18 MERCHANDISING OR SOLICITING ON DISTRICT PREMISES ............................. 39 
6.19 BULLETIN BOARD ........................................................................................................ 39 
6.20 PARKING FACILITIES .................................................................................................. 39 
6.21 LOANS, ADVANCES, PERSONAL CHECKS .............................................................. 39 
6.22 LUNCHROOM ................................................................................................................. 39 

7. SUBSTANCE ABUSE ............................................................................................................ 39 
7.1 PURPOSE OF POLICY ..................................................................................................... 39 
7.2 DEFINITIONS .................................................................................................................... 40 
7.3 EMPLOYEE ASSISTANCE .............................................................................................. 40 
7.4 USE OF LEGAL DRUGS .................................................................................................. 40 
7.5 PROHIBITED CONDUCT ................................................................................................ 42 

8. TESTING FOR ILLEGAL DRUGS AND ALCOHOL ...................................................... 42 
8.1 JOB APPLICANTS ............................................................................................................ 42 
8.2 TESTING OF EMPLOYEES ............................................................................................. 42 

9. DISCIPLINARY GUIDELINES ........................................................................................... 43 
9.1 CAUSES FOR TERMINATION ........................................................................................ 43 
9.2 DISCRETION NOT TO TERMINATE ............................................................................. 44 
9.3 EFFECT OF CRIMINAL DRUG CONVICTION ............................................................. 44 
9.4 EFFECT OF SECOND DRUG VIOLATION .................................................................... 44 

10. SOCIAL MEDIA .................................................................................................................. 44 
10.1 KNOW AND FOLLOW THE RULES ............................................................................ 45 
10.2 BE RESPECTFUL ............................................................................................................ 45 
10.3 BE HONEST AND ACCURATE .................................................................................... 45 
10.4 POST ONLY APPROPRIATE AND RESPECTFUL CONTENT .................................. 45 
10.5 USING SOCIAL MEDIA AT WORK ............................................................................. 46 
10.6 RETALIATION IS PROHIBITED ................................................................................... 46 
10.7 MEDIA CONTACTS ....................................................................................................... 46 
10.8 FOR MORE INFORMATION ......................................................................................... 46 

ACKNOWLEDGMENT FORM ............................................................................................... 47 

Section 3-B 
Page 7 of 55



 

MWD Employee Handbook 2024 iv 

   

Section 3-B 
Page 8 of 55



MWD Employee Handbook 2024 Page 1 of 47 

FORWARD 

This Employee Handbook (Handbook) is intended to provide employees with a general understanding of 
the District’s human resources policies, benefits, and rules. Updated annually, this version was last adopted 
by the Board of Directors on January __, 2024, and replaces all prior versions of the Handbook. It is 
intended to familiarize employees with important information about the District as well as employee 
responsibilities. It is important that employees read, understand, and follow the provisions of this 
Handbook. Although it describes important policies, practices, and benefits, the provisions of the Handbook 
do not constitute a contract of employment. The District reserves full discretion to add to, modify, or delete 
provisions, or the policies and procedures on which they may be based, at any time without advance notice. 
Employees will be advised of any such revisions. Employees should retain a copy of the latest Handbook, 
including revisions for reference, or may request one at any time. Employees may check with the Business 
Manager to obtain current information regarding the status of any particular policy, procedure, or practice. 

1. INTRODUCTION

The Montecito Water District was formed in 1921 to serve an area presently containing approximately 
9,900 acres (16 square miles) between the Pacific Ocean and the Santa Ynez mountains, immediately east 
of Santa Barbara. The Water District is governed by a five-member Board of Directors, the members of 
which are elected by the registered voters of the District to staggered four-year terms. The District was 
formed for the purposes of furnishing potable water and is operated under the provisions of the County 
Water District Act found in Division 12 of the State of California Water Code.   

The District operates water distribution and water treatment departments and provides administrative, 
engineering and business services to its customers. The District employs approximately 28 full-time 
personnel to operate and maintain its water system consisting of pumping stations, pressure control valves, 
ten reservoirs, over 110 miles of pipeline, and a State-registered dam. The District serves approximately 
4,640 accounts of various water use classifications, of which 92% are residential. 

The District obtains its water supplies from Jameson Lake, the Cachuma Project, the State Water Project, 
and the City of Santa Barbara, supported by the City’s desalination facility. Lesser amounts are derived 
from groundwater pumping, Doulton tunnel infiltration, and two creek diversions in the upper reaches of 
the Santa Ynez River.  

On June 28, 2022, the District executed a Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) with Service Employees 
International Union, Local 620 (SEIU) for the period of July 1, 2022, through June 30, 2027. Pursuant to 
the MOU, SEIU represents a portion of the District’s 28 employees. All provisions included in the MOU 
supersede any similar provision in this Employee Handbook for SEIU represented employees. Any 
provision included in this Employee Handbook that is not included in the latest District Board-approved 
MOU is applicable to all District employees including SEIU represented employees. Employees may 
request a copy of the latest MOU from the Business Manager. 

1.1 MISSION STATEMENT 

The mission of the Montecito Water District is to provide an adequate and reliable supply of high-quality 
water to the residents of the Montecito and Summerland communities, at the most reasonable cost. 

In carrying out this mission, the District places particular emphasis on providing outstanding customer 
service, conducting its operations in an environmentally sensitive manner, and working cooperatively with 
other agencies. 

Section 3-B 
Page 9 of 55



 

MWD Employee Handbook 2024 Page 2 of 47 

1.2 VISION STATEMENT 

The vision of the Montecito Water District is to ensure long term sustainability through further development 
of local water resources and to be recognized in the community for our transparency, integrity, and 
dedication in providing high quality drinking water to our customers. 

2. EMPLOYMENT PRACTICES 

2.1 PRE-EMPLOYMENT PHYSICAL EXAMINATIONS  

As a condition of employment, all applicants to whom offers of employment have been made will be 
required to take a job-related physical examination, which will be paid for by the District. 

The purpose of the examination is to determine that the selected applicant is medically fit to perform the 
essential functions of the job, with or without reasonable accommodation. The examination is conducted 
by a licensed medical practitioner and no medical information will be reported to the District beyond the 
determination of fitness to perform the essential functions of the particular job. In general, an applicant will 
not be refused employment unless the examination indicates an inability to perform the essential functions 
of the job in question, with or without reasonable accommodation. 

The District will also pay for physical examinations required by law for the licensing of employees if such 
licensing of employees is required by the District. 

2.2 REHIRED EMPLOYEES 

Employees who separate from District employment and are then rehired may recoup their past service credit 
for purposes of vacation accrual, at the District’s discretion under the following conditions:  

A. Employees may be absent from District service no more than three consecutive years; and  

B. Employees must have left District service in good standing and their last two job performance 
review ratings prior to leaving District service must have been satisfactory or above. 

Employees who separate from District employment and then are rehired are considered the same as a new 
employee for purposes of sick leave, health care benefits and compensation.  

2.3 AUTHORIZATION TO WORK 

All offers of employment are contingent on verification of authorization to work in the United States. The 
employee will be required to provide original documents verifying the employee's right to work and to sign 
a verification form (I-9) as required by federal law on acceptance of the District’s offer of employment.  

2.4 DEFINITIONS 

A. Board of Directors – The governing body of the District consisting of five directors publicly elected 
pursuant to California Water Code Sections 30700-30831 and exercising those powers granted 
pursuant to California Water Code Sections 31000 – 31088. 

B. Date of Hire – The first day of work with the District shall be an employee’s date of hire. 

C. Department Managers & Superintendents – Department Managers and Superintendents include the 
Assistant General Manager/Engineering Manager, Business Manager, Water Distribution 
Superintendent, and Treatment/Production Superintendent. 

Section 3-B 
Page 10 of 55



 

MWD Employee Handbook 2024 Page 3 of 47 

D. Full-Time Employee - An employee who is regularly scheduled to work 40 hours per week. 
Qualified full-time employees are eligible for all District benefits as provided in this Handbook or 
in the applicable insurance plan documents. 

E. General Manager – The executive director of the District appointed by the Board of Directors and 
responsible for the day-to-day operations and management of the District as outlined in California 
Water Code Sections 30580 and 30581. 

F. Introductory Employee – An employee in their first 365 days of employment, re-employment or in 
a new position with the District is defined as an Introductory Employee. 

G. Introductory Period - The first 365 days of employment for each new employee, former employee 
who is rehired, or a promoted employee is considered an Introductory Period for the employee. The 
employee will be closely observed by their Department Manager and/or Superintendent during this 
time.  This period is also intended to give the new employee an opportunity to study the District, 
its jobs, methods, etc., to determine if the employee has made a proper choice in working for the 
District.  

H. Regular Employee - An employee who is hired by the District through established hiring practices 
and who successfully completes the Introductory Period will be considered a Regular Employee, 
subject to the recommendation of the employee's Department Manager and/or Superintendent and 
signed approval of the General Manager.  

I. Part-Time Employee - An employee who is regularly scheduled to work at least 20 hours per week, 
but less than 40 hours per week. Part-time employees are eligible for District benefits on a pro-rata 
basis. 

J. Temporary Employee - An employee who is working at the District for a specified duration, and 
for a specified purpose. Temporary Employees do not accrue vacation or participate in PERS and 
are not eligible for other District or insurance benefits, with the exception of sick leave accrual as 
provided in this Handbook. Temporary Employees who work full time are limited to a period of 
six months or 1,000 hours or 125 days in a fiscal year.  

Exempt or non-exempt status of employment is determined pursuant to state and federal law. Employees 
will be informed of their exempt or non-exempt status when they are offered the job. Exempt employees 
by definition are exempt from earning overtime compensation. Exempt Employees include the General 
Manager, Assistant General Manager/Engineering Manager, the Business Manager and Groundwater 
Specialist. 

2.5 EQUAL EMPLOYMENT OPPORTUNITY 

It is the District's policy to provide equal employment opportunities for all employees and applicants for 
District employment. The District does not discriminate on the basis of race, natural hairstyles (including 
afros, braids, twists and locks), color, religious creed, sex (including pregnancy, childbirth, or related 
medical conditions), national origin, ancestry, age, physical or mental disabilities, medical conditions, 
veteran status, military service status, marital status, sexual orientation, gender identity or expression, 
citizenship status, genetic information, exercise of reproductive rights, use of cannabis away from the 
District and not during working hours, or any other basis prohibited by law. The District also makes 
reasonable accommodations for disabled employees. Finally, the District prohibits the harassment of any 
individual on any legally prohibited basis. 

Section 3-B 
Page 11 of 55



 

MWD Employee Handbook 2024 Page 4 of 47 

This policy applies to all areas of employment, including recruitment, hiring, training, promotion, 
compensation, benefits, transfer, and social and recreational programs. The District shall not rely on salary 
history to determine a potential hire’s salary. It is the responsibility of management and every employee to 
follow this policy. 

Further information about the District’s policies prohibiting unlawful discrimination and harassment, and 
the District's internal procedures for addressing complaints of harassment or discrimination are detailed in 
later sections of this Handbook.   

2.6 EMPLOYEE REFERENCES 

The Business Manager or their designee will respond to all requests for employee references. No other 
Department Manager and/or Superintendent or employee is authorized to release references for current or 
former employees. 

The District's policy in providing references for current and former employees of the District is to disclose 
only the employee's title and dates of employment. Verbal inquiries will be discouraged. Information on 
the annual salary or hourly rate of the employee will be provided upon written inquiry. 

2.7 HIRING PRACTICES AND APPLICATION PROCEDURES 

When the District has an open position, consideration will be given to internal promotions when feasible. 
The District may also turn to the outside employment market, using applications on file, advertising, or 
other resources as determined appropriate by the District. 

Relatives of present employees will not be eligible for District employment. "Relatives" are defined as 
spouses, children, stepchildren, sisters, sisters-in-law, brothers, brothers-in-law, mothers, mothers-in-law, 
fathers, and fathers-in-law.  Active employees who marry, or who become related by marriage, will be 
permitted to continue employment with the District only if they do not work in a direct supervisory 
relationship with one another, or if the relationship poses difficulties for supervision, security, safety or 
morale. If employees who marry, or who become related by marriage, do work in a direct supervisory 
relationship with one another, the District will attempt to reassign one of the employees to another position 
for which they are qualified, if such a position is available.  If such a position is not immediately available, 
reassignment shall occur as soon as possible after such a position becomes available. 

2.8 ANNIVERSARY DATES 

Each employee has an anniversary date which is used to determine eligibility for certain non-paid and paid 
benefits. Unless modified below, an employee’s anniversary date is their date of hire, which coincides with 
their first day of their Introductory Period.  

A. Unpaid Leave of Absence (see Section 5): If an employee takes a District-authorized leave of 
absence during the Introductory Period, both their anniversary date and the end of their Introductory 
Period shall no longer coincide with the date of hire but rather become the end of the first 365 days 
of continuous active employment.  

B. Vacation or Longevity Pay (see Section 4.6): For purposes of computing vacation and longevity 
pay allowances, the employee's anniversary date will be the employee’s date of hire. 

C. Performance Review (see Section 2.9): If, at the end of the Introductory Period, the employee is 
certified as a Regular Employee, which may include a salary increase, the effective date of such 
regular employment shall remain the employee’s anniversary date for annual performance review 
purposes. 

Section 3-B 
Page 12 of 55



 

MWD Employee Handbook 2024 Page 5 of 47 

D. Promotional Reclassification: When an employee receives a promotional reclassification, the 
effective date of that reclassification becomes the anniversary date for performance review 
purposes. If, at the end of the promotional reclassification Introductory Period, the employee is 
certified for regular employment, which may include a salary increase, the effective date of the 
reclassification shall remain the anniversary date for annual performance review purposes. 

If, at the end of the promotional reclassification Introductory Period, the employee is not certified 
for regular employment in the new classification and reverts to the prior classification, the 
anniversary date for performance review purposes also reverts to the previous anniversary date.  

2.9 JOB PERFORMANCE REVIEW 

A. The District will strive to review employees’ job performance approximately two weeks before 
his/her anniversary date. If job performance has been satisfactory, the employee may be eligible 
for a salary increase based on the recommendation of the Department Manager and/or 
Superintendent and approved at the discretion of the General Manager, effective on the anniversary 
date. 

B. If a salary increase is recommended and approved by the General Manager, a one-step increase will 
be normal. An increase greater than normal will require the approval of the Board of Directors. 

C. Although the time interval for job performance reviews is relatively standard, after the Introductory 
Period has been completed, job performance reviews may take place at any time as decided upon 
by the employee’s Department Manager and/or Superintendent.  

D. An employee’s Department Manager and/or Superintendent will perform a job performance review 
approximately at the end of the first 365 days of continuous District employment (Introductory 
Period), for the purpose of giving a new employee and that employee's Department Manager and/or 
Superintendent an opportunity to review performance before the Introductory Period ends and for 
the purpose of any salary adjustment deemed appropriate. 

E. If, at any time during the employee’s Introductory Period, the employee’s Department Manager 
and/or Superintendent conclude that the employee's performance will not meet the District's 
standards, the Department Manager and/or Superintendent has the right and the obligation to 
recommend to the General Manager the termination of the employee. 

2.10 PERSONNEL FILES 

A. Personnel files maintained for an employee by the District will be made available to that employee 
and/or their authorized representative upon request and by appointment during normal working 
hours. The employee and/or their authorized representative will be shown all contents of their 
personnel file except those materials designated confidential by law. Copies will be provided to the 
employee and/or their authorized representative upon their request. At no time may an employee 
remove or alter an original personnel record. 

B. No material relating to performance appraisal or disciplinary action shall be placed in the personnel 
file without the employee first being given an opportunity to read such material and attach a reply 
if the employee desires, which shall remain with said material. 

C. Employees shall have the right to have commendations placed in their file upon request. 

D. An employee is free to submit a written response to any disputed item(s) in their personnel file 
within fifteen (15) working days of the employee receiving a copy of or otherwise becoming aware 

Section 3-B 
Page 13 of 55



 

MWD Employee Handbook 2024 Page 6 of 47 

of any such disputed items. Any written response will become part of the employee’s personnel 
file.  

E. The District restricts the release of any personnel information to outside sources. However, when 
required by law, the District will cooperate with authorized local, state or federal agencies that 
request information. 

2.11 JOB DESCRIPTION 

The District maintains job descriptions for each classification which describe the minimum requirements, 
duties, and other information pertinent to the classification.  Copies of job descriptions may be obtained 
from the Business Manager. 

2.12 CLASSIFICATION STUDY REQUESTS 

The District performs a review of employee classifications and job duties and prepares a Compensation 
Study of all positions on a periodic basis. If an employee believes their position is misclassified, that 
employee may request Management review the classification of their position. The request must be in 
written form and submitted through the employee’s Department Manager and/or Superintendent. 
Recommendations of the Department Manager and/or Superintendent regarding the request will be written 
and submitted to the General Manager within thirty (30) calendar days of the date of the request. The 
General Manager will return a written determination to the Department Manager and/or Superintendent and 
to the employee within sixty (60) calendar days. An employee may submit such a written reclassification 
request no more often than once in two (2) years. 

2.13 NOTICE OF CHANGES TO EMPLOYEE INFORMATION 

Each employee is responsible for informing the Business Manager immediately of any changes of address, 
telephone number(s), emergency contacts, and, when applicable to employee benefits, changes in marital 
status, number of dependents and insurance beneficiary designation.   

With the exception of qualifying events, changes in insurance benefits options must be submitted by the 
employee in writing during Open Enrollment, which typically occurs in or around October and/or 
November of each year.  

Employees are responsible for contacting the Business Manager to determine the method and time 
limitations for adding a newborn child, spouse or other eligible dependent to the employee’s insurance 
coverage and submitting all necessary paperwork in a timely manner.   

2.14 OUTSIDE EMPLOYMENT 

Employees must notify the General Manager or their designee in writing of all contemplated or existing 
outside employment. Outside employment is prohibited where a conflict of interest, or the appearance of a 
conflict of interest, may exist between the outside employment and the employee's District employment, or 
where such employment would impair employees’ effectiveness or ability to perform their assigned job 
duties. 

3. HOURS, PAY PRACTICES AND BREAK TIME 

3.1 NORMAL WORKING HOURS 

Unless authorized by the General Manager, normal working hours consist of an eight (8)- hour day 
scheduled as follows:  

Section 3-B 
Page 14 of 55



 

MWD Employee Handbook 2024 Page 7 of 47 

A. Distribution, Treatment and Engineering Departments – 7:30 a.m. to 4:00 p.m. with a half-hour 
(30-minute) lunch break. 

B. All other employees (which includes all employees not in the Distribution, Treatment and 
Engineering Departments) – 8:00 a.m. to 5:00 p.m. with a one (1) hour lunch break, to be taken, to 
the extent practicable, between 12:00 p.m. to 1:00 p.m.   

3.2 OVERTIME 

The District is subject to the United States Fair Labor Standards Act [29 U.S.C. §201, et seq.] for purposes 
of overtime payment to non-exempt employees. Overtime applies to work in any of the following 
conditions: 

A. Work in excess of 40 hours in any work week. 

B. Work performed on a District-recognized holiday. A holiday is defined as the 24-hour period 
beginning at 7:30 a.m. on any day included in the District's official list of paid holidays as provided 
in Section 4.5 of this Handbook. 

C. All paid leave time shall be considered as hours worked for the purposes of computing overtime 
pay. 

Unless otherwise noted, a workweek begins at 12:01 a.m. Saturday and ends at 12:00 midnight Friday. 
Additionally, weekend days (for all positions except the Dam Caretaker) are designated as the hours from 
7:30 a.m. on Saturday to 7:30 a.m. on the following Monday. For the Dam Caretaker position, weekend 
days are designated as the hours from 7:30 a.m. on Thursday to 7:30 a.m. on the following Saturday. 

Occasionally, an employee may be required to work overtime at the District's request. Overtime may not 
be worked without the prior approval from the employee's Department Manager and/or Superintendent. If 
an employee does work overtime, the employee will receive pay at the rate of one and one-half (1.5) times 
their regular rate, unless otherwise required by law.  

Because unauthorized overtime is against District policy as stated above, employees who work 
unauthorized overtime are subject to discipline, up to and including possible termination.  

The employee's overtime must be recorded on their timesheet and is subject to the approval of the 
employee’s Department Manager and/or Superintendent. Employees are required to record all hours worked 
on their timecard, and failure to do so may result in disciplinary action up to and including termination of 
employment.  

If an employee is called out for emergency work after the completion of a regular shift and works at least 
two (2) hours and up to five (5) hours between the hours of 11:00 p.m. and 7:30 a.m. and the subsequent 
day is a regular work day, the employee will be allowed an equal amount of straight paid time off between 
two (2) and five (5) hours at the beginning of the next regularly scheduled shift to rest before reporting to 
work.  If an employee works less than two (2) hours between the hours of 11:00 p.m. and 7:30 a.m., the 
employee must still return to work at their normal start time of their next regular shift.  

If an employee is called out for emergency work after the completion of a regular shift and works more 
than five (5) hours between the hours of 11:00 p.m. and 7:30 a.m. and the subsequent day is a regular 
workday, the employee will be given eight (8) hours of straight paid time off to rest during the following 
regularly scheduled shift.  

Section 3-B 
Page 15 of 55



 

MWD Employee Handbook 2024 Page 8 of 47 

3.3 AFTER HOURS POLICY (ON-CALL AND OTHER PAY) 

“On-call” is defined as an employee making oneself available to work outside of normal working hours if 
called upon. The on-call policy applies to the following Departments: 

DISTRIBUTION DEPARTMENT 

Distribution department employees may be assigned on-call duty by the Distribution Superintendent to 
respond to reported customer or water system-related matters during times other than normal working 
hours. Such on-call duty will be in accordance with procedures designated by the Department Manager 
and/or Superintendent. 

For weeknights, the on-call duty employee will be paid a minimum of one (1) hour of overtime pay per 
day. For weekend days and District-observed holidays the on-call duty employee will be paid a minimum 
of two (2) hours of overtime pay per day. 

If contacted by phone during on-call duty, the employee will record all time spent on the call and any related 
tasks that are performed both remotely and on-site by the employee.  In addition to the on-call time paid 
for weekdays (1 hour per day) and weekends (2 hours per day), the employee will also be compensated for 
the actual time spent on the call and performing any related tasks.  

On-call duty begins on a Friday at 4:00 p.m. and ends on the following Friday at 7:30 a.m.  If a holiday is 
observed on a Friday, the current on-call duty employee will go off on-call duty and the next assigned on-
call employee will take over on-call duty on Friday at 7:30 a.m.   

TREATMENT DEPARTMENT 

Treatment department employees may be assigned to on-call duty by the Treatment/Production 
Superintendent to respond to water treatment plant, reservoir, groundwater well, pump station or other water 
system related matters during times other than normal working hours. Such on-call duty will be in 
accordance with procedures designated by the Treatment/Production Superintendent. 

For weeknights, the on-call duty employee will be paid a minimum of one and a half (1.5) hours of overtime 
pay per day. For weekend days and District-observed holidays, the on-call duty employee will be paid a 
minimum of two and a half (2.5) hours of overtime pay per day.  This overtime includes one half hour (30 
minutes) of time required to remotely monitor and manage SCADA outside normal working hours.  

If contacted by phone or required to travel to a District facility in response to a call during on-call duty, the 
employee will record all time spent on any tasks that are performed on site by the employee.  In addition to 
the on-call time paid for weekdays (1 hour per day) and weekends (2.5 hours per day), the employee will 
be compensated for the actual time spent on the call and performing any related tasks. 

The California Department of Drinking Water (DDW) requires the staffed operation of the Bella Vista 
Treatment Plant 7 days a week.  The Treatment department employee designated as the on-call duty 
Operator is responsible for operating and monitoring the treatment plant and other designated facilities for 
an 8-hour day shift on weekends (Saturday and Sunday).  The on-call duty Operator who worked the 
weekend will be scheduled to work three (3) days the following week (Monday through Wednesday) and 
will be scheduled off the subsequent Thursday and Friday.  

On-call duty begins on a Monday at 4:00 p.m. and ends on the following Monday at 7:30 a.m.  If a District 
holiday is observed on a Monday, the on-call Operator will remain on-call until Tuesday at 7:30 a.m.   When 
the on-call duty Treatment department employee must work on a District-paid holiday, the employee will 

Section 3-B 
Page 16 of 55



 

MWD Employee Handbook 2024 Page 9 of 47 

be permitted to take a different day off as scheduled by the Treatment/Production Superintendent within 
the following week.   

ENGINEERING DEPARTMENT 

Engineering department employees may be assigned to on-call duty by the Assistant General 
Manager/Engineering Manager to provide emergency notifications to customers in the event of water main 
breaks outside of normal working hours as specified in Section 3.1.  This on-call duty applies to all hours 
outside of Normal Working Hours except from 10:00 p.m. to 6:00 a.m. when water use is minimal.   

For weeknights, the on-call duty employee will be paid one half (0.5) hour of overtime pay per day. For 
weekend days and District-observed holidays, the on-call duty employee will be paid one (1) hour of 
overtime pay per day.  

If contacted by email or phone while on on-call duty, the employee will respond and provide electronic 
notifications of temporary water shutoff and restoration of water service to all affected customers within a 
reasonable timeframe.  In addition to the on-call time paid for weekdays (0.5 hours per day) and weekends 
(1 hour per day), the employee will also be compensated for the actual time spent on the call and performing 
any related tasks. All additional on-call time must be approved in advance by the Assistant General 
Manager/Engineering Manager. 

3.4 COMPENSATORY TIME 

Non-exempt employees may accrue compensatory time off in lieu of payment of overtime if the employee 
and their Department Manager and/or Superintendent agree, in writing, to such compensation prior to the 
performance of the overtime work. Compensatory time off shall be accrued at the rate of one and one-half 
(1.5) hours of compensatory time off for each hour of overtime worked to a maximum accrual amount of 
40 hours. Accrued compensatory time is to be used within thirty (30) calendar days of accrual and must be 
approved by the employee’s Department Manager and/or Superintendent. Accrued compensatory time 
which is not used within thirty (30) calendar days of accrual will be paid to the employee at the employee’s 
regular rate of pay. In the event of a District emergency, an employee’s compensatory time may be 
cancelled, and may be rescheduled subject to staffing needs. 

3.5 PAYDAY AND TIMESHEETS 

There are twenty-six (26) pay periods per calendar year. Payroll periods end every other Friday with 
paychecks issued or directly deposited on or before the following Monday. If the normal payday falls on a 
holiday, paychecks will be issued or directly deposited on the following business day. 

All timesheets are entered electronically through the District’s time entry system.  Employees shall record 
all hours worked into the time entry system.  Time spent on various jobs must be recorded daily. Employees 
should also enter all vacation time, sick leave, holidays, and all other absences from work on an employee's 
time record for accurate District record keeping.  Once the employee enters their time and verifies that the 
information is correct, the timesheet is electronically submitted to their Department Manager and/or 
Superintendent for approval.  The employee’s Department Manager and/or Superintendent will review and 
approve the submitted timesheet electronically and send it to payroll for processing.  To meet the pay 
schedule, it is necessary to provide the Business Department with accurate time records on schedule. Time 
records are to be submitted each second Wednesday by 5:00 p.m., or as modified by the Business Manager.  

Employees should carefully review their paychecks to ensure correct payment for the time worked per pay 
period. Any questions concerning payroll or one’s paycheck should be brought to the immediate attention 
of the employee's Department Manager and/or Superintendent.  

Section 3-B 
Page 17 of 55



 

MWD Employee Handbook 2024 Page 10 of 47 

The District does not pre-pay paychecks for employees who resign or retire from the District, or for 
employees who would like their paycheck prior to going on leave or vacation. In accordance with California 
Law, the District does pre-pay paychecks for employees whose employment with the District is terminated.  

3.6 REST AND MEAL BREAKS 

Non-exempt employees are required to take a rest break of at least ten (10) minutes, and not more than 
fifteen (15) minutes, for every four (4) hours worked. As far as practicable, the employee shall take his or 
her rest period within the middle of each 4-hour period. 

Non-exempt employees who work more than five (5) hours in a day are entitled to take one unpaid meal 
period of at least thirty (30) minutes and no more than sixty (60) minutes as scheduled by the employee’s 
Department Manager and/or Superintendent and defined in Section 3.1.  The meal break should be taken 
around the middle of the employee’s shift. For those employees not in the Distribution, Treatment and 
Engineering Departments, the meal break should, as far as practicable, be taken from 12:00 p.m. to 1:00 
p.m. unless the employee’s Department Manager and/or Superintendent has approved otherwise. Non-
exempt employees who work more than ten (10) hours in a day may take a second unpaid thirty (30) minute 
meal period.   

Rest and meal breaks should be coordinated with the employee’s Department Manager and/or 
Superintendent so that the work of the department is not impeded. Rest breaks shall not be used to extend 
lunch hours and are not to be used in place of meal breaks.  Employees cannot use rest or meal breaks to 
arrive late to work or leave work early.  Employees must notify their Department Manager or 
Superintendent if they are unable to take their rest or meal break under this policy. 

Exempt employees should take rest and meal period as needed, and schedule these breaks consistent with 
the employee’s work responsibilities.  

An employee in violation of this rest and meal break policy may be subjected to disciplinary action. 

3.7 LACTATION ACCOMMODATION POLICY 

District employees have the right to request lactation accommodation to the Business Manager and to 
receive a response thereto and may file a complaint with the State’s Labor Commissioner for any violation 
of the state’s Lactation Accommodation law.  The District will provide a reasonable amount of break time 
and a secure, non-bathroom, private environment consistent with state law to any female employee desiring 
to express breast milk for her infant child.  Wherever possible, the break time must run concurrently with 
any break time already provided to the employee and in such circumstances will be paid.   

3.8 RESIDENCY 

Employees who are assigned on-call duty to respond to customer or water system-related matters are 
required to reside within an approximately a 35-mile radius from the District’s service area during on-call 
duty and must respond to all customer reported or water system related matters within approximately 45 to 
60 minutes once notified or as soon as reasonably practicable thereafter.   

4. BENEFITS 

4.1 HEALTH INSURANCE BENEFITS 

The District will provide health insurance benefits, including medical, dental care, vision care, life 
insurance and disability insurance, to all eligible Introductory and Regular full-time and part-time 
employees. Introductory Employees become eligible for health insurance benefits on the first day of the 
month following their first day of employment, consistent with the terms of the District’s Health Insurance 

Section 3-B 
Page 18 of 55



 

MWD Employee Handbook 2024 Page 11 of 47 

plans.  The District reserves the right to modify, revise, eliminate or add to the health insurance benefits 
discussed in this Handbook, and will inform employees of any such changes. 

Eligible retired employees will be provided with medical insurance. For an explanation of medical 
insurance benefits provided to eligible retirees, refer to Section 4.3D. 

The information provided below is based on the insurance benefits in effect at the time this Handbook was 
adopted by the Board of Directors.  The amount of the benefit premiums paid by the District may be 
changed at the discretion of the District and will be in accordance with the District's current Group Medical 
and Non-Medical Plan reviewed and approved by the Board of Directors on an annual basis. 

See the Business Manager or their designee for information about current insurance benefits, employee 
contribution requirements, to get a copy of an insurance plan document, or other information regarding 
health insurance benefits.  

A. Medical Insurance – The District will pay the health insurance premium for eligible employees and 
a portion of the premium payment for dependent or family medical coverage if elected by the 
eligible employee as described below.  

i. District pays 100% of the medical insurance premium for regular full- and part-time 
employees who work a minimum of 20 hours per week and are enrolled in a ACWA/JPIA 
Medical Insurance Plan. Enrollment is required for all District employees.    

ii. District offers dependent coverage on a voluntary basis to all full- and part-time employees 
who wish to enroll dependents in the District's health insurance plans (medical, dental, 
vision).   

iii. The employee is responsible for any premium amount beyond the District’s maximum 
contribution cap of: $640/month or $295.38 per pay period for 2 party coverage (employee 
+ 1); and $1,060/month or $489.23 per pay period for family coverage (employee + 
family).   

B. Dental Insurance – The District pays 100% of the dental premium for all eligible 
employees.  Eligible employees may elect to enroll dependents and are responsible for any 
additional premium not covered by the contribution cap described above.  

C. Vision Insurance – The District pays 100% of the vision premium for eligible employees.  Eligible 
employees may elect to enroll dependents and are responsible for any additional premium not 
covered by the contribution cap described above. 

D. Life Insurance – The District will pay the premium for $50,000 Life and Accidental Death & 
Dismemberment (AD&D) coverage for all eligible employees only as long as the employee is 
employed with the District. The employee may apply for Supplemental Life Coverage at the 
employee’s expense as permitted by the plan. 

E. Short-Term Disability Insurance – The District provides, at no cost to eligible employees, short-
term disability insurance.  This benefit provides compensation for a non-work-related disability. 
Benefits begin after 14 days of absence due to a disability (as provided by the plan) and end after 
180 days. 

F. Long-Term Disability Insurance – The District provides, at no cost to eligible employees, long-
term disability insurance.  This benefit provides compensation for a non-work-related 
disability.  Benefits begin after 180 days of absence due to a disability as provided by the plan.  

Section 3-B 
Page 19 of 55



 

MWD Employee Handbook 2024 Page 12 of 47 

4.2 FLEXIBLE SPENDING ACCOUNT & DEPENDENT CARE ACCOUNT 

The District offers a Section 125 Flexible Spending Account (FSA) and Dependent Care Account (DCA), 
which allow employees who work 20 or more hours per week to set aside pre-tax funds for dependent care 
expenses and non-covered health care expenses.  

A. Flexible Spending Account (FSA):  This plan allows the employee to set aside pre-tax funds for 
healthcare expenses which are not covered by the health plans (such as deductibles, copays, 
eyeglasses, etc.). The employee may elect an annual contribution to be deducted from their bi-
weekly paycheck on a pre-tax basis. Reimbursement and forfeiture rules are governed by the IRS. 

B. Dependent Care Account (DCA): This plan allows the employee to set aside pre-tax funds for a 
variety of care-related expenses for qualified dependents (such as before and after school care for 
children 12 years and younger, custodial care for dependent adults, licensed day care, late pick-up 
fees, and summer or holiday camps).  The employee may elect an annual contribution to be 
deducted from their bi-weekly paycheck on a pre-tax basis. Qualification guidelines for eligible 
Dependents are specified by the plan provider.  

The maximum allowed annual contribution to FSAs and DCAs are governed by the IRS and subject to 
annual updates.  

4.3 RETIREMENT PROGRAM 

A. California Public Employees Retirement System (CalPERS) – All eligible District employees are 
required to participate in CalPERS.  

Employees hired before 07/01/2013 without a break in service of greater than six months are 
included in the 2% @ 55 CLASSIC Plan #73. Employees hired on or after 07/01/2013 are included 
in the 2% @ 62 PEPRA Plan #26040. For both the CLASSIC and PEPRA plans, the District 
contributes the CalPERS Employer Rate and employees contributes the Employee Rate. Both rates 
are set by CalPERS. Employee CalPERS contributions are tax deferred. 

B. Social Security System – The District participates in the Social Security System. To finance the 
Social Security Program, deductions are made from the employee’s earnings and matched by equal 
payment from the District. Social Security benefits are in addition to, and integrated with, the 
District’s retirement program. 

An employee may begin collecting Social Security at a reduced rate as early as age 62. Disability 
and death benefits are also a part of the Social Security System. An employee is eligible for 
coverage under Medicare and may be covered at the Medicare-eligible age of 65, not contingent on 
employee retirement.  

C. 457 Deferred Compensation Plans – A 457 Deferred Compensation Plan is a supplemental 
retirement savings program to which employees make contributions on a pre- and post-tax basis. 
Federal and state income taxes are deferred until assets are withdrawn, usually during retirement. 
Employees are eligible to participate in the plan on their first day of employment.  Employees may 
contribute a percentage or specified amount of their wages subject to the limits specified by the 
IRS. The District does not provide any amount of match towards an employee’s participation in 
District- offered 457 Deferred Compensation Plans.  Employees may enroll in the plan(s) of their 
choice from providers contracted with the District. 

Section 3-B 
Page 20 of 55



 

MWD Employee Handbook 2024 Page 13 of 47 

D. Retiree Health Insurance Coverage – 

i. Employees hired on or before June 30, 2013: 

Health insurance benefits are provided by the District to eligible retired employees, subject to 
the following criteria: 

• An eligible employee shall have an effective date of full-time District employment on or 
before June 30, 2013; 

• Have attained the age of 60, and completed a minimum of twelve (12) continuous years of 
District employment/service; 

• Be receiving a monthly retirement benefit from CalPERS, and 

• Is one whose final employment immediately prior to receiving the CalPERS monthly 
retirement benefit was with the District. 

For eligible retirees under the Medicare-eligible age who obtain another medical plan, the 
District will pay up to the amount of one-party coverage on the District’s current HMO medical 
insurance health plan at the level it would pay if the retiree were an active employee. 
All eligible retirees of Medicare-eligible age must enroll in Medicare Parts A and B.  

For eligible retirees of Medicare-eligible age and older, the District will pay all of the premium 
for a designated Medicare supplement one-party policy, up to a maximum amount not to exceed 
the lowest priced Medicare supplemental plan offered by the District’s current health care 
provider each policy period.   

All eligible retirees may elect to cover qualifying dependents upon retirement at the retiree’s 
cost.  Surviving spouse and/or dependents of eligible retirees are eligible for COBRA.  See the 
Business Manager or their designee for additional information. 

ii. Employees hired on or after July 1, 2013: 

For all District employees hired on or after July 1, 2013, retiree health insurance coverage will 
not be provided or available from the District.  

4.4 VACATION 

The District provides employees with paid vacation and encourages employees to take their vacation time 
on an annual basis. 

All Regular and Introductory full-time employees accrue paid vacation time each pay period based on the 
following annual accrual rates: 

YRS OF SERVICE                VACATION ENTITLEMENT 

0 – 5                                    12 working days (96 hours) 

6 – 10 18 working days (144 hours) 

11+ 19 to 27 working days; 1 additional day for each added year up 
to a maximum of 27 days (152 – 216 hours) 

Regular and Introductory part-time employees working at least twenty hours per week are entitled to paid 
vacation on a pro-rata basis. 

Section 3-B 
Page 21 of 55



 

MWD Employee Handbook 2024 Page 14 of 47 

The maximum amount of vacation benefits that an employee may accrue is the amount equal to one and 
one-half (1.5) times the employee’s annual vacation accrual rate.  When an employee has accrued the 
maximum amount of vacation time, no further vacation will accrue until the employee uses some portion 
of the maximum amount or becomes eligible for additional vacation time accrual because of the employee’s 
years of service. When an employee uses vacation benefits so that the employee's accrued but unused 
vacation benefits fall below the maximum, or when an employee is entitled to accrue additional vacation 
benefits, the employee will resume earning vacation benefits from that date forward until the employee 
again has accrued the maximum amount. 

Accrued vacation time may be used, subject to the staffing needs of the District. Consideration will be given 
to employee seniority.  Employees will not receive any compensation for time missed if they have no 
accrued vacation time to use. The District considers vacation time essential to health and morale, and 
therefore employees should attempt to take vacation time in the year in which it is accrued. 

An employee may cash out up to a maximum of 120 hours of accrued vacation time, once per calendar 
year, provided the employee has no less than 80 hours remaining following the cash out. 

Should an employee be absent due to illness at the time of a scheduled vacation, the employee may change 
the vacation to a later authorized date which will not conflict with District staffing needs, as determined by 
the employee’s Department Manager and/or Superintendent. If an employee becomes sick during an 
authorized vacation, the employee with the notification to and approval of the Employee’s Department 
Manager and/or Superintendent, may use accrued sick time, and take the balance of vacation at a subsequent 
date so long as it does not conflict with District staffing needs, as determined by the employee’s Department 
Manager and/or Superintendent. The Department Manager and/or Superintendent or the General Manager 
may require verification of this illness from a doctor. 

Should an employee resign or be terminated before having used the vacation time that has been accrued, 
the employee will receive payment for any unused portion of the vacation time which has accrued up to the 
date of resignation or termination. The District will not grant termination pay. 

Vacation leave shall accrue during any authorized paid leave of absence but not during unpaid leaves of 
absence.  

4.5 HOLIDAYS 

The District observes the following paid holidays: New Year's Day, Presidents Day, Memorial Day, 
Independence Day, Labor Day, Thanksgiving Day, Friday following Thanksgiving Day, and Christmas 
Day. 

If any of the above holidays falls on a Saturday, the preceding Friday will be observed as the holiday. 
Holidays falling on Sunday will be observed on the following Monday. 

If Christmas Eve and New Year’s Eve falls on a weekday, the General Manager has the authority to permit 
half the District employees to take off a half day on Christmas Eve and the other half to take off a half day 
on New Year’s Eve.  

In lieu of other Federal, state, or local designated holidays, employees will receive four (4) Personal Leave 
days. District offices will remain open and staffed on all Federal, State or Local designated holidays not 
listed above.  

Two Personal Leave days will be entered on each employee's account on the first day of Pay Periods #1 
and #14 (January and July, respectively). Personal Leave days should be used prior to using vacation days 

Section 3-B 
Page 22 of 55



 

MWD Employee Handbook 2024 Page 15 of 47 

and should be scheduled in advance, subject to approval of the employee’s Department Manager and/or 
Superintendent. 

4.6 LONGEVITY PAY 

In recognition of those long-time District employees that reach the top step of the salary range for a 
particular position, such employees will have the opportunity to receive additional pay related to their 
meritorious, continuous years of service with the District. The Longevity Pay rate increases may be granted 
to an employee following their 8th, 14th, 20th and 26th year of continuous service with the District if the 
employee has been at Step E for at least one year and receives at least a satisfactory rating on the annual 
performance evaluation immediately preceding the consideration for longevity pay. 

CONTINUOUS YRS OF SERVICE  LONGEVITY PAY INCREASE 

 8 2.5% 

 14 2.5% 

 20 2.5% 

 26 2.5% 

Employees who receive an employee evaluation lower than satisfactory will not be eligible for a longevity 
pay increase.  If an employee does not receive a longevity pay increase because of a less than satisfactory 
annual performance review, the employee may be reconsidered for longevity pay in subsequent years if the 
employee receives a satisfactory rating on the annual performance review. 

Should an employee receive a promotion resulting in that employee no longer being at Step E, the 
requirement for an employee to be at a Step E for at least one year in order to be eligible for longevity pay 
does not apply as long as the employee has received at least a satisfactory rating on their annual performance 
evaluation immediately preceding the consideration for longevity pay.  

4.7 COST OF LIVING ADJUSTMENT OF WAGES AND SALARIES (COLA) 

Over-all Cost of Living Adjustments (COLAs) to wages and salaries are at the discretion of the Board of 
Directors and are generally considered with each new budget year.  Generally, an approved COLA becomes 
effective with the first full pay period on or after July 1st of each year. For non-union represented employees, 
the cost-of-living adjustment (COLA) is based on the U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics Consumer Price Index 
for All Urban Consumers (CPI-U), Los Angeles-Long Beach-Anaheim, CA report for the 12-month period 
ending on March 31. 

Union represented employees may reference the current Memorandum of Understanding for COLA 
information. 

4.8 WORKERS' COMPENSATION 

Workers’ Compensation insurance is provided by the District at no cost to employees to cover work-related 
illnesses and injuries. 

Workers' Compensation temporary disability payments commence at a time specified by State Law. The 
amount of the disability payments is a proportion of the employee's monthly salary as stipulated by State 
Law. Available sick leave will be applied to the remaining portion of the employee’s monthly salary so that 
the total of the disability payments and the sick leave payments will equal straight time pay for the regularly 
scheduled working hours during that pay period. The application of sick leave payment will be in effect 
only to the extent that an employee has accrued available sick leave. 

Section 3-B 
Page 23 of 55



 

MWD Employee Handbook 2024 Page 16 of 47 

All work-related illnesses, injuries or accidents must be reported immediately to the employee's Department 
Manager and/or Superintendent.  A release to return to work from the employee’s treating health care 
practitioner is necessary if the employee is off work for more than five consecutive days. See Section 5.15 
for more information about the District’s Early Return to Work Program. 

4.9 CONTINUATION OF HEALTH COVERAGE (COBRA)  

The District complies with the requirements of COBRA, enacted by Federal law, regarding continued 
insurance coverage in the event of separation of employment or other qualifying events. See the Business 
Manager for more details. 

4.10 EMPLOYEE ASSISTANCE PLAN (EAP) 

The District pays for a comprehensive EAP to help employees and their family members find direction in 
solving problems.  This is a free service designed to help the employee and members of the employee’s 
household resolve personal problems that may interfere with work or home life.  Contact the Business 
Manager for more information on this program. 

4.11 REIMBURSABLE ITEMS 

A. Reimbursement for Certification, Registration or Licensing Examinations – Certain employees 
are required to be formally certified, registered or licensed to perform their job, e.g., certification 
for Water Distribution and Treatment Operators or registration for Civil Engineers. The District 
will reimburse an employee for the cost of the successfully completed examination and the 
related certification renewal costs. The District will also pay for physical examinations required 
by law for the job-required certification, registration, or licensing of employees.  The 
reimbursement provided for in this section does not include reimbursement for any costs 
associated with obtaining or maintaining a Class C driver’s license. 

If the certification, registration or licensing is not job-required but only job-related, the renewal 
costs will be paid by the District upon recommendation of the employee's Department Manager 
and/or Superintendent and approval of the General Manager. 

If the employee does not pass the class or examination, the employee must reimburse the District 
for any fees and materials paid. Employees desiring reimbursement must submit their request in 
writing through their Department Manager and/or Superintendent to the General Manager prior to 
registration for the class/examinations. 

B. Certification/Registration Absence – Those classifications which are required to obtain or maintain 
a California Driver's License will be granted up to two (2) hours with pay once every four years for 
renewing such license. 

Those classifications which are required to obtain or maintain a Class A commercial driver's license 
will be granted time with pay to take the required physical examination. 

Those classifications which are required to obtain or maintain a Water Distribution and Treatment 
Operator's Certificate, an American Water Works Association Laboratory Technician Certificate, 
or a Notary Public Commission as a condition of employment shall be granted up to eight (8) hours 
of leave with pay, with prior written approval of their Department Manager and/or Superintendent, 
for each required certificate to travel to and sit for the required examination testing procedure. 

C. Required Job-Related Courses and Expenses – The District will pay for all State and District job-
required courses, as well as approved job-related courses provided that the employee satisfactorily 
completes the course(s). Such payment may include tuition, books and other course-related 

Section 3-B 
Page 24 of 55



 

MWD Employee Handbook 2024 Page 17 of 47 

expenses as approved in advance by the General Manager. Such approval by the General Manager 
should be obtained in writing prior to the employee incurring any costs or expenses.  An employee 
must also obtain written approval for payment before registering for a course if reimbursement is 
expected. If prior approval is not obtained, the employee risks the costs or expenses not being 
approved and not being subject to reimbursement by the District.  If the employee does not submit 
evidence of completion, the District will not reimburse the employee for the course costs. If the 
District has prepaid the course costs, but the employee fails to complete the course, the employee 
will reimburse the District unless otherwise agreed to by the General Manager for good cause. If it 
is not feasible for the employee to go home for meals, the District will reimburse the employee for 
reasonable meal expenses. 

The District defines job-required courses as those which are made mandatory by District rules or 
by regulatory agencies or legal authorities having jurisdiction over any of the District's activities. 
The term job-related implies that there is no legal necessity to take the course, nor have the District 
rules made the course mandatory, but the skills learned are applicable to the job being performed. 
A course that is related generally to the field of work, but not directly related to the present job, 
does not qualify for reimbursement. 

D. Travel Expense (District Approved) – On those occasions when District employees are required to 
travel out of town on District-sanctioned business, the District will pay the reasonable expenses of 
such travel, including advance payment when necessary or reimbursement of expenses paid for by 
the employee upon submission of receipts or other proof of expense satisfactory to the District. 

The General Manager is the final authority in determining the reasonableness and validity of any 
travel reimbursement request.  The Department Managers/Superintendents may recommend to the 
General Manager travel by employees for District-related purposes. 

Whenever possible, the District should make direct payment for such expenses, particularly for 
travel fares (airfare). Any requests for reimbursement of expenses shall be submitted to the General 
Manager or their designee upon such forms and with receipts or other evidence as may be 
reasonably required by the General Manager or their designee. An advance payment may be made 
to the employee when the General Manager determines that such request is reasonable. 

Travel will be by District vehicle, if possible. If a District vehicle is not available, the use of a 
private vehicle will be authorized, and the owner compensated at the mileage rate allowed by the 
Internal Revenue Service (IRS).  

E. Uniforms & Steel-Toed Boots – Distribution and Treatment employees are furnished uniforms for 
identification and safety purposes and are expected to wear their uniforms when at work. 

The District provides an annual allowance of up to $400 to each employee of the Distribution, 
Treatment and Engineering Departments sufficient to allow the employee to purchase steel-toed 
boots and associated accessories such as shoelaces, socks and insoles each calendar year. Steel-
toed boots must be worn under certain specified working conditions for the safety of the employee. 
Employees required to purchase steel-toed boots will be reimbursed up to the amount of the 
allowance upon presentation of a receipt.  

4.12 CERTIFICATION INCENTIVE PAY 
An employee who successfully obtains a certification one level above what is required for the employee’s 
current position classification shall be eligible for incentive pay of $1,000.  Certification Incentive Pay shall 

Section 3-B 
Page 25 of 55



 

MWD Employee Handbook 2024 Page 18 of 47 

be applicable to Water Distribution and Water Treatment certifications only and is subject to a maximum 
of $2,000 in any 36-month period for any one employee. Eligibility shall extend to Employees who have 
obtained applicable certifications in their current position prior to adoption of this Handbook.   

Employees shall present documentation of receipt of higher-level certifications to their Department 
Manager or Superintendent who shall review the documentation and, if appropriate, recommend 
Certification Incentive Pay be approved by the General Manager or their designee.  The employee is 
responsible for any federal and state income tax due as a result of Certification Incentive Pay. 

4.13 TEMPORARY PROMOTION  
For the purposes of this Section, a Temporary Promotion is the full-time performance of a majority of the 
significant duties of a position in one classification by an individual in a lower classification. The 
Temporary Promotion will be reflected in the employee’s annual performance review. The types of 
Temporary Promotions are defined as follows: 

A. Short-Term Temporary Promotions 

An employee who is temporarily promoted on a daily basis to a higher-level, non-management 
position shall receive a premium equal to a 5% increase in pay.  Such premium shall only be 
provided for those days in which the employee is actually performing a majority of the significant 
duties of the higher-level classification, including overtime hours worked. However, such premium 
shall not be reportable to PERS as compensation earned for retirement purposes. Management shall 
specify the expected duration of the Short-Term Temporary Promotion, but such duration shall be 
less than three (3) weeks. The intent is that an employee is not asked to perform a majority of the 
significant duties of the higher-level classification on days for which they are not receiving the 
premium.  

B. Long-Term Temporary Promotions 

An employee who is temporarily promoted for a period of at least three (3) weeks shall receive 
additional pay equal to the first salary step of the higher classification, or a two-step (10%) pay 
increase, whichever is higher, not to exceed the pay range maximum of the higher classification. 
With the exception of medical leave, a position shall not be filled by a Temporary Promotion for 
more than twelve (12) months, except by mutual agreement of the Parties.   

5. LEAVES OF ABSENCE 

5.1 SICK LEAVE 

The District has established paid sick leave so that an employee will not suffer financial hardship if they 
take time off work to diagnose, care for, or treat an existing health condition of their own or that of a 
qualified family member. 

A. Full-Time Employees –Sick leave is available to all full-time employees immediately upon 
employment. A full-time employee is eligible to earn eight (8) hours (one day per month) of sick 
leave for each full month of regular employment and may accrue up to 120 days (960 hours) of 
sick time.  

B. Part-Time Employees: Sick leave is available to part-time employees immediately upon 
employment on a pro-rata basis. Part-time employees may accrue sick leave at a corresponding 
rate, pro rata, based upon the number of hours worked, and may accrue up to a number of hours 
corresponding to five times their annual accrual amount.   

Section 3-B 
Page 26 of 55



 

MWD Employee Handbook 2024 Page 19 of 47 

C. Temporary Employees:  Temporary Employees accrue sick leave at the rate of one hour for every 
30 hours worked.  To qualify for sick leave, Temporary Employees must complete 30 days of 
employment.  Temporary Employees may use accrued paid sick leave up to a maximum of 3 days 
or 24 hours of paid sick leave per year, whichever is greater.  Unused accrued paid sick leave will 
carry over to the following year up to a maximum of 4 days or 48 hours, whichever is greater.   For 
purposes of this policy, the “year” for employees employed by the District is July 1 through June 
30; the “year” for other employees begins on their first day of employment. 

An employee unable to report to work who wishes to use sick leave is required to contact their Department 
Manager and/or Superintendent prior to the start of their scheduled start time.  If the employee is not able 
to reach their Department Manager and/or Superintendent by phone, the employee must send an email prior 
to the start of their scheduled start time.  

When circumstances reasonably prevent notice prior to the start of the shift, such as due to an accident or 
emergency or when the need to use sick leave is not foreseeable, the employee is required to notify their 
Department Manager and/or Superintendent as soon as practicable after the start of their shift.  

When an employee has a scheduled medical procedure or appointment for themself or for a qualified family 
member, the employee should provide advance notice to their Department Manager and/or Superintendent 
of the resulting time the employee will be off work. 

In the event that an employee has no sick leave remaining for an absence covered under this section, the 
employee may use vacation leave.  If no vacation leave is remaining, the employee may be placed on an 
unpaid leave of absence as allowed under this Handbook. 

If an employee leaves the District after six (6) years of continuous service, they will be compensated for 
accrued, unused sick leave benefits at the following levels: 

YEARS OF CONTINUOUS SERVICE % OF COMPENSATION 

6 TO 20     50% 

OVER 20     100% 

In the event that an employee resigns or retires from the District and then is rehired after one year, that 
employee is considered the same as a new employee for purposes of sick leave compensation. In other 
words, no credit will be given for past years’ service. In the event the employee is rehired within one year, 
their accrued unpaid sick leave balance at the end of their employment will be restored.  Sick leave benefits 
shall accrue during any authorized paid leave of absence but not during an unpaid leave of absence.  

5.2 FAMILY AND MEDICAL LEAVE   

A. Unless otherwise provided by this section, “Family and Medical Leave” and “Leave” shall mean 
leave pursuant to the FMLA and CFRA. 

B. The District will provide Family and Medical Leave for an employee as required by state and 
federal law. 

C. For purposes of this section, employee shall mean an employee who has at least one year of service 
with the District and at least 1,250 hours active service during the one year period immediately 
preceding the commencement of the request for a family and medical leave. 

D. The following provisions set forth certain rights and obligations with respect to family and medical 
leave. Rights and obligations which are not specifically set forth or defined below are contained in 

Section 3-B 
Page 27 of 55



 

MWD Employee Handbook 2024 Page 20 of 47 

the U.S. Department of Labor regulations implementing the Federal Family and Medical Leave Act 
of 1993 (FMLA) and the California Fair Employment and Housing Commission regulations 
implementing the California Family Rights Act (CFRA) (Government Code Section 12945.2).  In 
situations covered by both acts, CFRA takes precedence. 

E. An employee is entitled to a total of 12 weeks of Leave during any 12-month period for the 
employee’s own serious health condition, or to care for a newborn child, due to the placement of 
an adopted or foster child, to care for a son or daughter (as defined by the Department of Labor), 
parent, domestic partner, or “designated person” (i.e., any individual related by blood or whose 
association with the employee is equivalent of a family relationship) whose serious health condition 
prevents the employee from performing any one or more of the essential functions of the 
employee’s position. The 12-month period for calculating Leave entitlement will be the 12-month 
period measured backward from the date an employee uses any Leave. 

F. An employee’s entitlement to Leave for the birth or placement of a child for adoption or foster care 
expires 12 months after the birth or placement. 

G. Parents who are both employed by the District shall be limited to a combined total of 12 weeks of 
Leave during any 12-month period for the birth and care of a newborn child, for the placement of 
a child for adoption or foster care, and care of the newly placed child or for a parent with a serious 
health condition. 

H. An employee shall provide at least 30 calendar days written advance notice for foreseeable events. 
For events which are not foreseeable, the employee shall notify the District as soon as the employee 
learns of the need for Leave. To be eligible for Leave, the employee must follow the District’s usual 
and customary call-in procedures for reporting an absence as detailed in Section 5.1. 

I. An employee who takes Leave for their own serious health condition is required to submit a Return 
to Work / Doctor’s Release prior to returning to work. 

J. When the Leave is due to the employee’s own health condition, the employee shall utilize their 
accrued leave in the following order: 

i. All accrued sick leave. 

ii. Forty (40) hours of accrued vacation. If vacation is exhausted, the employee must choose to 
use other paid or unpaid leave to complete the 40 hours. 

iii. The employee has the option of using additional accrued paid leave at full pay. If the employee 
chooses to use additional paid leave at full pay, it must be used in the following order: 

a) The balance of the employee’s accrued leave. 

b) Other paid leave. 

iv. If the employee elects to not use accrued paid leave at full pay, then the employee shall utilize 
leave in the following order: 

a) 75% disability. 

b) 50% disability. 

c) Other paid leave at the employee’s option.  

d) Unpaid leave. 

Section 3-B 
Page 28 of 55



 

MWD Employee Handbook 2024 Page 21 of 47 

v. The exhaustion of the accrued paid leave shall run concurrently with the Leave. 

K. When the Leave is taken for the birth of a child of the employee, for the placement of a child with 
the employee for adoption or foster care, or to care for the employee’s spouse, domestic partner, 
son or daughter (as defined by the Department of Labor), parent who has a serious health condition 
or a Military Family Leave, the employee shall utilize Leave paid leave in the following order: 

i. Annual leaveAccrued vacation leave. 

i.ii. Accrued Personal Leave Days and compensatory time. 

ii.iii. After exhausting annual leave, the employee has the option of using any additional paid 
leave for which the employee is qualifiedAccrued sick time if mutually agreed upon by the 
employee and District management. 

iii.iv. Unpaid leave. 

iv.v. The exhaustion of the paid leave shall run concurrently with the Leave. 

L. If an employee takes sick leave or partial- pay disability leave without requesting Family and 
Medical Leave, within five days of the employee’s return to work and advisement of the District 
concerning the purpose of the sick leave, the District shall make a determination as to whether the 
sick leave shall be considered Family and Medical Leave. 

M. The District shall maintain coverage under any group health plan for the duration of the Leave at 
the level and under the conditions that would have been provided had the employee been working. 
The District shall only maintain such group health plan coverage for such employee for up to 12 
weeks within a 12-month period commencing with the start of the Leave. 

N. An employee has the right to reinstatement to the same or a comparable position unless the 
employee is exempted from such right under the provisions of the FMLA or CFRA or unless the 
same or comparable position is unavailable. 

5.3 MILITARY LEAVE 

An employee who enters the United States Armed Forces will be placed on an extended leave without pay 
in accordance with applicable Federal laws.  Upon completion of military service, the employee will be 
reinstated with full seniority to their former position or to a comparable position when application for 
reemployment is made within 90 calendar days of release from service or hospitalization following such 
service.   

An employee who is a member of the National Guard or of a reserve component of the Armed Forces shall, 
upon furnishing a copy of the official orders or instructions, be granted military training leave.  Training 
leave will not exceed two weeks per year, plus reasonable travel time, except in an emergency or due to 
extenuating circumstances.  Upon presentation of a military pay voucher, the employee will be reimbursed 
for the differences between their normal compensation and the pay they received while on military training 
leave.   

All Military Leave requests must be presented in writing to the employee’s Department Manager and/or 
Superintendent as far in advance as possible.  They should then be forwarded promptly to the General 
Manager for review and approval.   

Vacation days, holidays, and sick benefits do not accrue during any period of a Military Leave in excess of 
30 calendar days.  The date an employee is considered for an annual wage increase will be adjusted 

Section 3-B 
Page 29 of 55



 

MWD Employee Handbook 2024 Page 22 of 47 

accordingly if the Leave is for more than 30 calendar days.  However, regardless of the length of the Military 
Leave, an employee’s group life and employee health plan coverage will remain in effect.  Employees are 
expected to make arrangements to pay the monthly contribution for dependent coverage under the 
employer’s health plan while they are on Military Leave.  Failure to do so may result in the lapse of such 
coverage.   

5.4 MILITARY FAMILY LEAVE 

A. Qualifying Exigency Leave. An employee is entitled to a total of 12 weeks of Leave during any 12-
month period to help manage family affairs due to a reservist or retired military member who is 
their spouse, child, or parent being on active duty or being called to active duty in support of a 
contingency operation. 

B. Injured Service Member Care Leave. An employee is entitled to a total of 26 weeks of Leave during 
any 12-month period to care for a covered service member with a serious injury or illness incurred 
in the line of duty while on active duty. Employees entitled to this Leave are the spouse, parent, 
child or next of kin of the injured or ill service member. 

5.5 DOMESTIC VIOLENCE LEAVE 

Employees are allowed to take unpaid leave to obtain a restraining order or seek other judicial relief from 
domestic violence for the employee or the employee's child.  Additionally, employees who are victims of 
domestic violence, sexual assault, or stalking may take time off to seek medical treatment, obtain services 
of a rape crisis center or domestic violence shelter or program, get counseling, or engage in safety planning 
and/or relocation.   

5.6 PREGNANCY-RELATED DISABILITY LEAVE (PDL) 

Upon request, PDL will be granted to female employees for an actual disability caused by the employee’s 
pregnancy, childbirth, or related medical condition as set forth below.    

An employee that becomes disabled by pregnancy, childbirth, or related medical conditions, is eligible to 
take an unpaid pregnancy-related disability leave (PDL).  This includes time off needed for prenatal care, 
severe morning sickness, doctor-ordered bed rest, childbirth, recovery from childbirth, and any related 
medical condition.  PDL may be taken intermittently, or on a reduced-hours schedule, as medically 
necessary. 

The District will attempt to provide reasonable accommodation when the request is related to the 
employee’s pregnancy, childbirth, or related medical condition. If an employee requests such 
accommodation, they shall provide an appropriate medical certification from their health care provider.  In 
addition to other forms of reasonable accommodation, a pregnant employee is entitled to transfer 
temporarily to a less strenuous or hazardous position or to less strenuous or hazardous duties, if the transfer 
request is supported by appropriate medical certification, and the transfer can be reasonably accommodated.  

A. Amount of PDL Available:  PDL is for any period(s) of actual disability caused by pregnancy, 
childbirth, or related medical conditions up to four (4) months (or eighty-eight (88) workdays for a 
full-time employee) per pregnancy.  PDL does not need to be taken in one continuous period of 
time but can be taken on an as-needed basis.  The PDL will run concurrent with leave granted under 
the CFRA and FLMA as described in the preceding section. 

B. Intermittent Leave or Reduced Work Schedule Based on Planned Medical Treatment:  Employees 
may be entitled to take intermittent leave or a reduced work schedule if medically advisable and 
foreseeable based on planned medical treatment.  The District may then require the employee to 

Section 3-B 
Page 30 of 55



 

MWD Employee Handbook 2024 Page 23 of 47 

transfer to an alternate position for which they are qualified, with equivalent compensation and 
benefits, which better accommodates recurring periods of leave than their regular job.  

C. Substitution of Paid Leave:  Employees are required to use their available accrued sick leave during 
the otherwise unpaid portion of any PDL.  Additionally, employees may elect to use their available 
accrued vacation during a PDL. The use of paid leave during the period of PDL does not extend 
the total duration of the PDL to which employees are entitled.  Except to the extent that sick leave 
or vacation is used during the PDL, the PDL is unpaid.  

D. PDL’s Effect on Benefits:  During an approved PDL, the District shall continue to pay for the 
employee’s participation in the District's group health insurance, medical, dental and vision, to the 
same extent and under the same terms and conditions as would apply had they not taken leave, for 
up to four months.  Employees will be required to continue to make any payments they normally 
make towards healthcare coverage premiums while on PDL. While on PDL, in the event employees 
fail to make timely payment for their portion of healthcare coverage premiums, the District will 
notify the employees of such failure and, if payment is not made, terminate the coverage.  The 
District is entitled to recover any health premiums paid by the District on an employee’s behalf 
during any unpaid period of the PDL if they fail to return from the PDL except due to circumstances 
beyond their control as provided by law. 

E. Procedure for Requesting PDL:  Employees should notify the General Manager of any request for 
PDL or a pregnancy-related transfer as soon as they are aware of the need for such leave or transfer.  
For foreseeable events, if possible, employees shall provide thirty (30) calendar days' advance 
written notice to the General Manager of the need for PDL.  The notice should include the date the 
leave will commence and the estimated duration of the leave.  If thirty (30) days advance notice is 
not possible due to lack of knowledge of when the leave or transfer will begin, because of a change 
in circumstance or because of a medical emergency, notice must be given as soon as practical.  If 
the leave is requested in connection with a planned, non-emergency medical treatment, employees 
may be requested to reschedule the treatment so as to minimize disruption of the District's business. 

Any request for PDL must be supported by proper certification by the employee’s health care 
provider of the need for the PDL, the anticipated date(s) and estimated duration of the leave, and 
in the case of intermittent leave or revised schedule leave where medically necessary, the estimated 
duration of such a schedule any other information necessary to consider the request for PDL or 
transfer. 

If employees fail to provide the requisite 30-day advance notice for foreseeable events without any 
reasonable excuse for the delay, the District reserves the right to deny the taking of the leave. 

The terms of the leave may be modified as the employee’s changing medical condition dictates.  
Any requests for extensions of a PDL must be received at least five (5) working days before the 
date on which employees were originally scheduled to return to work and must include the revised 
anticipated date(s) and duration of the PDL. 

F. Returning to Work at End of PDL:  When returning from a PDL, employees shall be required to 
provide a Return to Work / Doctor’s Release that indicates that the employee is fit to return to work.  
When returning to work at the end of a PDL, employees will be returned to their former position, 
if possible, or will be offered the first available opening in a comparable position for which they 
are qualified.  If an employee fails to report for work at the end of an approved PDL, the District 
may initiate separation procedures.    If at the end of an approved PDL an employee is unable to 
return to work and perform the essential functions of the employee’s position, with or without 

Section 3-B 
Page 31 of 55



 

MWD Employee Handbook 2024 Page 24 of 47 

accommodation, due to a continuing disability, the District may initiate separation procedures if 
the District is unable to otherwise accommodate the employee without undue hardship as required 
by law. 

5.7 PERSONAL LEAVE OF ABSENCE 

An unpaid personal leave of absence of up to thirty (30) calendar days may be requested by any regular 
full- or part-time employee. All personal leave of absence requests must be submitted in writing to the 
General Manager as far in advance as possible. The beginning and ending dates of the personal leave of 
absence must be clearly identified. Each case will be decided on its own merits and will require the approval 
of the General Manager.  However, an employee must first exhaust their vacation and compensatory 
balances, and sick leave balance (if applicable), before being eligible for a personal leave of absence.   

Two extensions to a personal leave of absence of up to an additional thirty (30) days may be requested and 
must be submitted in writing to the General Manager. All personal leave of absence extensions require 
approval by the General Manager. 

District contributions to health, dental and vision insurance benefits will cease during personal leaves of 
absence.  Employees wishing to maintain their insurance benefits are required to pay the full costs of this 
coverage.  Employees are requested to make arrangements with the Business Manager to pay for the costs 
of such coverage before the leave begins. 

Neither sick leave nor vacation will accrue during any personal leave of absence.  Employees on a personal 
leave of absence also do not receive holiday pay. 

An employee who returns to work at the end of a personal leave of absence will be returned to their former 
position, if possible. However, the District is unable to guarantee reinstatement to employees seeking to 
return to work after taking a personal leave of absence.   

If an employee takes on other employment during a Family and Medical Leave or personal leave of absence, 
that employee, at the District's discretion, will be considered to have resigned their employment with the 
District and the District may initiate separation procedures. 

5.8 NEW PARENT LEAVE 

Employees who become new parents are entitled up to twelve (12) weeks leave to bond with a new child 
within one year of the child’s birth, adoption, or foster care placement.  At the employee's discretion, some 
or all of the New Parent Leave may be unpaid or the employee may use accrued vacation, sick or other 
accrued paid time off.   

5.8 BEREAVEMENT LEAVE/REPRODUCTIVE LOSS LEAVE 

Bereavement leave will be provided to Rregular and iIntroductory full-time employees in the case of the 
death of any individual related by blood or marriage or whose association with the employee is equivalent 
of a family relationship. Reproductive loss leave will be provided to rRegular and iIntroductory full-time 
employees in the case of a reproductive loss event, i.e., failed adoption, failed surrogacy, miscarriage, 
stillbirth or unsuccessful assisted reproduction.   

Said employee shall be granted three (3) working days of leave at regular pay and an additional two (2) 
days of unpaid leave, during which an employee may use vacation, personal, accrued and available sick 
leave, or compensatory time off that is otherwise available to the employee.   

Four (4) hours of Bereavement Leave will be provided to regular full- and part-time employees wishing to 
attend local services for other relatives and friends. 

Section 3-B 
Page 32 of 55



 

MWD Employee Handbook 2024 Page 25 of 47 

Accrued leave shall be used for authorized absences beyond that provided by Bereavement Leave. 

5.9 JURY/WITNESS DUTY 

An employee must inform their Department Manager and/or Superintendent immediately upon receipt of a 
jury summons or subpoena or other court order to appear as a witness in a judicial proceeding.  A copy of 
the jury summons, subpoena or court order must be promptly provided to the Department Manager and/or 
Superintendent.  An employee who is called to report for jury or witness duty (which includes serving as a 
witness in District-related business) and is excused during their normal work schedule must report for work 
for the remainder of the workday.  Upon return to work, the employee is required to present to the 
Department Manager and/or Superintendent proof of dates and times of appearance in court.  Regular 
compensation will be paid to employees for the duration of time they are required to appear for jury/witness 
duty.  

5.10 RELIGIOUS OBSERVANCE LEAVE 

Employees wishing to observe a religious service or holiday which occurs during regular working hours 
will be permitted to take time off of work for this purpose and charge the time to accrued leave. If the 
employee does not have any accrued leave, then the time off work will be unpaid.  Adequate written 
notification must be given to the Department Manager and/or Superintendent. 

5.11 TIME TO VOTE 

In accordance with California State law, the District provides two (2) hours paid time off to vote. To 
receive time off for voting, an employee must notify their Department Manager or Superintendent.  Time 
taken for the purposes of voting must be either at the beginning or end of the normal workday. 

5.12 OTHER LEGALLY REQUIRED LEAVES OF ABSENCE 

In addition to the leaves of absences discussed in this section, the District will provide employees a leave 
of absence when otherwise required by law, including appearance by a parent at school when requested as 
provided for in the Education Code, performance of emergency duty by a volunteer firefighter, reserve 
peace officer or emergency rescue personnel, military spouse/domestic partner leave, time off relating to 
victims of domestic violence or sexual assault, and alcohol and drug rehabilitation leave.  Whenever 
possible, employees shall provide reasonable advance notice of the need for a legally required leave of 
absence.  This leave will be unpaid.  Employees may use accrued leave while on leave. 

5.13 GENERAL STATUS DURING UNPAID LEAVES OF ABSENCE 

Except where expressly provided otherwise in this Handbook, the District will cease contributing to the 
employee’s insurance coverage, including life, medical, dental, vision and disability insurance, during an 
unpaid leave of absence.  The employee will receive notice of the right to continue such coverage at the 
employee's expense as provided for under the COBRA regulations.  Employees on an unpaid Personal 
Leave of Absence will not accrue vacation or sick leave benefits. 

If an employee takes on other employment during a Family and Medical Leave or Personal Leave of 
Absence, that employee, at the District's discretion, will be considered to have resigned their employment 
with the District and the District may initiate separation procedures. 

5.14 EARLY RETURN TO WORK PROGRAM 

The District has developed a program designed to assist workers who are temporarily disabled due to a 
work-related illness or injury. This includes a team effort, including the temporarily disabled employee, 
their attending physician or other treating health care professional, the insurance carrier, and District 

Section 3-B 
Page 33 of 55



 

MWD Employee Handbook 2024 Page 26 of 47 

management. In an effort to minimize serious disability due to on-the-job and off-the-job injuries and 
illnesses and to reduce workers’ compensation costs (if applicable), the District has adopted a Return-to-
Work Program. This policy is consistent with the District’s responsibility to provide reasonable 
accommodation to persons with disabilities.  

When an employee reports a work-related illness or injury, they will be given certain forms to complete 
and may be sent to a doctor for examination and/or treatment. If the doctor determines that the employee 
qualifies for an Early Return to Work Program (ERTWP), the doctor will complete the appropriate forms 
indicating the restrictions and conditions for temporary transitional work. The District will then attempt to 
provide a modified work position until the employee is able to resume regular duties. These limited duties 
are temporary in nature for the time they are medically allowable, do not redefine the requirements of any 
District position, and are only designed to facilitate a return to regular duties as soon as possible. Positions 
may be offered at any location or on any shift. However, ERTWP positions may not be available in every 
situation, and whether to offer an employee an ERTWP position is at the sole discretion of the District, and 
the District reserves the right to modify, change or discontinue ERTWP positions or the conditions of this 
policy at any time. 

Failure to report for ERTWP positions at the designated time and place may disqualify the employee from 
receiving certain benefits under the worker’s compensation laws. 

5.15 FITNESS-FOR-DUTY EXAMINATION  

Whenever the General Manager or their designee believes that an employee is unable to perform the 
essential function of their job due to illness or injury, whether physical or mental, or is unable to perform 
the essential functions of their job safely or without posing a danger to themself or others, the District may 
require the employee to submit to an independent medical examination performed by a qualified healthcare 
provider selected by the District at the District's expense. Such medical examination will be limited to the 
issues or areas of concern regarding the employee's ability to perform the essential functions of their job. 
If, after the independent medical examination, the District determines that the employee cannot perform the 
essential functions of their job, or cannot perform such essential functions safely or without posing a danger 
to themself or others, the employee will be given the opportunity to provide the results of a separate medical 
evaluation by a qualified health care provider selected by the employee, within fifteen (15) calendar days 
of the employees receipt of medical evaluation from the District. In the event of a dispute between the 
District's and the employee's health care providers, the District may require a third opinion, at the District's 
expense, performed by a mutually agreeable health care provider who will make a final determination. 

6. RULES OF CONDUCT 

The District requires employees to demonstrate proper conduct in connection with the performance of their 
job duties at all times.  Improper conduct means not only any improper conduct by an employee during 
working hours, but also improper conduct by an employee during off-duty hours which may bring discredit 
to the District, or which affects the ability of the employee to perform his or her duties, or any improper 
use of an employee's position for personal advantage.  Improper conduct may be cause for disciplinary 
action.    

6.1 DISCIPLINARY ACTION 

The District may, with just cause, utilize a reasonable and appropriate level of discipline under the 
circumstance, consistent with the principles of progressive discipline, up to and including termination of 

Section 3-B 
Page 34 of 55



 

MWD Employee Handbook 2024 Page 27 of 47 

employment. Disciplinary Action, for purposes of this Section, shall mean termination, suspension, 
disciplinary demotion and/or reduction in salary/pay. 

The following are some examples of improper employee misconduct: 

A. Willful or negligent violation of the provisions of this Handbook, or other applicable written rules, 
regulations and policies which do not conflict with this Handbook. 

B. Manufacturing, distributing, dispensing, possessing, ingesting or using for any purpose, controlled 
substances, including narcotics, cannabis, illegal drugs, and/or alcohol in the workplace, or being 
under the influence of said substances while on duty either on District premises, while performing 
District business, and/or while responding to work assignments. 

C. Insubordination, including failure or refusal to comply with a lawful order or to accept a reasonable 
and proper assignment from a Department Manager and/or Superintendent. 

D. Failure to follow established safety regulations. 

E. Inefficiency, unsatisfactory work quality or quantity, incompetence, carelessness, or negligence in 
the performance of duties. 

F. Excessive absenteeism or tardiness.   

G. Damage to or negligence in the care and handling of District property. 

H. Improper or unauthorized use of District vehicles or equipment, or misappropriation of supplies. 

I. Claim of sick leave or Workers’ Compensation under false pretenses or misuse of sick leave. 

J. Furnishing false information to secure appointment or promotion. 

K. Absence from duty without leave, failure to report after leave of absence has expired or after such 
leave of absence has been disapproved, revoked, or canceled. 

L. Acceptance by an employee of any bribe, gratuity, or kick-back, or acceptance of any other item of 
value when given in the hope or expectation of receiving preferential treatment. 

M. Any action which reflects discredit on the District or is a direct hindrance to the effective 
performance of the functions and business of the District. 

N. Failure to obtain and maintain a current license or certificate when required as a condition of 
employment. 

O. Falsifying or altering District records, including the application for employment and time records. 

P. Interfering with the work performance of other employees. 

Q. Failure to maintain satisfactory and harmonious working relations with the public, clients, or other 
employees. 

R. Conviction of a crime which relates to the qualifications, functions, or duties of the employee's 
position. 

S. Harassing, including sexually harassing, employees, vendors or clients.  

T. Physical attack, fighting, or verbal altercations toward fellow employees, clients or the public. 

U. Leaving the job without authorization. 

Section 3-B 
Page 35 of 55



 

MWD Employee Handbook 2024 Page 28 of 47 

V. Possessing a firearm or other dangerous weapon on District property or while conducting District 
business. 

W. Unprofessional or inappropriate dress or appearance while working. 

X. Theft of District property. 

Notice of Intended Disciplinary Action 

Before the General Manager or their designee suspends, demotes, reduces in salary/pay, or terminates an 
employee, the pre-removal safeguards to the extent required by Skelly v. State Personnel Board (1975) 15 
Cal. 3d 194, shall be followed. A written Notice of Intent shall be furnished to the employee which includes:  

A. Notice of intended disciplinary action;  

B. The proposed effective date;  

C. The particular facts and specific grounds for the intended action in sufficient detail to permit the 
employee to understand and to respond to them;  

D. An opportunity to examine any materials upon which the proposed action is based; and,  

E. The right to respond, either orally or in writing, to the General Manager or their designee. Copies 
of this notice and any other materials furnished to the employee shall be filed with the General 
Manager and included in the employee’s personnel file. Such notice shall be given a reasonable 
period of time prior to the date the discipline is to be imposed.  

Notice of Disciplinary Action 

Disciplinary actions, except reprimands, shall be taken against a Regular Employee by service upon such 
employee of a written Notice of Disciplinary Action. The employee may appeal such disciplinary action 
using the same process as the Grievance Appeal (Section 6.8). A copy of the Notice of Disciplinary Action 
shall be given to the Business Manager for inclusion in the employee's personnel file.  

The Notice of Disciplinary Action shall include the following:  

A. The effective date of the action;  

B. The nature of the disciplinary action;  

C. The particular facts and specific grounds for the proposed action in sufficient detail to permit the 
employee to understand and to respond to them;  

D. The acts or omissions upon which the causes are based, in ordinary and concise language with the 
dates and places thereof, when known;  

Reprimand  

The General Manager or their designee may reprimand an employee by furnishing them with a statement, 
in writing, of the specific reasons for such reprimand. A copy of the reprimand shall be given to the Business 
Manager for inclusion in the employee's personnel file. Such reprimands shall not be subject to appeal, but 
the employee shall have the right to submit a written rebuttal to be placed in the employee’s personnel file. 
The General Manager or their designee may withdraw the reprimand or notice of reprimand at their 
discretion. 

Suspension  

Section 3-B 
Page 36 of 55



 

MWD Employee Handbook 2024 Page 29 of 47 

As a disciplinary measure, the General Manager or their designee may temporarily remove an employee 
from their duties without pay. Any such suspension shall not exceed thirty (30) calendar days in any one 
calendar year. 

Reduction in Pay  

The General Manager or their designee may reduce the pay of an employee, for disciplinary reasons, 
provided that such reduction shall be to a step within the pay range of the position held by the employee. 

Disciplinary Demotion  

The General Manager or their designee may demote an employee, for disciplinary reasons, to any position 
with a lower pay allocation, provided the employee meets minimum qualifications for the lower-level 
position. 

Termination  

The continued tenure of each Regular Employee shall be subject to their satisfactory conduct and the 
rendering of efficient service. Should the cause for disciplinary action so warrant an employee may be 
terminated. 

Statute of Limitations  

No disciplinary action shall be valid against any employee for any cause for discipline, unless the Notice 
of Disciplinary Action is served within one (1) year after the cause for discipline, upon which said Notice 
is based, first arose provided the relevant Department Manager or Superintendent knew, or reasonably 
should have known, of the cause for discipline. Disciplinary action based on fraud, embezzlement, or the 
falsification of records shall be valid, if the Notice of such is served within three (3) years after the discovery 
of such fraud, embezzlement, or falsification. 

6.2 PERSONAL BUSINESS CONDUCT 

An employee is to conduct only District business during normal working hours. Normal working hours do 
not include rest breaks and meal periods.  An employee shall conduct personal business or business for 
another employer outside of normal working hours. Employees shall limit personal phone calls and 
visitations (friends, family) to times outside of normal working hours.   

6.3 DISTRICT PROPERTY 

Desks, file cabinets, computers, tools and other equipment are property of the District, and must be 
maintained in good condition and in accordance with the District’s rules and regulations.  They must be 
kept clean and are to be used only for work-related purposes.  If an employee loses, breaks or damages any 
property of the District, it should be reported to the employee’s Department Manager and/or Superintendent 
immediately.  No property may be removed from the premises without the prior authorization of the 
employee’s Department Manager and/or Superintendent. 

In order to ensure compliance with this provision and with the District’s rules and regulations, the District 
reserves the right to inspect all District property without notice to the employee and/or in the employee’s 
absence.   

For security reasons, personal belongings of value should not be left in the workplace.  Personal items 
brought to the workplace may be subject to inspection and search, with or without notice, and with or 
without the employee’s prior consent. 

Section 3-B 
Page 37 of 55



 

MWD Employee Handbook 2024 Page 30 of 47 

While personal locks are permitted on lockers assigned certain employees, the combination or an extra key 
must be provided to the Distribution or Treatment/Production Superintendent and the District reserves the 
right to access and inspect employee lockers at any time, without notice to the employee and/or in the 
employee’s absence. 

Immediately upon termination of employment, all property of the District (keys, cellular phone, tablet, 
laptops, tools, manuals, files, etc.) must be returned to the District.  All personal items should be removed 
at the time the terminated employee leaves the premises of the District.  Before disposing of any left 
personal items at the workplace, and no sooner than (10) days of the date of the employee’s termination, 
the District will make every effort to contact and make arrangement to return items at the terminated 
employee’s expense, if any. 

6.4 WORKPLACE VIOLENCE 

The District is committed to providing a safe, violence-free workplace. In this regard, the District strictly 
prohibits employees, consultants, customers, visitors, or anyone else on District property or engaging in a 
District-related activity from behaving in a violent or threatening manner. The District seeks to prevent 
workplace violence before it begins and reserves the right to deal with behavior that suggests a propensity 
towards violence even prior to any violent behavior occurring. 

Workplace violence includes, but is not limited to, the following: 

A. Threats of any kind; 

B. Threatening, physically aggressive, or violent behavior, such as intimidation of or attempts to instill 
fear in others; 

C. Other behavior that suggests a propensity toward violence, which can include belligerent speech, 
excessive arguing or swearing, sabotage, or threats of sabotage of District property, or a 
demonstrated pattern of refusal to follow District policies and procedures; 

D. Defacing District property or causing physical damage to District facilities; or  

E. With the exception of security personnel, bringing weapons or firearms of any kind on District 
premises, in District parking lots, or while conducting District business. 

If any employee observes or becomes aware of any of the above-listed actions or behavior by another 
employee, customer, consultant, visitor, or anyone else, they should notify their Department Manager 
and/or Superintendent. Likewise, the employee should notify the Department Manager and/or 
Superintendent if they are aware of any restraining order in effect, or if a potentially violent non work-
related situation exists that could result in violence in the workplace. 

All reports of workplace violence will be taken seriously and will be investigated promptly. In appropriate 
circumstances, the District will inform the reporting individual of the results of the investigation. To the 
extent possible, the District will maintain the confidentiality of the reporting employee and of the 
investigation but may need to disclose results in appropriate circumstances, for example, in order to protect 
individual safety. The District will not tolerate retaliation against any employee who reports workplace 
violence. 

If the District determines that workplace violence has occurred, the District will take appropriate 
disciplinary action, up to and including termination and/or legal action. 

6.5 PERSONAL APPEARANCE 

Section 3-B 
Page 38 of 55



 

MWD Employee Handbook 2024 Page 31 of 47 

Because each employee is a representative of the District in the eyes of the public, it is important that each 
employee reports to work appropriately groomed and wearing appropriate attire consistent with the nature 
of the work performed.  Treatment and Distribution personnel are furnished uniforms for identification 
purposes and for their benefit. It is required that these employees wear the uniforms provided.  All other 
employees are required to wear business casual attire, at a minimum unless permitted otherwise by the 
General Manager or their designee.  

Business casual attire includes clothing that is in neat and clean condition and is intended to give a 
professional and businesslike impression. It does not include clothing that is too tight or revealing; clothing 
with rips, tears or frays; clothing with stains; clothing (including hats and beanies) with prominent logos, 
words or pictures; or any extreme style or fashion in dress, footwear, accessories or fragrances. Some 
examples of proper attire include button-down shirts, sweaters, cardigans, blouses, and polo shirts;, blazers 
and sport coats;, slacks or business dress pants and, khakis;, knee-length skirts and dresses,; and solid-
colored jeans. Clothing (including hats and beanies) with the District’s logo are acceptable. The General 
Manager may exercise their discretion to determine the appropriateness of an employee’s attire. 

6.6 ANTI-HARASSMENT, ANTI-DISCRIMINATION, ANTI-RETALIATION POLICY 

Every Employee is entitled to a workplace environment in which they are treated respectfully and 
courteously. The District's expectation is that all Employees will treat each other with dignity and mutual 
respect in a workplace environment that is free from bullying, bias, prejudice, and harassment.  The District 
commits to create a workplace environment that is free from employment practices prohibited by law. 

This policy applies to Employees, as well as vendors, customers, independent contractors, volunteers, 
people providing services under contract and other people with whom Employees come into contact while 
working.   

The law prohibits employees, Superintendents, Managers, and others with whom an Employee comes into 
contact in the course of their work, from engaging in conduct prohibited by the California Fair Employment 
and Housing Act.  This includes, but is not limited to, harassment, discrimination, retaliation, and 
disrespectful or other unprofessional conduct based on a number of protected categories, including:  sex 
(including pregnancy, childbirth, breastfeeding, or related medical conditions), race, religion (including 
religious dress and grooming practices) color, gender (including gender identity and gender expression) 
national origin (including language use restrictions and possession of a driver's license issued under the 
California Vehicle Code), ancestry, physical or mental disability, medical condition, genetic information, 
marital status, registered domestic partner status, age, sexual orientation, military and veteran status , an 
employee’s use of cannabis off the job and away from the workplace, an employee’s choice(s) regarding 
reproductive health, or any other basis protected by federal, state, or local law, ordinance or regulation.  It 
also prohibits discrimination, harassment, disrespectful or unprofessional conduct based on the perception 
that anyone has any of those characteristics or is associated with a person who has or is perceived as having 
any of those characteristics.  In addition, the District prohibits retaliation against individuals who raise 
complaints of discrimination or harassment or who participate in workplace investigations.  All such 
conduct violates the District's policies. 

Employees shall not harass anyone on the basis of the protected categories described above.  Harassing 
conduct may consist of using epithets, slurs, negative stereotyping, threatening, intimidating, and/or hostile 
acts, disparaging jokes and remarks, or written verbal, or other content or communications demonstrating 
ridicule, hostility, and/or denigration of an individual or group based on their characteristics.  Prohibited 
harassment can include, but is not limited to, the following types of behavior: 

Section 3-B 
Page 39 of 55



 

MWD Employee Handbook 2024 Page 32 of 47 

A. Verbal statements, including jokes, offensive comments, and other verbal communications, 
whether privately or in a group setting; 

B. Written statements, including emails, texts, photographs, online communications, social media 
tags, comments, posts, or other communications, including any type of electronic communication 
prohibited by state or federal law; 

C. Photographs, videos, images, posters, posts, or other graphic conduct; 
D. Physical contact, including but not limited to brushing up against, or blocking movement of other 

employees;  
E. Threats, demands, the offer of benefits in return for favors, or losses because favors are not given, 

including sexual favors;  
F. Retaliation for reporting or threatening to report harassment; and 
G. Hostile acts, whether motivated by sexual desire or not, based on one or more of the protected 

categories above. 

Sexual harassment constitutes discrimination and is illegal under federal, state and local laws.  Sexual 
harassment may include a range of behaviors and may involve individuals of the same or different gender, 
whether submission to the sexual harassment is made a condition of the work conditions or rejection of 
such conduct by an individual is used as the basis for employment decisions affecting such individual, or 
such conduct has the purpose or effect of unreasonably interfering with an individual's work performance 
or creating an intimidating, hostile or offensive working environment.  While it is not possible to list all 
circumstances considered to be sexual harassment, prohibited behaviors may include:   

A. Unwanted sexual advances or requests for sexual favors; 
B. Sexual jokes and/or innuendo; 
C. Verbal abuse of a sexual nature, including making or repeating sexual or sexually- related rumors 

about others; 
D. Commentary about an individual's body, sexual prowess or sexual deficiencies;  
E. Leering, whistling, touching, staring, flirtation or other sexually suggestive conduct;  
F. Insulting or obscene comments or gestures; 
G. Display in the workplace of sexually suggestive objects, drawings, photographs, pictures, or 

content of any kind of nature; 
H. Physical assault such as rape, sexual battery, or an attempt to commit an assault, or intentional 

physical conduct such as impeding or blocking movement or touching or brushing against another 
employee's body; 

I. Making a derogatory comment or joke regarding a person's sexual orientation or perceived sexual 
orientation; and 

J. Other physical, verbal, or visual conduct of a sexual nature. 

The harasser may be of the same or opposite sex of victim.  The harasser does not necessarily have to be 
the victim's supervisor; the victim does not necessarily have to be the one to whom the remark or conduct 
is directed but may be someone in the same room who overhears and is offended by the comment or 
behavior. 

The District prohibits unlawful discrimination against any Employee or job applicant by any representative 
of the District, including a Superintendent, Manager, or another Employee.  Unlawful discrimination may 
include:   

A. Making decisions to promote, demote, train, fire, hire, reduce or increase hours, pay, or benefits 
and/or 

Section 3-B 
Page 40 of 55



 

MWD Employee Handbook 2024 Page 33 of 47 

B. Excluding or separating individuals from work-related activities, functions, or discussions. 

The District encourages Employees to report all perceived incidents of discrimination or harassment.  It is 
the District's policy to promptly investigate such reports.  The District prohibits retaliation against any 
Employee who reports workplace discrimination or harassment or participates in an investigation related to 
these activities.  Prohibited retaliation may include: 

A. Termination, demotion, disadvantageous transfer or assignments, refusals to promote, threats, 
reprimands, negative evaluations; 

B. Co-worker hostility or retaliatory harassment, including intimidation, gossip, rumors, insults, or 
otherwise offensive conduct that would subject a person to public ridicule or humiliation; and/or 

C. Any action or combination or actions that are reasonably likely to materially and adversely affect 
an Employee's job performance or opportunity for advancement. 

6.7 COMPLAINT PROCESS 

If an Employee is concerned that they have been subjected to harassment, discrimination, retaliation, or 
other unlawful acts or conduct, from anyone they encounter in the workplace, they should notify their 
Department Manager and/or Superintendent, the Business Manager, or the General Manager verbally or in 
writing.  The District does not require that the complaint be made to an Employee’s Department Manager 
and/or Superintendent.  

The District will attempt to conduct its investigation as confidentially as possible, however, the District 
cannot guarantee complete confidentiality because the General Manager, Business Manager, and/or their 
designee will need to investigate the complaint and collect information from other with knowledge of the 
matter.  In addition, there may be District representatives who will need to know the facts investigated, the 
result of the investigation, and the District's corrective action. 

The District takes reports of complaints of harassment, discrimination, retaliation, and other unlawful acts 
seriously, and will promptly investigate such claims in a fair manner in accordance with all applicable laws, 
statutes and regulations.  Any reported allegations of harassment, discrimination or retaliation will be 
investigated promptly, fairly by impartial and qualified personnel that afford all parties appropriate due 
process.  Every Employee, whether witness, complainant, or alleged harasser, is expected to cooperate fully 
with every investigation.  The investigation may include interviews with parties involved and, where 
necessary, with people who may have observed the alleged conduct or may have other relevant knowledge.  
The District's determinations on complaints will be made based on all information and evidence gathered, 
including but not limited to reports, information, documents, data, and other evidence presented by the 
complainant.  Complaints will be investigated timely and seek timely closure.  This policy dictates that 
Employees who make a complaint or participate in any investigation of any complaint of workplace 
misconduct are not to be retaliated against. 

If the District has determined that harassment, discrimination, retaliation and/or other prohibited conduct 
has occurred, it will take the appropriate corrective actions, as well as action to deter such conduct from 
occurring in the future.  Individuals who have violated this policy will be subject to the District's appropriate 
disciplinary or other actions up to and including termination.   

Department Managers and/or Superintendents who become aware of complaints must promptly report all 
complaints to the Business Manager or General Manager. Department Managers and/or Superintendents 
who become aware of harassment, discrimination and/or retaliation, even if the occurrence is not directly 
within their line of supervision or responsibility, have the obligation to immediately report the harassment 
to the Business Manager or General Manager.   

Section 3-B 
Page 41 of 55



 

MWD Employee Handbook 2024 Page 34 of 47 

6.8 GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE 

Definition 

A grievance is when the employee believes that there is a violation, misinterpretation or misapplication of 
District written policy which adversely affects their conditions of employment, such as promotions, 
longevity increases, appealable discipline, pay raises or duties assigned. Grievances must be submitted 
within ten (10) business days of the date the employee knew, or reasonable person should have known, of 
the violation, misinterpretation or misapplication which is the subject of the grievance.  

Allegations also subject to the grievance procedure are those in which the complaint concerns the 
inconsistent application of policy where the inconsistency results in a denial of the employees' rights under 
those policies defined above.  

Basic Rules 

Formal grievance forms shall be complete upon filing and must explicitly specify the policy or the particular 
section of the agreement, rule, resolution, or ordinance, the violation of which is being alleged as the basis 
for the grievance. The remedy requested must also be specified. No modifications in the violation being 
alleged shall be made subsequent to filing unless mutually agreed to by both the District and the grievant. 

Employees with common supervision and with essentially identical grievances, including remedy, may 
initiate a single grievance.  

Time Off for Processing Grievances 

The grievant shall be granted reasonable time off, not to exceed two consecutive hours (2), with pay from 
regularly scheduled duty hours to process a grievance, provided that the time off will be devoted to the 
prompt and efficient investigation and handling of grievances. 

Before performing any grievance work during normal working hours, a grievant shall obtain permission 
from their Department Manager or Superintendent and shall report back to their Department Manager or 
Superintendent when the grievance work is completed.  Time used to process any grievance shall be 
coordinated around the District’s work activities.  

Timeline 

A. The time limits specified below may be extended by mutual agreement in writing.  

B. Failure by the District to timely respond shall entitle the grieving party to process the grievance to 
the next step.  

Step 1: Direct Manager or Superintendent 

The employee should first attempt to informally work out any grievance with her/her direct Manager or 
Superintendent.  

Step 2: Business Manager 

If the employee is not satisfied with the decision of their Department Manager or Superintendent, they 
should put their complaint and requested remedy in writing and submit it to the Business Manager. If the 
Business Manager is the direct supervisor in Step 1, Step 2 should be directed to the Assistant General 
Manager/Engineering Manager.  A grievance must be submitted to the Business Manager within ten (10) 
business days of the date the employee knew, or a reasonable person would have known of the violation, 
misinterpretation or misapplication which is the subject of the grievance. The Business Manager will 

Section 3-B 
Page 42 of 55



 

MWD Employee Handbook 2024 Page 35 of 47 

provide a written response to the employee within thirty (30) business days of receiving the written 
grievance.  

Step 3: Assistant General Manager/Engineering Manager 

If the grievance is still unresolved after receiving the written response of the Business Manager, the grievant 
should put in writing why they disagree with the response of the Business Manager and provide that 
response to the Assistant General Manager/Engineering Manager within ten (10) business days. The 
Assistant General Manager/Engineering Manager will investigate the grievance as they deem appropriate 
and render a decision within thirty (30) business days.  If the grievance involves the Business Manager 
and/or Assistant General Manager, the General Manager will perform the investigation and render a 
decision.  

Final Step: General Manager 

The General Manager will deliver a final and binding decision in writing.  

Alternative Process 

If the violation, misinterpretation, or misapplication of District written policy is alleged against the General 
Manager by a direct report to the General Manager, the grievance shall be directed to the District’s General 
Counsel.  The District’s General Counsel shall investigate the grievance as expeditiously as reasonably 
practicable and issue a written response to the grievant within (30) days of receiving the written grievance.   

6.9 SAFETY PROGRAMS   

A safety program can only be successful if everyone cooperates. Merely listing do’s and don’ts has never 
prevented accidents. Each employee's assistance in eliminating hazards and unsafe conditions and attention 
to good housekeeping will do much to make the District a safe place to work.  

The District instituted an Injury and Illness Prevention Program. On a periodic basis, District employees 
are educated on preventing injuries and illnesses in the workplace. Formal safety meetings are held on a 
regular basis and are documented by an employee sign in and attendance acknowledgement form. Certain 
employees are also scheduled for safety program attendance as provided by the District’s joint powers 
insurance agency (JPIA) with these programs documented by the contact hours received for attendance. 
Formal inspections of District facilities are scheduled periodically with JPIA to help ensure the safe 
workplace conditions and practices. Employees are required to report any unsafe working conditions to 
their Department Manager and/or Superintendent or the General Manager. It is the responsibility of every 
employee to report or eliminate hazards and unsafe conditions in the workplace. For further detail, please 
refer to the Injury and Illness Prevention Program Handbook, a copy of which may be obtained from 
Department Managers and Superintendents. 

Safety devices and equipment are provided to all employees by the District. This equipment must be used 
according to District and California Occupations Safety and Health Administration (OSHA) rules and 
regulations. Failure to do so can result in disciplinary action up to and including termination. 

6.10 INJURY AT WORK 

An employee is required to report all injuries at work, or other work-related injuries to the employee's 
immediate Manager or Superintendent. Superintendents/managers are responsible for obtaining first aid 
and proper medical care, and promptly reporting the injury to the Business Manager or their designee, who 
will fill out all appropriate forms and reports.  For insurance purposes, exact details of the accident or injury 

Section 3-B 
Page 43 of 55



 

MWD Employee Handbook 2024 Page 36 of 47 

must be provided to the Business Manager or their designee.  The location of the nearest doctor and/or 
medical facility is posted on the bulletin board(s). 

6.11 EMERGENCY PREPAREDNESS 

In the event that a disaster or emergency situation occurs during normal working hours, employees should 
follow the emergency response procedure for their location.  If a disaster or emergency situation occurs 
during District off-hours, employees are to keep lines of communication open and be prepared to report to 
the District office as soon as they have ensured the safety of their family and home. The first employee to 
arrive at the District is to immediately communicate with the District Engineering Manager, General 
Manager, or Superintendent for further direction. 

6.12 SAFE DRIVING PROGRAM 

Safe driving is an important aspect of District employment such that all employees will be expected to 
adhere to the following safe driving practices: 

A. Drive defensively - always expect the worst of the other driver, cyclist, and pedestrian. 

B. Participate in a defensive driver training course every two years.  Any costs incurred shall be 
reimbursed by the District. 

C. Operate vehicles in compliance with all applicable laws and in a safe manner. 

D. Have their valid California Driver's license in their possession at all times while operating a District 
vehicle. 

Refer to the District’s Safe Driving Program for more information. 

Driver Record Review 

The driving record of each employee who drives on behalf of the District will be checked at the time of 
employment and annually thereafter as permitted by California law. Driver record checks will also be made 
of all prospective hires as a function of the pre-employment background check.  

Vehicle Code Violations 

If an applicant, or an employee within their Introductory Period, is found to be a bad risk driver, i.e., having 
four (4) or more points for traffic violations as determined by the DMV, the applicant will not be eligible 
for hire and the employee will be terminated.  

If an employee who drives on behalf of the District has their license suspended, becomes uninsurable under 
the District’s insurance policy or causes an increase to the District’s insurance rates, that employee may be 
subject to discipline, up to and including termination. 

Accident Reporting 

Should an accident involving a District vehicle, or a personal vehicle being used in connection with District 
business, occur, the following actions should be taken: 

A. The driver shall report all accidents or moving violations that occur on District business to their 
Department Manager and/or Superintendent 1) immediately, or (2) as soon as safe to do so. 

B. The driver shall complete the accident report form carried in every District vehicle and submit it to 
their Department Manager and/or Superintendent as soon as possible.  If possible, the driver shall 
take a photo(s) of the vehicle and accident scene with their District issued cellular phone. 

Section 3-B 
Page 44 of 55



 

MWD Employee Handbook 2024 Page 37 of 47 

C. The accident shall be investigated by the driver’s Department Manager and/or Superintendent of 
the employee involved, and a written report prepared giving recommendations regarding 
prevention of similar accidents, the need for additional driver training, and/or disciplinary action to 
be taken. 

D. The accident investigation report will be reviewed by the General Manger or their designee for 
possible action to improve District driving practices. 

E. The Business Manager will immediately report accidents and subsequent results of the 
investigation to the appropriate insurance agency as required. 

6.13 USE OF DISTRICT AND PERSONAL VEHICLES 

District Vehicles 

District vehicles are available for use by employees engaged in District business.  Arrangements for use of 
District vehicles during or outside of normal working hours may be made only upon prior approval of the 
General Manager or their designee. Except for vehicles assigned to employees on a 24-hour basis or by 
prior approval of the General Manager, vehicles must be locked and parked in the designated District 
parking area at night and on weekends. Vehicles should be locked when not in use.   

Certain employees are provided with 24-hour use of a District vehicle for transportation between the 
employee’s residence and the District office or work sites. Assignment of the vehicle is not for the specific 
benefit of the employee, but for the improved operational efficiency and effectiveness of the District.  
Employees will not use District vehicles for personal purposes other than commuting to and from work and 
for incidental personal use such as a stop between work and home. Employees will not transport 
nonemployees or family members without prior approval of their Department Manager and/or 
Superintendent. A District-furnished vehicle for commuting is a taxable benefit according to the Internal 
Revenue Service (IRS). 

Damage to District vehicles that is determined to be due to the negligence of the employee may result in 
discipline up to and including termination. 

District motor vehicle equipment is clearly identified, and operators must always be conscious of safety, as 
well as the impression they create with the general public while operating District equipment. Respect for 
traffic laws, use of fastened seat belts, and attention to the common courtesies of the road is required by the 
District and violations of these are considered grounds for disciplinary actions or termination. Any reports 
of traffic violations will be dealt with accordingly and any resulting fines will be the responsibility of the 
operator. Proof of insurance and a copy of the vehicle registration should be maintained in the District 
vehicle’s glove compartment at all times.  

Personal Vehicles 

Personal vehicles should only be used for District business when District vehicles are not available. 
Employees who drive their use their personal vehicle(s) for District business must maintain liability 
insurance coverage, as required by state law. Mileage will be reimbursed at the current IRS rate per mile, 
plus tolls, parking, etc. 

6.14 CELLULAR PHONE, PDA, RADIO POLICY 

While operating a District vehicle, or a personal vehicle while engaged in District business, employees are 
prohibited from using cell phones (including personal digital assistants, iPhone, and similar devices) except 
to call a public safety agency or except as expressly provided in this section.  Employees may not receive 

Section 3-B 
Page 45 of 55



 

MWD Employee Handbook 2024 Page 38 of 47 

incoming calls unless the cellular phone can be safely operated in a hands-free mode.  For employees with 
hands free cellular phone operation, in the event an employee receives an incoming call while driving, the 
employee should either safely pull off the road to converse, inform the caller that they will return the call, 
or ask the caller to call again to allow the employee to reach a place where it is safe to use the phone.  While 
driving, employees are prohibited from using their cellular phones to text message, read or send email, or 
similar operations.  Employees are also prohibited from using District-issued radios while driving and 
should safely pull off the road in the event an employee finds it necessary to communicate on a District-
issued radio. 

6.15 SMOKE FREE ENVIRONMENT 

Smoking is prohibited in all District facilities and vehicles. The designated smoking area for the District is 
outside the District facilities and, as required by State law, at a distance of at least 20 feet from the facilities. 

6.16 VOICE MAIL, E-MAIL AND TECHNOLOGY POLICY 

The District maintains and utilizes as part of its operations a computer system, including e-mail, and a 
voice-mail system.  These systems are provided to assist employees in the conduct of the District’s 
business.  All computers and the data stored on them, including e-mail, as well as all voicemail and the data 
stored on them, are and remain at all times the property of the District.  As such, all voicemail and e-mail 
messages composed, created, sent, and received and all data stored on computers are and remain the 
property of the District.  Employees are prohibited from installing or downloading software onto the 
District’s computer system except with the prior written authorization of the General Manager or their 
designee. 

Employees shall limit voicemail and e-mail messages to the conduct of the District’s business.  Use of the 
voicemail and e-mail systems for the conduct of personal business is prohibited.  Other use of computer 
systems, including use of the Internet and other telecommunicating capabilities, shall be limited to the 
conduct of the District’s business unless prior written approval is received from the General Manager. 

The District reserves the right to retrieve and read any data stored on the computer system and any message 
composed, created, sent or received on the voicemail and e-mail systems, as well as Internet usage data, at 
any time, with or without advance notice to the employee.  Although the computer system, including e-
mail, and the voice-mail system may accommodate the use of passwords for security, the reliability of 
passwords for maintaining confidentiality cannot be guaranteed.    Employees must assume that any and all 
voicemail and e-mail messages and all data stored on the computer system may be read by someone other 
than the employee storing the data or the intended or designated recipient and understand the ultimate 
privacy of data stored on the computer system, including e-mail, and voice-mail messages, cannot be 
guaranteed to anyone.  

The District’s policy against unlawful harassment, including sexual harassment, and the District’s anti-
discrimination policy apply to employee use of voicemail, e-mail messages and screen savers as well as 
any other information transmitted over the District’s computer system.  Employees should not use any 
means of electronic communications in a manner that would violate those policies.  For example, employees 
may not communicate messages by computer, voicemail or other electronic means that would constitute 
sexual harassment, may not use sexually suggestive screen savers, and may not receive or transmit 
pornographic, obscene, or sexually offensive material or information.  As a further example, employees 
may not use electronic communications to transmit comments or images which are reasonably likely to 
offend someone on account of their age, sex, sexual orientation, race, religious beliefs, national origin, 
disability, or any of the other factors included in the Equal Employment Opportunity section of this 

Section 3-B 
Page 46 of 55



 

MWD Employee Handbook 2024 Page 39 of 47 

Handbook.  Any employee who uses any electronic communications device in a manner which violates this 
policy will be subject to disciplinary action, up to and including termination of employment. 

Consistent with the District’s Cyber Security Policy, Employees are prohibited from using their personal 
computer, laptops, tablets, smart phones, or similar devices to perform work for the District. Violation of 
this policy may be cause for disciplinary action.  Additionally, if an Employee’s personal device is used to 
conduct District business, all the contents of that device may be subject to the Public Records Act and, thus 
reviewable by the District. 

Employees learning of any misuse of voicemail, e-mail or other computer systems or violations of this 
policy shall immediately notify the General Manager. 

6.17 RECORDING WITHOUT CONSENT POLICY 

No District employee, within the course and scope of their District employment, may electronically record 
or eavesdrop upon a communication without the consent of all parties to that conversation.   

6.18 MERCHANDISING OR SOLICITING ON DISTRICT PREMISES 

Soliciting or selling merchandise for organizations such as scouts, youth sports, school-related activities 
and others of that type is only permitted when an employee is off-duty and when it does not interfere with 
another employee’s job performance.   

6.19 BULLETIN BOARD 

Bulletin boards are located in the office and shop areas to help keep employees informed on matters 
pertaining to the District.  Only notices pertaining to the business and operations of the District will be 
placed on these boards.  As such, all postings are to be authorized by the Department Manager and/or 
Superintendent prior to posting. 

6.20 PARKING FACILITIES 

A parking area is provided by the District for all employees. 

6.21 LOANS, ADVANCES, PERSONAL CHECKS 

Loans or advances against wages will not be approved by the District. Personal checks will not be cashed 
by the District. 

6.22 LUNCHROOM 

The lunchroom located at the District office, Distribution shop and Bella Vista Treatment Plant are provided 
for employee use. Employees should be respectful of their co-workers and leave the lunchrooms in a clean 
condition after being used. 
7. SUBSTANCE ABUSE 

7.1 PURPOSE OF POLICY 

The District has a vital interest in maintaining safe and efficient working conditions for its employees. 
Substance abuse is incompatible with health, safety, efficiency, and success at the District. Employees who 
are under influence of drugs, alcohol and/or cannabis on the job compromise the District’s interests, 
endanger their own health and safety and the health and safety of others, and can cause a loss of efficiency, 
productivity, or a disruptive working environment.  

Section 3-B 
Page 47 of 55



 

MWD Employee Handbook 2024 Page 40 of 47 

To further its interests in avoiding accidents, to promote and maintain safe and efficient working conditions 
for its employees, and to protect its business, property, and operations, the District has established this 
policy concerning the use of drugs, alcohol and cannabis. As a condition of continued employment with the 
District, all employees must abide by this policy. 

7.2 DEFINITIONS 

For the purposes of this policy: 

A. “Illegal drugs” means any drug or controlled substance that is not legally obtainable or is legally 
obtainable but has not been legally obtained. 

B. “Legal drugs” means any drug, including prescription drugs, over-the- counter drugs and cannabis, 
that has been legally obtained and that is not unlawfully sold or distributed. 

7.3 EMPLOYEE ASSISTANCE 

Employees who suspect that they may have drug, alcohol and/or cannabis problems, even in the early 
stages, are encouraged to voluntarily seek diagnosis and to follow through with the treatment as prescribed 
by qualified professionals. Employees who wish to voluntarily enter and participate in a drug, alcohol 
and/or cannabis rehabilitation program are encouraged to contact the General Manager, who will determine 
whether the District can accommodate the employee by providing unpaid leave (Family Medical Leave 
Act/Sick/Vacation allowable) for the time necessary for the employee to complete participation in the 
program. Disclosures made by an employee to the General Manager concerning the employee’s use of 
drugs will be treated confidentially and will not be revealed to supervisors unless there is an important 
work-related reason to do so in order to determine whether it is advisable for the employee to continue 
working. Disclosures made by employees to the General Manager concerning their participation in any 
drug, alcohol and/or cannabis rehabilitation program will be treated confidentially. 

Employees should be aware, however, that participation in a rehabilitation program will not necessarily 
shield them from the imposition of disciplinary action for a violation of this policy, particularly if discipline 
is imposed for a violation occurring before the employee seeks assistance. 

Nothing in this policy is intended to diminish the District’s commitment to employ qualified disabled 
individuals or to provide accommodation to such individuals as required under state and federal law. 

7.4 USE OF LEGAL DRUGS 

The District recognizes that it may be necessary for employees to use legal drugs from time-to-time. The 
District also recognizes that an employee who is using legal drugs might become impaired by the drug such 
that the employee’s ability to perform or to perform safely would be compromised. Designated safety-
sensitive positions at the District, which includes all employees in the Distribution and Treatment 
departments, who know or should know that their use of legal drugs might endanger their own safety or the 
safety of some other person, pose a risk of significant damage to District property or the property of others, 
or materially compromise their ability to perform their work, are obligated to report such use of legal drugs 
to the General Manager. The District reserves the right to have a contract physician or the employee’s own 
physician, as designated by the District determine whether it is advisable for the employee to continue 
working while taking such legal drugs. The District further reserves the right to have the employee’s 
physician certify that when returning from a leave of absence, the employee will not be using any legal 
drugs which might impair the employee’s ability to perform the employee’s job duties for the District. 

If appropriate, the District may reasonably limit the work activities of an employee who is using legal drugs 
or require that the employee take a leave of absence while taking such drugs. If the District permits an 

Section 3-B 
Page 48 of 55



 

MWD Employee Handbook 2024 Page 41 of 47 

employee to work while using legal drugs, the employee still cannot report to work if impaired by the use 
of the drugs if the impairment might endanger the employee’s own safety or the safety of anyone else, pose 
a risk of significant damage to the District property or substantially interfere with the employee’s job 
performance or the efficient operation of the District’s business. The District may require a medical 
certificate as a precondition to return to work.  

Section 3-B 
Page 49 of 55



 

MWD Employee Handbook 2024 Page 42 of 47 

7.5 PROHIBITED CONDUCT 

A. On-Duty Prohibition on Illegal Drugs, Alcohol and Cannabis– An employee shall not use, possess, 
purchase, sell, manufacture, distribute, transport, dispense, or be under the influence of any illegal 
drug, cannabis, or alcohol during working hours, while on District premises, while conducting or 
performing District business, regardless of location, or while operating or responsible for the 
operation, custody, or care of District equipment or other property. 

B. Off-Duty Conduct – In addition to the restrictions imposed under subsection A above, the use, 
possession, purchase, sale, manufacture, distribution, transportation, dispensation, or being under 
the influence of any illegal drug, cannabis or alcohol while off duty may result in disciplinary 
action, up to and including termination, depending upon whether such off-duty conduct negatively 
affects employees’ ability to perform their job duties, undermines the public’s confidence in the 
District or otherwise poses the risk of bringing the District into disrepute. Such off-duty conduct 
will be reviewed on a case-by-case basis. 

C. Legal Drugs – Employees are prohibited from working while impaired by the use of a legal drug 
whenever such impairment might endanger the safety of the employee or some other person, pose 
a risk of significant damage to District property or equipment, or materially interfere with the 
employee’s job performance or the efficient operation of the District’s business or equipment. 

8. TESTING FOR ILLEGAL DRUGS AND ALCOHOL 

8.1 JOB APPLICANTS 

Applicants receiving a conditional offer of employment are required to submit to a pre-employment 
physical examination and subject to a urine and/or blood test for the presence of illegal drugs, cannabis, or 
alcohol. The District may refuse to employ an applicant whose test results show the presence of illegal 
drugs, cannabis in an amount that shows that the applicant likely consumed cannabis in the 12 hours prior 
to the test, or alcohol. Applicants who are under a physician’s care and/or are required to take legal drugs 
must notify the General Manager or their designee of that fact in writing before the date of the pre-
employment examination. 

8.2 TESTING OF EMPLOYEES 

A. Any employee suspected of being under the influence of illegal drugs, cannabis or alcohol will be 
placed on paid administrative leave and required to submit to a urine or blood test to determine the 
presence of illegal drugs or alcohol. Such testing may be ordered only by the General Manager, or 
the Assistant General Manager based upon a reasonable suspicion that an employee is under the 
influence of any illegal drug or alcohol in violation of this policy. Refusal to undergo a urine or 
blood test when required pursuant to this policy constitutes insubordination and may result in 
disciplinary action, up to an including termination. 

B. Reasonable suspicion means a belief based on specific facts and reasonable inferences drawn from 
those facts that an employee is under the influence of illegal drugs, alcohol and/or cannabis in the 
course and scope of their employment. Circumstances which constitute a basis for determining 
reasonable suspicion may include, but are not limited to: 

i. A pattern of abnormal conduct or erratic behavior; 
ii. Observable phenomena, such as direct observation of drug or alcohol and/or cannabis or 

possession and/or the physical symptoms of being under the influence of illegal drugs, or 

Section 3-B 
Page 50 of 55



 

MWD Employee Handbook 2024 Page 43 of 47 

alcohol and/or cannabis (e.g., glassy or bloodshot eyes, alcohol odor on breath, slurred speech, 
poor coordination and/or reflexes); 

iii. Conviction for a drug-related offense; 
iv. Information provided by a reliable and credible source which is independently corroborated; 

or 
v. Newly discovered evidence that the employee has tampered with a previous drug test. 

C. The General Manager, Department Manager or Superintendent shall document in writing the facts, 
symptoms, or observations which form the basis for the determination that reasonable suspicion 
existed to warrant the testing of an employee. 

D. Whether the testing is conducted by urine or blood sample shall be at the discretion of the District 
and/or the physician performing the test. 

E. The urine or blood sample will be collected, and the testing will take place at an approved testing 
facility (as determined by the District) and will be done in a manner so as to provide the employee 
with appropriate rights of privacy. Positive results will be reviewed by a licensed physician who 
will discuss all positive results with the employee to determine if the positive result could have 
resulted from the use of legal drugs or other causes. 

F. Any urine or blood sample showing positive test results will be retested. The physician and/or 
testing facility will report the test results to the General Manager or Business Manager only if the 
“retesting” of the sample shows positive results for illegal drugs, alcohol and/or cannabis. The 
positive test results will be made available to the employee. 

G. A portion of each sample taken will be properly preserved, and the employee will be allowed to 
have the sample tested by his or her own physician. 

H. The District shall observe all laws and regulations protecting the confidentiality of medical 
information. 

I. Any employee who refuses to comply with a request for testing will be considered to be 
insubordinate. Any employee who provides false information in connection with a test or who 
attempts to falsify test results through tampering, contamination, adulteration, or substitution, shall 
be removed from duty immediately, and will be terminated. Refusal to submit to a test can include 
an inability to provide a urine specimen or breathe sample without a valid medical explanation, as 
well as a verbal declaration, obstructive behavior or physical absence resulting in the inability to 
conduct the test. 

J. Any employee may identify someone suspected of being under the influence of drugs, alcohol 
and/or cannabis to any supervisory or management personnel. Employees should realize, however, 
that it is against District policy to make false or malicious statements about other employees and 
doing so can result in disciplinary action being taken against the offending employee. However, 
the Department Manager and/or Superintendent must witness firsthand the employee’s signs and 
symptoms. 

9. DISCIPLINARY GUIDELINES 

9.1 CAUSES FOR TERMINATION 

The first violation of sections VII through VIII of this Handbook may result in termination, particularly 
whenever the prohibited conduct: 

Section 3-B 
Page 51 of 55



 

MWD Employee Handbook 2024 Page 44 of 47 

A. Involved the sale, manufacture, possession, distribution, or dispensation of illegal drugs in violation 
of this policy; 

B. Caused injury to the employee or any other person, or, in the sole opinion of the District, 
endangered the safety of the employee or any other person; 

C. Resulted in significant damage or theft to District property or equipment or, in the sole opinion of 
the District, posed a risk of significant damage; or 

D. Involved fraudulent/illegal activity; 

E. Involved an employee who had not completed the Introductory Period or was a Temporary 
Employee. 

9.2 DISCRETION NOT TO TERMINATE 

The District, in its sole discretion, may choose not to terminate an employee for a first violation of sections 
7 through 8 of this Handbook. However, all violations may result in disciplinary action. The nature of such 
disciplinary action will depend on the circumstances of each case, including a consideration of the following 
factors: 

A. The circumstances under which the violation of the policy occurred; 

B. The employee’s participation in and satisfactory completion of a drug or alcohol abuse assistance 
or rehabilitation program; 

C. Length of District service; and 

D. History of job performance with the District. 

9.3 EFFECT OF CRIMINAL DRUG CONVICTION 

An employee who is convicted under a criminal drug statute for a violation occurring in the workplace or 
during any District-related activity or event will be deemed to have violated District’s Substance Abuse 
policy and may result in disciplinary action up to and including termination. 

9.4 EFFECT OF SECOND DRUG VIOLATION 

A second violation of this policy by an employee at any time will result in termination subject to Skelly 
rights. 

10. SOCIAL MEDIA  

The District understands that social media can be a fun and rewarding way to share your life and opinions 
with family, friends and co-workers around the world.  However, the use of social media also presents 
certain risks and carries with it certain responsibilities.  To assist employees in making responsible decisions 
about their use of social media, the District has established these guidelines for appropriate use of social 
media. 

In the rapidly expanding world of electronic communication, social media can mean many things.  Social 
media includes all means of communicating or posting information or content of any sort on the Internet, 
including to the employee’s own or someone else’s web log or blog, journal or diary, personal web site, 
social networking or affinity web site, web bulletin board or a chat room, whether or not associated or 
affiliated with the District, as well as any other form of electronic communication. 

Section 3-B 
Page 52 of 55



 

MWD Employee Handbook 2024 Page 45 of 47 

The same principles and guidelines found in the District policies apply to employee activities online.  
Ultimately, employees are solely responsible for what they post online.  Before creating online content, 
consider some of the risks and rewards that are involved.  Keep in mind that conduct that adversely affects 
employee job performance, the performance of fellow employees or otherwise adversely affects customers, 
suppliers, people who work on behalf of the District or the District’s legitimate interests may result in 
disciplinary action up to and including termination. 

10.1 KNOW AND FOLLOW THE RULES 

Employees should carefully read this section on Social Media as well as the other provisions of this 
Handbook, including the District’s policies prohibiting unlawful discrimination and harassment, and ensure 
their postings are consistent with these policies.  Inappropriate postings that may include discriminatory 
remarks, harassment, and threats of violence or similar inappropriate or unlawful conduct will not be 
tolerated and may subject employees to disciplinary action up to and including termination. 

10.2 BE RESPECTFUL 

Always be fair and courteous to fellow employees, customers, suppliers, or people who work on behalf of 
the District.  Also, keep in mind that employees are more likely to resolve work-related complaints by 
speaking directly with their co-workers or by bringing your concerns to the attention of Department 
Managers and/or Superintendents rather than by posting complaints to a social media outlet.  Nevertheless, 
if an employee decides to post complaints or criticism, avoid using statements, photographs, video, or audio 
that reasonably could be viewed as malicious, obscene, threatening or intimidating, that disparage 
customers, other employees, or suppliers, or that might constitute harassment or bullying.  Examples of 
such conduct might include offensive posts meant to intentionally harm someone’s reputation or posts that 
could contribute to a hostile work environment on the basis of race, sex, disability, religion or any other 
status protected by law or District policy. 

10.3 BE HONEST AND ACCURATE 

Employees should make every effort to be honest and accurate when posting information or news, and if 
they make a mistake, correct it quickly.  Employees should be open about any previous posts they have 
altered.  Remember that the Internet archives almost everything; therefore, even deleted postings can be 
searched.  Employees should never post any information or rumors that they know to be false about the 
District, fellow employees, customers, suppliers, or people working on behalf of the District. 

10.4 POST ONLY APPROPRIATE AND RESPECTFUL CONTENT 

A. Employees should maintain the confidentiality of the District’s confidential information and 
information about District customers.  Do not post internal reports, policies, procedures, or other 
internal business-related confidential communications that are not publicly available. 

B. An employee should not create a link from a personal blog, website, or other social networking site 
to a District website without identifying themself as a District employee. 

C. Employees should express only their personal opinions.  Employees should never represent 
themselves as a spokesperson for the District.  If the District is a subject of the content the employee 
is creating, be clear and open about the fact that you are an employee and make it clear that your 
views do not represent those of the District, fellow employees, customers, suppliers, or people 
working on behalf of the District.  If an employee does publish a blog or post online related to the 
work they do for the District or regarding subjects associated with the District, make it clear that 

Section 3-B 
Page 53 of 55



 

MWD Employee Handbook 2024 Page 46 of 47 

you are not speaking on behalf of the District.  It is best to include a disclaimer such as “The 
postings on this site are my own and do not necessarily reflect the views of the District.” 

10.5 USING SOCIAL MEDIA AT WORK 

Employees shall refrain from using social media during working hours and on all District provided 
equipment unless authorized by the General Manager and shall not use District email addresses to register 
on social networks, blogs or other online tools utilized for personal use. 

10.6 RETALIATION IS PROHIBITED 

The District prohibits taking negative action against any employee for reporting a possible deviation from 
this policy or for cooperating in an investigation.  Any employee who retaliates against another employee 
for reporting a possible deviation from this policy or for cooperating in an investigation will be subject to 
disciplinary action, up to and including termination. 

10.7 MEDIA CONTACTS 

Employees should not speak to the media on the District’s behalf without contacting the General Manager.  
All media inquiries should be directed to the General Manager. 

10.8 FOR MORE INFORMATION 

If you have questions or need further guidance, please contact the General Manager. 

  

Section 3-B 
Page 54 of 55



 

MWD Employee Handbook 2024 Page 47 of 47 

ACKNOWLEDGMENT FORM 

I acknowledge that I have received and am obligated to read and abide by the policies and 
procedures set forth in the Montecito Water District Employee Handbook 2024. 

 

 

_________________________________        _______________________ 
              Employee's Signature                                     Date 

 

_________________________________ 
              Print Name 

Section 3-B 
Page 55 of 55



Page left intentionally blank.



MONTECITO WATER DISTRICT 
MEMORANDUM  

SECTION: 3-C

DATE: JANUARY 17, 2024 

TO: OPERATIONS AND CUSTOMER RELATIONS COMMITTEE 

FROM: GENERAL MANAGER  

SUBJECT: COVID-19 PREVENTION AND RESPONSE PLAN (REVISION 6) 

RECOMMENDATION: 

Information Only. 

DISCUSSION: 

The District continues with implementation of its COVID-19 Prevention and Response Plan 
(Plan), originally adopted by the Board of Directors and activated on March 16, 2020.   

On December 15, 2022, the California Department of Industrial Relations (Cal/OSHA), with 
guidance from California Department of Public Health (CDPH) adopted “Non-Emergency 
COVID-19 Prevention Regulations”. These updated regulations took effect on February 3, 2023, 
and will remain in effect for two years. They include similar requirements to those found in 
Cal/OSHA’s COVID-19 Prevention Emergency Temporary Standards, as well as new provisions 
aimed at making it easier for employers to provide protection to workers while also allowing 
flexibility to respond to changing CDPH requirements.  

The prior version of the District’s Plan, Revision 5, while substantially compliant with latest 
Cal/OSHA Non-Emergency COVID-19 Prevention Regulations, included requirements found in 
Cal/OSHA’s COVID-19 Prevention Emergency Temporary Standards which are no longer 
mandated. Staff has updated the District’s Plan to be consistent with the latest local, state, and 
federal guidance. Attached is Revision 6 of the Plan for Committee reference. This Plan update 
has been reviewed by the District’s General Legal Counsel and is consistent with the California 
Department of Industrial Relations Non-Emergency COVID-19 Prevention Regulations. Staff will 
continue to implement the COVID-19 Prevention and Response Plan until such time as County 
and State guidance indicates it is no longer required to do so.  

ATTACHMENTS: 

1. COVID-19 Prevention and Response Plan, Revision 6 (dated January 12, 2024)

Section 3-C 
Page 1 of 23



Page left intentionally blank.

Section 3-C 
Page 2 of 23



COVID 19 PREVENTION & 
RESPONSE PLAN 

Montecito Water District 
583 San Ysidro Road 

Santa Barbara, CA 93108 

Original Document: March 16, 2020 
Revision 1:  June 3, 2020 

Revision 2: February 1, 2021 
Revision 3:  February 4, 2021 
Revision 4: August 20, 2021 

Revision 5:  February 22, 2022 
Revision 6: January 12, 2024

Section 3-C 
Page 3 of 23



MWD COVID-19 Prevention and Response Plan Rev 6  

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

1.0   PURPOSE ................................................................................................................................. 1 

2.0   AUTHORITY AND RESPONSIBILITY ........................................................................................... 1 

3.0   PLAN REVISIONS ...................................................................................................................... 1 

4.0   DEFINITIONS  ........................................................................................................................... 2 

5.0   PREVENTION PROCEDURES ..................................................................................................... 4 

6.0   EXPOSURE CONTROL ............................................................................................................... 7 

7.0   COVID-19 HAZARD IDENTIFICATION, REVIEW AND CORRECTION .......................................... 8 

8.0   INVESTIGATING AND RESPONDING TO COVID-19 AND CLOSE CONTACT CASES ................... 9 

9.0   TRAINING AND INSTRUCTION ............................................................................................... 10 

10.0   REPORTING AND RECORDKEEPING ..................................................................................... 10 

11.0   RESOURCES ......................................................................................................................... 11 

APPENDIX A: IDENTIFICATION OF COVID-19 HAZARDS ................................................................... i 

APPENDIX B: COVID-19 WORKPLACE INSPECTIONS ........................................................................ii 

APPENDIX C: INVESTIGATING COVID-19 CASES .............................................................................. iii 

APPENDIX D: COVID-19 TRAINING ROSTER .................................................................................... vi 

APPENDIX E: MULTIPLE COVID-19 INFECTIONS AND OUTBREAKS ................................................ vii 

 

 

Section 3-C 
Page 4 of 23



MWD COVID-19 Prevention and Response Plan Rev 6 Page 1 of 11 

1.0   PURPOSE 

This COVID-19 Prevention and Response Plan (Plan) has been developed and periodically updated 
by Montecito Water District (District) to address unique operational and planning needs 
presented by the Novel Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID-19). This Plan is separate from, and 
supplements, the District’s Injury and Illness Prevention Program (IIPP) and is intended to provide 
guidance for identifying exposure and health risks to employees, as well as establishing exposure 
control and prevention methods in the workplace. The ability of the District to fulfill its mission is 
highly dependent on the health and safety of its employees and their families.  This Plan applies 
to all District employees. 

The District will implement all applicable requirements and inform employees of 
recommendations by the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC), California 
Occupational Safety and Health Administration (Cal/OSHA), California Department of Public 
Health (CDPH), and Santa Barbara County Public Health to maintain a safe work environment for 
District employees.   

This Plan is to be used to promote departmental preparedness, identify essential functions, 
establish staffing needs, and ensure continuity of operations.   

2.0   AUTHORITY AND RESPONSIBILITY 

The District’s General Manager (Nick Turner) has overall authority and responsibility for 
implementing the provisions of this Plan in the District’s workplace. Additionally, all managers 
and supervisors are responsible for implementing and maintaining the Plan in their assigned work 
areas and ensuring employees receive answers to questions about the Plan in a language they 
understand. The District’s Plan is available on the District’s intranet system, in hard copy at 
District headquarters, and upon request to any employee or interested party. All employees are 
responsible for using safe work practices, following all directives, policies, and procedures, and 
assisting in maintaining a safe work environment. 

3.0   PLAN REVISIONS 

This Plan is periodically updated by the District as new information and guidance is published by 
federal, state, and local health authorities and/or work conditions change. 

The original Plan was adopted by the District and activated on March 16, 2020, at the 
commencement of the global COVID-19 pandemic and in compliance with recommendations and 
requirements of federal, state, and local public health officials. Since then, the Plan has been 
updated five times, the latest being February 2022, in response to changing conditions and new 
guidelines published by federal, state, and local public health officials.   

Section 3-C 
Page 5 of 23



MWD COVID-19 Prevention and Response Plan Rev 6 Page 2 of 11 

This Plan update (Revision 6) incorporates Cal/OSHA’s COVID-19 Prevention Non-Emergency 
Regulations, adopted in December 2022. This revision aims to make it easier for employers to 
provide consistent protections to all employees and to allow for flexibility as changes are made 
to the CDPH and Cal/OSHA guidance in the future.  

The District reserves the right in its discretion to amend, augment, revise and/or supplement the 
requirements of this Plan to comply with all State and local guidelines, and to maximize the 
protection of District employees. In addition, management may exercise discretion in 
implementing specific provisions of the Plan and/or implementing more restrictive requirements 
than established under the Plan depending on current conditions and latest guidance provided 
by federal, state, and local health officials. 

4.0   DEFINITIONS  

“Close Contact” means sharing the same indoor airspace with a COVID-19 Case for a cumulative 
total of 15 minutes or more over a 24-hour period during the COVID-19 Case’s Infectious Period, 
regardless of the use of Face Coverings.  Offices, kitchens, break areas, waiting areas, bathrooms, 
and other rooms separated by floor to ceiling walls are considered distinct indoor spaces.  
Employees have not had a close contact if they were wearing a respirator when sharing indoor 
airspace or within six feet of a case during the case’s Infectious Period.   In the event that the 
term “Close Contact” is otherwise defined by regulation or order of the California Department of 
Public Health (CDPH), then that definition shall apply to this Plan.  

“COVID-19” (Coronavirus Disease 2019 means the disease caused by SARS-CoV-2 (Severe Acute 
Respiratory Syndrome Coronavirus 2) 

“COVID-19 Case” means a person who: 

• Has a positive “COVID-19 Test” as defined in this section; or 
• Has a positive COVID-19 diagnosis from a licensed health care provider; or 
• Is subject to a COVID-19-related order to isolate issued by a local or state health official; 

or 
• Has died due to COVID-19, as determined by a local health department or per inclusion in 

the COVID-19 statistics of a county. 

“COVID-19 Hazard” means potentially infectious material that may contain SARS-CoV-2, the virus 
that causes COVID-19.  Potentially infectious materials include airborne droplets, small particle 
aerosols, and airborne droplet nuclei, which most commonly result from a person or person’s 
exhaling, talking, or vocalizing, coughing, or sneezing, or from procedures performed on persons 
which may aerosolize saliva or respiratory tract fluids.  

 

Section 3-C 
Page 6 of 23



MWD COVID-19 Prevention and Response Plan Rev 6 Page 3 of 11 

“COVID-19 Symptoms” means fever of 100.4 degrees Fahrenheit or higher, chills, cough, 
shortness of breath or difficulty breathing, fatigue, muscle or body aches, headache, new loss of 
taste or smell, sore throat, congestion or runny nose, nausea or vomiting, or diarrhea, unless a 
licensed health care professional determines the person's symptoms were caused by a known 
condition other than COVID-19. 

“COVID-19 Test” means a test for SARS-CoV-2 that is (a) cleared, approved, or authorized, 
including in an Emergency Use Authorization (EUA), by the United States Food and Drug 
Administration (FDA) to detect current infection with the SARS-Co-V-2 virus (e.g. a viral test); and 
(b) administrated in accordance with the authorized instructions.  Any self-administered and self-
read test will only meet return to work criteria if a means of independent verification of the 
results can be provided (e.g., a time stamped photograph of the results).  

“Disinfection” is the use of chemicals to kill viruses on surfaces. Killing viruses remaining on a 
surface after cleaning reduces the risk of spreading infection. Approved disinfectants are listed 
on EPA's List N: Disinfectants for Coronavirus (COVID-19). 

“Exposed Group” means all employees at a work location, working area, or a common area at 
work, where an employee COVID-19 Case was present at any time during the Infectious Period. 
A common area at the workplace includes bathrooms, walkways, hallways, break or eating areas, 
and waiting areas. The following exceptions apply: 

• For the purpose of determining the Exposed Group, a place where people momentarily 
pass through, without congregating, is not a work location, working area, or a common 
area at work. 

• If the COVID-19 Case was part of a distinct group of employees who are not present at 
the workplace at the same time as other employees, for instance a work crew or shift that 
does not overlap with another work crew or shift, only employees within that distinct 
group are part of the Exposed Group. 

• If the COVID-19 Case visited a work location, working area, or a common area at work for 
less than 15 minutes during the Infectious Period, and the COVID-19 Case was wearing a 
Face Covering during the entire visit, other people at the work location, working area, or 
common area are not part of the Exposed Group. 

“Face Covering” means a surgical mask, a medical procedure mask, a Respirator worn voluntarily, 
or a tightly woven fabric or non-woven material of at least two layers (i.e., fabrics that do not let 
light pass through when held up to a light source) that completely covers the nose and mouth 
and is secured to the head with ties, ear loops, or elastic bands that go behind the head. If gaiters 
are worn, they shall have two layers of fabric or be folded to make two layers.  

A Face Covering is a solid piece of material without slits, visible holes, or punctures, and must fit 
snugly over the nose, mouth, and chin with no large gaps on the outside of the face. A Face 

Section 3-C 
Page 7 of 23



MWD COVID-19 Prevention and Response Plan Rev 6 Page 4 of 11 

Covering does not include a scarf, ski mask, balaclava, bandana, turtleneck, collar, or single layer 
of fabric. This includes clear Face Coverings or cloth Face Coverings with a clear plastic panel that 
otherwise meet this definition, and which may be used to facilitate communication with people 
who are deaf or hard-of-hearing, or others who need to see a speaker's mouth or facial 
expressions to understand speech or sign language respectively. 

“Infectious Period” means the following time period unless otherwise defined by CDPH 
regulation or order, in which case the CDPH definition shall apply to this Plan: 

• For COVID-19 Cases who develop COVID-19 Symptoms, from two days before they first 
develop symptoms until all the following are true:  10 days have passed since symptoms 
first appeared, or through day five if testing negative on day five or later; and 24 hours 
have passed with no fever, without the use of fever-reducing medications; and symptoms 
have improved. 

• For COVID-19 Cases who never develop COVID-19 Symptoms, from two days before the 
positive specimen collection date through 10 days (or through day five if testing negative 
on day five or later) after the date on which the specimen for their first positive test for 
COVID-19 was collected.  

“Respirator” means a respiratory protection device approved by the National Institute for 
Occupational Safety and Health (NIOSH) to protect the wearer from particulate matter, such as 
an N95 filtering facepiece respirator.   

“Returned case” means a COVID-19 case who was excluded from work but returned and did not 
develop any COVID-19 symptoms after returning.  A person shall only be considered a returned 
case for 30 days after the initial onset of COVID-19 symptoms or, if the person never developed 
COVID-19 symptoms, for 30 days after the first positive test.  If a period of other than 30-days is 
required by a CDPH regulation or order, that period shall apply.  

“Worksite” for the limited purpose of this Plan, means the building, store, facility, or other 
location where a COVID-19 case was present during the Infectious Period.  It does not apply to 
buildings, floors, or other locations of the District that a COVID-19 case did not enter.  

5.0   PREVENTION PROCEDURES 

COVID-19 is a recognized workplace hazard addressed through this Plan and the District’s IIPP. 
The District must take precautions to prevent the infection and spread of COVID-19 to 
employees, customers, and the public.  These precautions apply to all employees and to all 
District facilities.   

Section 3-C 
Page 8 of 23



MWD COVID-19 Prevention and Response Plan Rev 6 Page 5 of 11 

A. Face Coverings and Respirators 
1. All employees must adhere to current CDPH and/or local health department 

requirements and exemptions concerning the use of Face Coverings and Respirators 
when representing the District. 

2. Face Coverings and Respirators are available and provided to all employees upon 
request. Face Coverings and Respirators will be clean, undamaged, and worn over 
the nose and mouth. 

3. All employees, regardless of vaccination status, previous infection, or lack of COVID-
19 Symptoms, who return to work after (a) being diagnosed with COVID-19, (b) 
testing positive for COVID-19, or (c) being in Close Contact to a COVID-19 Case, are 
required to wear a Face Covering or Respirator when their return is within 10 days 
of the diagnosis, positive test, or last Close Contact. 

4. When Face Coverings are required, the following exceptions apply: 
a. When an employee is alone in their workspace (i.e., office or cubicle) or a vehicle. 
b. While eating and drinking at the workplace, provided employees are at least six 

feet apart and, if indoors, the supply of outside or filtered air has been 
maximized to the extent feasible. 

c. While employees are wearing Respirators required by the employer and used in 
compliance with CCR, Title 8 section 5144. 

d. Employees who cannot wear Face Coverings due to a medical or mental health 
condition or disability, or who are hearing-impaired or communicating with a 
hearing- impaired person. Such employees shall wear an effective non-restrictive 
alternative, such as a face shield with a drape on the bottom, if the condition or 
disability permits it. 

e. During specific tasks which cannot feasibly be performed with a Face Covering. 
This exception is limited to the period in which such tasks are being performed. 

5. If an employee is not wearing a Face Covering or Respirator due to exceptions (d) 
and (e) above, the COVID-19 hazards will be assessed, and action taken as deemed 
necessary.  

6. Employees will not be prevented from wearing a Face Covering or Respirator, when 
not required, unless it creates a safety hazard, such as interfering with the safe 
operation of equipment. 

7. Whether Respirators are required or worn voluntarily, employees will be: 
a. Encouraged to use them. 
b. Provided with a Respirator of the correct size. 
c. Trained on how to properly wear a Respirator, how to perform a seal check each 

time a Respirator is worn and provided information regarding facial hair 
interfering with a Respirator’s seal.  

Section 3-C 
Page 9 of 23



MWD COVID-19 Prevention and Response Plan Rev 6 Page 6 of 11 

8. All employees are required to wear a Face Covering or Respirator indoors and 
outdoors when others are present during a COVID-19 outbreak or major outbreak 
at a District worksite. 

B. Ventilation 
1. The District reviews the latest guidance from CDPH and Cal/OSHA regarding 

ventilation, filtration, and air quality in indoor environments. 
2. For indoor workplaces, the District maximizes, to the extent feasible, the quantity of 

outside air for buildings with mechanical or natural ventilation systems by:  
a. Opening windows except when doing so would cause a hazard to employees or 

expose them to inclement weather. 
b. Using forced air heating and cooling systems with High Efficiency Particulate Air 

(HEPA) filters or at least as protective as Minimum Efficiency Reporting Value 
(MERV)-13. 

c. Leaving large garage doors open to facilities when employees are present. 
3. Ventilation systems are properly maintained by a third-party heating and cooling 

company.  
4. In vehicles, the supply of outside air is maximized to the extent feasible, except when 

doing so would cause a hazard to employees or expose them to inclement weather. 
C. Other Prevention Procedures 

1. Employees shall cover their mouth and nose when they cough or sneeze and use a 
tissue or paper towel when possible. 

2. Employees should always assume that their hands and all high touch surfaces are 
contaminated and shall wash their hands frequently and thoroughly with soap and 
warm water for at least 20 seconds, especially after using the restroom, after 
touching a high touch surface, after sneezing or coughing, before eating or drinking, 
and before placing a Face Covering or Respirator on and after taking one off.  If 
handwashing facilities are not available, hand sanitizer with an alcohol 
concentration of at least 60% shall be utilized. 

3. Employees at higher risk, or with family or household members at higher risk, of 
severe COVID-19 illness may request additional accommodations to reduce risk and 
prevent COVID-19 illness. 

4. Depending on public health conditions, additional control and prevention methods 
may be implemented, including: 
a. Remote work. 
b. Physical distancing. 
c. Moving indoor tasks outdoors. 
d. Separation of employees into dedicated, interdisciplinary teams to prevent or 

limit potential COVID-19 transmission and Close Contact. 

Section 3-C 
Page 10 of 23



MWD COVID-19 Prevention and Response Plan Rev 6 Page 7 of 11 

e. Separation of work shifts and break times among various cohorts.  
f. Restrict access to District worksites. 

6.0   EXPOSURE CONTROL 

The District implements the following exposure control methods for all employees at all 
worksites: 

A. Self-Monitoring - Employees shall self-monitor for signs and symptoms consistent with 
COVID-19 including a fever, difficulty breathing, coughing, or sneezing. 

B. Self-Report of Close Contact - Employees shall notify their Supervisor immediately if they 
have come into contact with a person they suspect may be or is infected. 

1. Employees shall not report to work and shall notify their Supervisor immediately if 
they are defined as a Close Contact.  

2. The employee’s Supervisor shall inform the Business Manager or Human Resources 
Assistant to initiate an investigation.  

3. Close Contacts may continue to work at District worksites if all the following apply:  
a. A COVID-19 Test is recommended prior to reporting to work after learning of the 

close contact. 
b. They remain free of COVID-19 Symptoms. 
c. They test negative for COVID-19 within 3-5 days of their last close contact. 
d. They wear a Face Covering or Respirator for at least ten days after their last close 

contact.  
C. Self-Report of COVID-19 Positive Test or Symptoms -  

1. Employees shall not report to work and shall notify their Supervisor immediately if 
they are defined as a COVID-19 Case. 

2. Employees who begin to experience symptoms of COVID-19 while at work shall 
exclude themselves from the workplace, avoid close contact with anyone, and notify 
their Supervisor immediately. 

3. The employee’s Supervisor shall inform the Business Manager or Human Resources 
Assistant to initiate an investigation. 

D. COVID-19 Case Exclusion from the Workplace - COVID-19 Cases are excluded from 
District worksites and must meet applicable CDPH requirements before being permitted 
to return to work: 

1. COVID-19 Cases who do not develop COVID-19 Symptoms will not return to work 
during the Infectious Period. 

2. COVID-19 Cases who develop COVID-19 Symptoms will not return to work during 
the shorter of the following: 
a. The Infectious Period. 

Section 3-C 
Page 11 of 23



MWD COVID-19 Prevention and Response Plan Rev 6 Page 8 of 11 

b. 10 days after the onset of symptoms and at least 24 hours have passed since a 
fever of 100.4 degrees Fahrenheit or higher has resolved without the use of 
fever-reducing medication. 

3. Regardless of vaccination status, previous infection, or lack of COVID-19 Symptoms, 
a COVID-19 Case must wear a Face Covering or Respirator in the workplace until 10 
days have passed since the date that COVID-19 Symptoms began or, if the person 
did not have COVID-19 Symptoms, from the date of their first positive COVID-19 
Test. 

E. Notifications of COVID-19 Cases and Close Contacts – Employees will be given 
notification concerning COVID-19 Cases and Close Contacts as follows: 

1. Notice of COVID-19 Case 
a. Notice shall be provided to all employees at the same worksite of a confirmed 

COVID-19 Case within the Infectious Period that they may have been exposed to 
COVID-19. 

b. Notice will be provided via email within one business day from when the District 
receives notice of potential exposure.  

2. Notice to Close Contacts 
a. The District shall notify those employees who had close contact with a confirmed 

COVID-19 Case via email as soon as possible, and in no case longer than one 
business day of the District being made aware of the confirmed COVID-19 Case.  

3. Notice will also be provided to Employee’s union representative SEIU local 620, as 
determined necessary by the District.   

F. COVID-19 Testing - Testing is available at no cost to employees during employees' paid 
time when: 

1. An employee is at a District worksite and is experiencing COVID-19 Symptoms. 
2. An employee has had close contact at a worksite, with the exception of returned 

cases as defined in Section 4. Tests will be provided within three to five days after 
the close contact or as recommended and/or required by state or local guidelines.  

7.0   COVID-19 HAZARD IDENTIFICATION, REVIEW AND CORRECTION  

The District performs periodic assessments of District policies and facilities, and implements 
changes as needed to prevent the spread of COVID-19.  Forms included in Appendix A and B of 
this Plan will be used to inspect the workplace, identify COVID-19 hazards, and make appropriate 
corrections. 

Employees are encouraged to participate in the identification and evaluation of COVID-19 
hazards by:  

Section 3-C 
Page 12 of 23



MWD COVID-19 Prevention and Response Plan Rev 6 Page 9 of 11 

A. Communicating frequently with their Supervisor about COVID-19 hazards and possible 
exposures. 

B. Becoming familiar with this Plan. 

C. Providing feedback to their Supervisor on this Plan. 

Appendix A: Identification of COVID-19 Hazards 
Unsafe or unhealthy work conditions, practices or procedures will be recorded on this form and 
corrected in a timely manner based on the severity of the hazards, as follows: 

A. The hazard will be communicated to an immediate Supervisor as soon as feasible. 

B. The Supervisor will report the hazard to management.   

C. Management and the Supervisor, and employee, if necessary, will determine the proper 
corrective action.  

Appendix B: COVID-19 Workplace Inspections 
Corrective action will be implemented and recorded on this form.  Management will follow up 
with the Supervisor within one week after the corrective action to ensure its effectiveness.  

8.0   INVESTIGATING AND RESPONDING TO COVID-19 AND CLOSE CONTACT CASES 

Investigations will be conducted by management and/or the Human Resources Assistant in 
coordination with the employee designated as a COVID-19 Case or Close Contact. Employees 
who are defined as a COVID-19 Case, are exhibiting COVID-19 Symptoms, or are considered a 
Close Contact of a COVID-19 Case must report their conditions to management and/or the 
Human Resources Assistant without fear of reprisal.  

Investigating COVID-19 Cases - Any COVID-19 Case at a District worksite will be investigated to 
determine, to the extent possible, the last day and time the COVID-19 Case was present, the date 
of the first positive COVID- 19 test or diagnosis, and the date that the COVID-19 Case first 
exhibited one or more COVID-19 Symptoms, if applicable. Investigations will be documented 
using the form in Appendix C: Investigating COVID-19 Cases. 

Responding to COVID-19 Cases 

A. COVID-19 Cases are required to test and be excluded from the workplace in accordance 
with Exposure Control procedures described above.  

B. All employees who are determined to have come into close contact with a COVID-19 
Case while conducting District business will be notified in accordance with exposure 
control procedures described above.  

Section 3-C 
Page 13 of 23



MWD COVID-19 Prevention and Response Plan Rev 6 Page 10 of 11 

C. Employees who are deemed a Close Contact by management as a result of workplace 
exposure will be offered COVID-19 testing and may be subject to quarantine or isolation 
based on their test results and/or the presence of COVID-19 Symptoms.   

D. All COVID-19 Cases and Close Contacts will be provided with information regarding 
benefits available to them. 

E. All personal identifying information of a COVID-19 Case and individuals with COVID-19 
Symptoms will be kept confidential, except for reporting requirements or requests by 
local public health departments, CDPH, Cal/OSHA and other regulatory authorities as 
obligated by law. 

F. Employees who are required to enter self-quarantine or self-isolation may not be 
permitted to conduct any District business outside of their home until the Infectious 
Period is over or they submit the appropriate documentation to the Business Manager 
or Human Resources Assistant.  
1. Appropriate documentation may include proof of negative test results or 

certification from a healthcare provider that an employee is permitted to return to 
work.  

9.0   TRAINING AND INSTRUCTION 

The District provides training and instruction on COVID-19 prevention and response.  Appendix 
D: COVID-19 Training Roster is used to document training: 

• To new employees. 

• To employees given a new job assignment involving COVID-19 hazards that have not been 
previously trained. 

• To Supervisors to familiarize themselves with the COVID-19 hazards to which employees 
under their immediate direction and control may be exposed. 

• When new COVID-19 hazards are introduced.    

• When new or previously unrecognized COVID-19 hazards are identified. 

10.0   REPORTING AND RECORDKEEPING 

The Appendix C: Investigating COVID-19 Cases form is used to record and track all COVID-19 
Cases and Close Contacts.  

Reporting: 

A. The District reports information about COVID-19 Cases at the District’s workplace to the 
local health department when and as required by law, and provides any related 
information requested by the local health department. 

Section 3-C 
Page 14 of 23



MWD COVID-19 Prevention and Response Plan Rev 6 Page 11 of 11 

B. In the unfortunate event of a COVID-19-related serious illness or death occurring at the 
District’s workplace or in connection with employment with the District, the District will 
report it immediately to Cal/OSHA as defined under CCR Title 8 section 330(h). 

Recordkeeping: 

All investigative documents will be retained for a minimum of two years beyond any required 
and/or necessary period in order to ensure compliance with the requirements of CCR, Title 8, 
sections 3205, 3205.1, 3205.2, and 3205.3.  

All personal identifying information of a COVID-19 Case and individuals with COVID-19 
symptoms, and any employee medical records required by this section or by sections 3205.1 
through 3205.3, will be kept confidential, unless disclosure is required or permitted by law.  

11.0   RESOURCES 

Resources used in preparation of this Plan include: 

• Cal/OSHA COVID-19 Prevention – Non-Emergency Regulations 
(https://www.dir.ca.gov/dosh/coronavirus/Non_Emergency_Regulations/)  

• CDPH Public Health Officer Orders and Guidance Documents 
(https://www.cdph.ca.gov/Programs/CID/DCDC/pages/guidance.aspx) 

• CDC COVID-19 Guidance Documents 
(https://www.cdc.gov/coronavirus/2019-ncov/index.html) 

• Santa Barbara County Public Health Orders and Guidance 
https://publichealthsbc.org/ 

District employees are encouraged to use these resources to educate themselves on COVID-19 
and stay informed of the latest developments. 

Section 3-C 
Page 15 of 23

https://www.dir.ca.gov/dosh/coronavirus/Non_Emergency_Regulations/
https://www.dir.ca.gov/dosh/coronavirus/Non_Emergency_Regulations/
https://covid19.ca.gov/
https://www.cdph.ca.gov/Programs/CID/DCDC/pages/guidance.aspx
https://www.cdc.gov/coronavirus/2019-ncov/index.html
https://www.cdc.gov/coronavirus/2019-ncov/index.html
https://www.venturacountyrecovers.org/
https://publichealthsbc.org/


MWD COVID-19 Response Plan Rev 6 Page i of viii 

APPENDIX A: IDENTIFICATION OF COVID-19 HAZARDS 

All persons, regardless of symptoms or negative COVID-19 Test results, will be considered 
potentially infectious.  Particular attention will be paid to areas where people may congregate or 
come in contact with one another, regardless of whether employees are performing an assigned 
work task or not. For example: meetings, entrances, bathrooms, hallways, aisles, walkways, 
elevators, break or eating areas, cool-down areas, and waiting areas. 

Evaluation of potential workplace exposure will encompass all persons at the workplace or who 
may enter the workplace, including coworkers, employees of other entities, members of the 
public, customers or clients, and independent contractors. We will consider how employees and 
other persons enter, leave, and travel through the workplace, in addition to addressing fixed 
work locations. 

Person conducting the evaluation:  

Date:  

Name of employee(s) and authorized employee representative(s) that participated:  
 

Interaction, area, 
activity, work task, 
process, equipment, and 
material that potentially 
exposes employees to 
COVID-19 hazards 

Places and times Potential for COVID-19 
exposures and employees 
affected, including members 
of the public and employees  
of other employers 

Existing and/or 
additional 
COVID-19 
prevention 
controls, including 
barriers, 
partitions, and 
ventilation 

    

    

    

    

    

    

Section 3-C 
Page 16 of 23



MWD COVID-19 Response Plan Rev 6 Page ii of viii 

APPENDIX B: COVID-19 WORKPLACE INSPECTIONS 

Date:  

Name of person(s) conducting the inspection:  

Work location evaluated:  

Exposure Controls Status Person Assigned to 
Correct 

Date Corrected 

Engineering    

Barriers/partitions    

Ventilation (amount of fresh air and 
filtration maximized) 

   

Additional room air filtration    

    

Administrative    

Physical distancing    

Surface cleaning and disinfection 
(frequently enough and adequate 
supplies) 

   

Hand washing facilities (adequate 
numbers and supplies) 

   

Disinfecting and hand sanitizing 
solutions being used according to 
manufacturer instructions 

   

    

PPE (not shared, available and 
being worn) 

   

Face Coverings (cleaned 
sufficiently often) 

   

Gloves    

Face shields/goggles    

Respiratory protection    

  

Section 3-C 
Page 17 of 23



MWD COVID-19 Response Plan Rev 6 Page iii of viii 

APPENDIX C: INVESTIGATING COVID-19 CASES 

All personal identifying information of COVID-19 Cases or symptoms will be kept confidential as 
may be required by applicable law unless the release of such information is required or permitted 
by law and/or has been authorized by the individual whose information will be disclosed. All 
COVID-19 testing, or related medical services provided by the District will be provided in a 
manner that ensures the confidentiality of employees, except for unredacted information on 
COVID-19 Cases that will be provided immediately upon request to the local health department, 
CDPH, Cal/OSHA, the National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health (NIOSH), or as 
otherwise required by law. 

All employees’ medical records will also be kept confidential and not disclosed or reported 
without the employee’s express written consent to any person within or outside the workplace, 
with the following exceptions: (1) Unredacted medical records provided to the local health 
department, CDPH, Cal/OSHA, NIOSH, or as otherwise required by law immediately upon 
request; and (2) Records that do not contain individually identifiable medical information or from 
which individually identifiable medical information has been removed. 

Date: 

Name of person conducting the investigation: 

Employee (or non-
employee*) name: 

 Occupation (if non-
employee, why they 

were in the workplace): 

 

Location where 
employee worked (or 

non-employee was 
present in the 

workplace): 

 
Date investigation was 

initiated:  

Was a COVID-19 Test 
offered? 

 Name(s) of staff 
involved in the 

investigation: 

 

Date and time the 
COVID-19 Case was 

last present in the 
workplace: 

 
Date of the positive or 

negative test and/or 
diagnosis: 

 

*Should an employer be made aware of a non-employee infection source COVID-19 status. 

  

Section 3-C 
Page 18 of 23



MWD COVID-19 Response Plan Rev 6 Page iv of viii 

Date the COVID-19 
Case first had one or 

more COVID-19 
Symptoms: 

 Information received 
regarding COVID-19 
Test results and onset 

of symptoms (attach 
documentation): 

 

Results of the 
evaluation of the 

COVID-19 Case and 
all locations at the 

workplace that may 
have been visited by 
the COVID-19 Case 

during the Infectious 
Period, and who may 

have been exposed 
(attach additional 

information): 

 

Notice given (within one business day, in a way that does not reveal any personal identifying 
information of the COVID-19 Case) of the potential COVID-19 exposure to: 

All employees who 
may have had 

COVID-19 exposure 
and their authorized 

representatives. 

Date:  

Names of employees that 
were notified:  

Independent 
contractors and other 
employers present at 

the workplace during 
the Infectious Period. 

Date:  

Names of individuals 
that were notified:  

Section 3-C 
Page 19 of 23



MWD COVID-19 Response Plan Rev 6 Page v of viii 

What were the 
workplace conditions 

that could have 
contributed to the risk 

of COVID-19 exposure? 

 What could be done 
to reduce exposure 

to COVID-19? 

 

Was local health 
department notified?  

 

Date: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Section 3-C 
Page 20 of 23



MWD COVID-19 Response Plan Rev 6 Page vi of viii 

APPENDIX D: COVID-19 TRAINING ROSTER 

Date:  

Person that conducted the training: 

Employee Name Signature 

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

 

 

 

Section 3-C 
Page 21 of 23



MWD COVID-19 Response Plan Rev 6 Page vii of viii 

APPENDIX E: MULTIPLE COVID-19 INFECTIONS AND OUTBREAKS 

Exclude from Work 

All COVID-19 Cases, as well as employees who had close contacts but did not take a COVID-19 
Test, will be excluded from the workplace. 

COVID-19 Testing 

The District will immediately provide COVID-19 testing at no cost to employees within the 
Exposed Group, regardless of vaccination status, during employees’ paid time, and continue to 
make test available to employees at least weekly until there are one or fewer new COVID-19 
Cases detected in the Exposed Group for a 14-day period.  

Employees who had close contacts and remain at work will be required to take a COVID-19 Test 
within three to five days after the Close Contact and those who test positive for COVID-19 will be 
excluded. Those who do not take a COVID-19 Test will be excluded until return-to-work 
requirements have been met. 

Face Coverings 

Employees in the Exposed Group, regardless of vaccination status, will wear Face Coverings when 
indoors, or when outdoors and less than six feet from another person, unless one of the 
exceptions in this Plan applies. 

Respirators 

Employees will be notified of their right to request and receive a Respirator for voluntary use. 

COVID-19 investigation, review, and hazard correction 

The District will review relevant COVID-19 policies, procedures, and controls, and implement 
changes as needed to prevent further spread of COVID-19 when this addendum initially applies 
and periodically thereafter. The investigation, review, and changes will be documented and 
include: 

• Investigations of new or unabated COVID-19 hazards including: 
o Leave policies and practices and whether employees are discouraged from remaining 

home when sick. 
o COVID-19 testing policies. 
o Insufficient supply of outdoor air to indoor workplaces. 
o Insufficient air filtration. 
o Insufficient physical distancing. 

 

Section 3-C 
Page 22 of 23



MWD COVID-19 Response Plan Rev 6 Page viii of viii 

• Review updated procedures every 30 days that CCR, Title 8 section 3205.1 continues to 
apply: 
o In response to new information or to new or previously unrecognized COVID-19 

hazards. 
o When otherwise necessary. 

• Any changes implemented to reduce the transmission of COVID-19 based on the 
investigations and reviews may include:  
o Moving indoor tasks outdoors or having them performed remotely. 
o Increasing the outdoor air supply when work is done indoors. 
o Improving air filtration. 
o Increasing physical distancing to the extent feasible. 
o Requiring respiratory protection in compliance with CCR, Title 8 section 5144. 
o Other applicable controls. 

Ventilation 

Buildings or structures with mechanical ventilation will have recirculated air filtered with 
Minimum Efficiency Reporting Value (MERV)-13 or higher efficiency filters, if compatible with the 
ventilation system. If MERV-13 or higher filters are not compatible with the ventilation system, 
filters with the highest compatible filtering efficiency will be used. High Efficiency Particulate Air 
(HEPA) air filtration units will be used in accordance with manufacturers’ recommendations in 
indoor areas occupied by employees for extended periods, where ventilation is inadequate to 
reduce the risk of COVID-19 transmission. 

These ventilation requirements will continue to be implemented after the outbreak has passed 
and CCR, Title 8 section 3205.1 is no longer applicable. 

Note: this Appendix does not cover “major COVID-19 outbreaks” since the District doesn’t have 
groups of 20 or more employees working together daily. 

 

Section 3-C 
Page 23 of 23



Page left intentionally blank.



MONTECITO WATER DISTRICT 
MEMORANDUM 

SECTION: 3-D

DATE: JANUARY 17, 2024 

TO: OPERATIONS AND CUSTOMER RELATIONS COMMITTEE 

FROM: GENERAL MANAGER 

SUBJECT: ADOPTION OF RESOLUTION NO. 2271 UPDATING THE POLICY 
REGARDING THE PROCUREMENT OF MATERIALS AND SERVICES 

RECOMMENDATION:  

That the Operations and Customer Relations Committee recommend the Board of Directors adopt 
Resolution No. 2271 updating the District’s policy regarding the procurement of materials and 
services, referred to as the Procurement Policy. 

DISCUSSION:  

The District has a Procurement Policy that defines policies and procedures governing its 
procurement of supplies, materials, and equipment (referred to collectively as “materials”), and 
professional, construction and capital improvement related services, (referred to collectively as 
“services”), pursuant to California Government Code Section 54202, and Water Code Sections 
31004 and 31005. The Policy ensures efficiency and effectiveness in procuring materials and 
services for the District. It establishes sound business practices and ensures the District receives 
the highest quality and best value for money expended. It requires that the District operate in a 
fair, open, transparent, and non-discriminatory manner in the marketplace and establishes 
procedures for the conscious management of the risk inherent in all procurements. Finally, it 
mandates that all individuals involved in the procurement process operate in accordance with the 
highest ethical standards. 

The District’s Procurement Policy was last updated and adopted by the Board of Directors on 
January 17, 2017. A comprehensive review of the Policy was performed, and management is 
recommending updates. Attached is Resolution No. 2271, a proposed update of the District’s 
current Procurement Policy. Revisions include the addition of a definitions section and a provision 
concerning contract amendments and change orders.  

The proposed updated Procurement Policy has been reviewed by legal counsel and comments have 
been incorporated.  

ATTACHMENTS:  

1. Draft Resolution No. 2271, an updated Procurement Policy

Section 3-D 
Page 1 of 8



Page left intentionally blank.

Section 3-D 
Page 2 of 8



 

DRAFT Reso 2271 - Updated Procurement Policy 1-17-24 redline Page 1 of 6 

RESOLUTION NO. 2271 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF THE MONTECITO WATER 
DISTRICT UPDATING ITS POLICY REGARDING THE PROCUREMENT OF 

MATERIALS AND SERVICES   
 

WHEREAS, Montecito Water District (the "District") is a County Water District organized 
and existing under and pursuant to the County Water District Law [Water Code §§30000 – 
33901]; and  

WHEREAS, the District has a Procurement Policy that defines policies and procedures 
governing its procurement of supplies, materials, and equipment (referred to collectively as 
“materials”), and professional, construction and capital improvement related services, (referred 
to collectively as “services”), for District use pursuant to California Government Code Section 
54202 and Water Code 31004 and 31005.   

WHEREAS, the District’s Procurement Policy was last updated and adopted by the Board 
of Directors on January 17, 2017; and  

WHEREAS, a comprehensive review and update of the District’s Procurement Policy has 
been performed and presented to the District’s Operations and Customer Relations Committee 
and the Board of Directors; and 

WHEREAS, the Board of Directors has reviewed Resolution No. 2271 and the updated 
Procurement Policy and has determined that it is in the best interest of the District to adopt the 
updated Procurement Policy in order to receive the highest quality and best value for District 
procurements while operating in a fair, open, transparent and non-discriminatory manner and in 
accordance with the highest ethical standards.  

THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Board of Directors of the Montecito Water 
District as follows: 

1. Resolution No. 2271 including the updated Procurement Policy attached as Exhibit 
“A” is hereby adopted.  

2. The District’s latest Procurement Policy, adopted by the Board of Directors at its 
meeting of January 17, 2017, is hereby replaced in its entirety with Resolution No. 
2271. 

PASSED AND ADOPTED by the Board of Directors of the Montecito Water District 
this _____ day of January 2024 by the following roll call vote: 

AYES:  
NOES:  
ABSENT: 
ABSTAIN:  

APPROVED: ATTEST 

__________________________ _________________________ 

Kenneth Coates, Board President Nick Turner, Secretary 

Section 3-D 
Page 3 of 8



 

DRAFT Reso 2271 - Updated Procurement Policy 1-17-24 redline Page 2 of 6 

Exhibit “A” to Resolution No 2271 

Procurement Policy 

Introduction: This procurement policy is established to ensure efficiency and effectiveness in 
procuring materials and services for the Montecito Water District (“District”).  It establishes 
sound business practices and ensures the District receives the highest quality and best value for 
funds expended.  It requires that the District operate in a fair, open, transparent and non-
discriminatory manner in the marketplace and establishes procedures for the conscious manage-
ment of the risk inherent in all procurements.  Finally, it mandates that all individuals involved in 
the procurement process operate in accordance with the highest ethical standards. 

Definitions: 

A. "Board of Directors" shall refer to the Board of Directors of the Montecito Water District. 

B. "Contract" means any written agreement to perform or not to perform a certain act, 
including, without limitation, a purchase or sale contract, lease, contract for services, 
purchase order, employment agreement, labor agreement, and any addendum, 
amendment, extension, modification and/or revision to any contract. "Contract" and 
"agreement" are synonymous as used herein. 

C. "District" shall mean the Montecito Water District, duly organized under and by virtue of 
the County Water District Law. 

D. “Business Manager” shall refer to the person appointed pursuant to Water Code §30544 
to manage the financial affairs of the District.    

E. “General Manager" shall refer to the person appointed pursuant to Water Code §30540 
and exercising the authority granted under Water Code §30580 and §30581 and any 
designee delegated that authority by the General Manager in the discretion of the General 
Manager as authorized by Water Code §30580.  

F. "Instrument" shall mean any document that states some contractual relationship or grants 
some right, including without limitation deeds, promissory notes, powers of attorney, and 
negotiable instruments. 

G. “President” shall refer to the person designated as the President of the Board under Water 
Code §30016 and exercising the authority granted under Water Code §30578.   

H. “Vice President” shall refer to the person designated as the Vice President of the Board 
under Water Code §30544. 

Purchase Approval Authority: Purchase approval authority for procurements made on behalf 
of the District shall be delegated in relation to the value of the procurement, the nature of the 

Section 3-D 
Page 4 of 8



 

DRAFT Reso 2271 - Updated Procurement Policy 1-17-24 redline Page 3 of 6 

material or service procured and term of the contract.  An approval of the Board of Directors 
constitutes an affirmative action made by a majority of the Board of Directors during a public 
meeting and subsequently recorded in meeting minutes in accordance with Water Code §30523 
and §30525.  

A. Materials and Services:  The General Manager is responsible for approving all budgeted 
purchases, and purchase orders, for services and supplies, including Fixed Assets, 
totaling $200,000 or less (including installation, tax and shipping) except as otherwise 
noted herein. 

The Board of Directors shall approve all purchases of services and supplies, including 
construction services, for non-budgeted items totaling more than $50,000, except that the 
General Manager may make emergency procurements of supplies and services in excess 
of $50,000 without bids to protect the health, safety or property of private individuals and 
public entities.  Prior to emergency procurement of supplies and services in excess of 
$50,000 due to an emergency, the General Manager or their designee executing the 
contract or instrument must contact the Board President, or Vice President, and obtain 
their assent prior to executing the instrument.  If the Board President or Vice President is 
unavailable, the General Manager or their designee must contact two other Board 
members and obtain their unanimous assent.  Subsequent to executing any contract or 
instrument for construction services, or the lease or purchase of materials, supplies and 
equipment due to an emergency, the Board must be notified as soon as possible of any 
emergency contract or instrument and must ratify the contract or instrument at the next 
regular Board meeting.   

B. Property:  The Board of Directors shall approve all purchases of real property regardless 
of value. 

C. Professional Services: The Board of Directors shall approve all contracts for budgeted 
professional services in excess of $200,000 and all non-budgeted professional services in 
excess of $50,000.  The General Manager shall approve all contracts for budgeted 
professional services totaling $200,000 or less and all non-budgeted professional services 
totaling $50,000 or less.   

D. Long-term Agreements:  The Board of Directors shall approve all contracts with a term 
longer than 12 months. 

E. Other Utilities: The General Manager shall approve other budgeted utility services 
such as gas or electric. 

The General Manager in their discretion may delegate authority for approving purchases as 
necessary to ensure efficiency and effectiveness of District Operations. 

The General Manager may authorize amendments to contracts for material and services provided 
that any single amendment for a given contract and/or the aggregate of all amendments shall not 

Section 3-D 
Page 5 of 8



 

DRAFT Reso 2271 - Updated Procurement Policy 1-17-24 redline Page 4 of 6 

exceed $100,000 or 10% of the original contract amount, whichever is less.  Any amendment in 
excess of this authority shall be approved by the Board of Directors prior to the delivery of 
the materials and services. 

Requirements for Advance Price Quotations:  Purchases made on behalf of the District should 
minimize cost to the extent practicable, but the final decision to award to a particular vendor 
must be carried out on the basis of obtaining best possible value for the District. 

A. Items with a value less than $10,000:  A single purchase from one vendor with a value 
less than $10,000 but greater than $750 shall only be made with a purchase order that is 
approved by the General Manager or their designee prior to the order of order of services, 
materials or equipment.  A single purchase from one vendor with a value $750 or less 
does not require a purchase order. The quotations must be received in writing and 
become part of the purchase documentation. 

B. Items with a value of $10,000 or greater:  A single purchase from one vendor with a 
value of $10,000 or greater for a single line item or service shall be made after soliciting 
two or more written price quotations and with a purchase order that is approved by the 
General Manager or their designee. The price quotations shall accompany a purchase 
order and become part of the purchase documentation. 

C. Sole source procurements: In exceptional circumstances, requirements to (1) obtain a 
purchase order ahead of the purchase and (2) secure a minimum of two bids may be 
waived.  Exceptional circumstances may include an emergency condition or the need to 
procure proprietary materials or services.    

In the event of an exceptional circumstance, a purchase order will not be required prior to 
a procurement as determined by the General Manager or their designee. In the event of an 
procurement due to an exceptional circumstance, a purchase order shall be subsequently 
prepared as an administrative record of the transaction.  

When a purchase order is required, the purchase order number and a description of the 
purchase shall be indicated on the invoice. Additionally, if requested, a copy of the 
purchase order shall be provided to the vendor. 

Split procurements:  Under no circumstances may a procurement be artificially split in order to 
change the approving authority, or the procedures required in documenting the purchase price. 

Use of Contractors:  While not required to do so under the Water Code and/or Public Contract 
Code, the District will use its best efforts to publicly bid construction projects and award projects 
to the lowest responsible and responsive bidder where feasible as determined by the District in 
its sole discretion.   

Requirements for Emergency Contracting: The General Manager may annually request bids 
for emergency contract services and recommend up to three contractors for Board approval.  

Section 3-D 
Page 6 of 8



 

DRAFT Reso 2271 - Updated Procurement Policy 1-17-24 redline Page 5 of 6 

Once approved, the General Manager may contract with any of the approved contractors for 
emergency repair services throughout the given year.  

Risk Transfer:  In order to minimize the potential liability exposure of the District, contracts for 
construction and professional services shall include appropriate risk transfer clauses as 
recommended by the District legal counsel and/or liability insurance provider. At a minimum, 
any entity performing construction and/or professional services for the District shall have 
adequate liability and workers compensation insurance. A contract should not be made effective 
until the relevant insurance documents, including a performance bond as necessary, have been 
approved. 

Internal Controls:  The General Manager and Business Manager shall establish and maintain a 
system of internal controls that provides an audit trail for all purchases and provides transparency 
in the procurement process including the following controls: 

A. more than one person must be involved in each transaction, end-to-end;  
B. utilize purchase orders to obtain prior approval of purchases to the greatest extent 

feasible;   
C. certification of receipt of procured materials;  
D.  reconciliation of any purchase order with the invoice and final payment   

Procurement from Other Than Lowest Cost Vendor: While it is the desire of the Board of 
Directors to purchase supplies and services at the least cost to the District, there may be instances 
when the award of a purchase to other than the lowest cost vendor produces the greatest value 
and is in the best interest of the District.  District Staff should strive to: 

A. maximize the value received  
B. use sources which will be responsive to the needs and timelines of District 
C. seek commonality in major equipment to minimize inventory and training costs 

Procurement through Negotiation: While competitive solicitation is the preferred procedure to 
be used to purchase supplies and services, negotiation by the General Manager or their designee 
with a single vendor may be beneficial in some instances.  Negotiated procurement may be 
utilized in situations where competition does not exist (i.e. only one vendor is interested in 
providing the product or service) or where special economies may exist outside the competitive 
process (i.e. as when a contractor is already mobilized for another purpose). 

Encouragement of Local Procurement: In meeting the criteria outlined above, staff is 
encouraged to use local vendors in meeting the District's needs for supplies and services. 

Internet Procurements: The above not withstanding, the General Manager may authorize staff 
to make procurements through internet commerce in instances when such procurement results in 
minimizing the cost to the District and/or ensuring responsiveness to the needs and timelines of 
the District. 

Petty Cash:  A Petty Cash Fund is not utilized by the District.  

Section 3-D 
Page 7 of 8



 

DRAFT Reso 2271 - Updated Procurement Policy 1-17-24 redline Page 6 of 6 

Code of Ethics:  In exercising procurement authority, it is essential that each individual maintain 
an unimpeachable standard of integrity and foster the highest possible standard of professional 
competence.  Complying with both the letter and the spirit of the principles of ethical behavior is 
essential.  In doing so, each individual must declare any personal interest that may impinge, or 
might reasonably be deemed by others to impinge, upon a person’s impartiality in any 
procurement decision.   

Counsel Review:  Where practicable, all contracts for procurements are to be reviewed by 
District Counsel prior to their execution.  Such review may include, but does not require, a 
statement of opinion by District Counsel that the contract or instrument, as closely as possible, 
embodies the agreement made between the parties concerning the subject of the contract.  

 

Section 3-D 
Page 8 of 8



MONTECITO WATER DISTRICT 
MEMORANDUM 

SECTION: 3-E

DATE: JANUARY 17, 2024 

TO: OPERATIONS AND CUSTOMER RELATIONS COMMITTEE 

FROM: GENERAL MANAGER 

SUBJECT: ADOPTION OF RESOLUTION NO. 2272 UPDATING THE POLICY 
REGARDING THE AUTHORITY OF OFFICERS TO EXECUTE 
CONTRACTS AND INSTRUMENTS  

RECOMMENDATION:  

That the Operations and Customer Relations Committee recommend the Board of Directors adopt 
Resolution No. 2272, an updated policy regarding the authority of officers to execute contracts 
and instruments.  

DISCUSSION:  

The Water Code defines signature authority and states: 

Water Code §30578. The President shall: 

(a) Sign all contracts on behalf of the District.
(b) Perform other duties imposed by the Board.

Water Code §30579. The Secretary shall: 

a) Countersign all contracts on behalf of the District.
b) Perform other duties imposed by the Board.

Water Code §30579.5. Notwithstanding the provisions of subdivision (a) of Section 30578 
and subdivision (a) of Section 30579, the board may alternatively authorize, subject to such 
limitations and conditions as it may determine, the execution of contracts on behalf of the 
District by another officer or officers of the District. 

While the Water Code calls for the President and Secretary to sign documents, it also permits the 
Board to authorize the execution of contracts by officers of the District other than the President 
(i.e. the General Manager or Business Manager). 

In 2017, the Board of Directors adopted Resolution No. 2144, a policy establishing the authority 
of officers to execute contracts and instruments on the District, also referred to as the Signatory 
Authority Policy.  

Section 3-E 
Page 1 of 8



 

Attached is draft Resolution No. 2272, an updated Signatory Authority Policy. Management is 
requesting the Board of Directors consider revisions to the existing Signatory Authority Policy. A 
summary of those revisions includes, but is not limited to: 

(a) Increasing the cost threshold in which the General Manager has contracting authority for 
contracts and instruments with and without prior Board approval.  

(b) Establishing authorities relating to the General Manager’s approval of contract 
amendments. 

Management is requesting input from the Operations and Customer Relations Committee on draft 
Resolution No. 2272. 

ATTACHMENTS:  

1. Draft Resolution No. 2272, an updated Signatory Authority Policy 

Section 3-E 
Page 2 of 8



 

DRAFT MWD Resolution No. 2272  Page 1 of 6  

RESOLUTION NO. 2272 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS  
OF THE MONTECITO WATER DISTRICT  

UPDATING ITS POLICY REGARDING THE AUTHORITY OF OFFICERS TO 
EXECUTE CONTRACTS AND INSTRUMENTS 

WHEREAS, Montecito Water District (District) is a County Water District 
organized and existing under and pursuant to the County Water District Law [Water Code 
§§30000 – 33901]; and  

WHEREAS, Water Code §30544 states that the Board may at any time prescribe the 
authorities and duties of officers and employees necessary or convenient for the business 
of the District; and  

WHEREAS, Water Code §30578 states that the President shall sign all contracts on 
behalf of the District and Water Code §30579 states that the Secretary shall countersign 
all contracts on behalf of the District; and 

WHEREAS, Water Code §30579.5 states, notwithstanding the requirements of 
§30578 and §30579, that the Board may alternatively authorize, subject to such limitations 
and conditions as it may determine, the execution of contracts on behalf of the District by 
another officer or officers of the District; and 

WHEREAS, it is necessary for the District to enter into contracts and instruments 
from time to time in order to carry out the business of the District; and 

WHEREAS, the Board of Directors has determined that it is appropriate to adopt a 
policy governing the authority of certain officers of the District to bind the District by 
contract or instrument; and  

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED THAT the Board of Directors of the 
Montecito Water District hereby adopts Resolution No. 2272 updating its policy regarding 
the authority of officers to execute contracts and instruments on behalf of the District as 
set forth herein, and Resolution No. 2144 is hereby rescinded in its entirety, and replaced 
with Resolution No. 2272. 

 
SECTION 1: Definitions 
A. "Board of Directors" shall refer to the Board of Directors of the Montecito Water 

District. 

B. "Contract" shall mean any written agreement to perform or not to perform a certain 
act, including, without limitation, a purchase or sale contract, lease, contract for 
services, purchase order, employment agreement, labor agreement and any 
addendum, amendment, extension, modification and/or revision  to any contract.  
"Contract" and "agreement" are synonymous as used herein. 

Section 3-E 
Page 3 of 8



DRAFT MWD Resolution No. 2272 Page 2 of 6  

C. "District" shall mean the Montecito Water District, duly organized under and by
virtue of the County Water District Law.

D. “Business Manager” shall refer to the person appointed pursuant to Water Code
§30544 to manage the financial affairs of the District.

E. “General Manager" shall refer to the person appointed pursuant to Water Code
§30540 and exercising the authority granted under Water Code §30580 and §30581
and any designee delegated that authority by the General Manager in the discretion
of the General Manager as authorized by Water Code §30580.

F. "Instrument" shall mean any document that states some contractual relationship or
grants some right, including without limitation deeds, promissory notes, powers of
attorney, and negotiable instruments.

G. “President” shall refer to the person designated as the President of the Board under
Water Code §30016 and exercising the authority granted under Water Code §30578.

H. “Secretary” shall refer to the person designated as the Secretary of the Board under
Water Code §30017 and exercising the authority granted under Water Code §30579.

I. “Vice President” shall refer to the person designated as the Vice President of the
Board under Water Code §30544.

SECTION 2: Contracting Authority 

The authority to enter into and sign contracts and instruments for, and on behalf of, the 
District is hereby delegated as follows: 

A. President or Vice President and Secretary. The following contracts and
instruments will require two signatures including the signature of either the
President or Vice-President of the District and the signature of the Secretary of
the District:

1. All general construction and materials procurement contracts in excess
of $200,000 for budgeted contracts and in excess of $50,000 for non-
budgeted contracts.

2. All settlement agreements, consent decrees and all other contracts and
instruments relating to instituted litigation.

3. All contracts and instruments providing for the purchase, sale, exchange
and/or other conveyance of real estate, or any interest therein, including,
without limitation, all purchase and sale agreements, deeds, leases, right-
of-way agreements, licenses, and easements, except for temporary
construction easements as described in Subsection (C)(5) of this Section
2.

4. All contracts and instruments providing for the purchase of water,

Section 3-E 
Page 4 of 8



DRAFT MWD Resolution No. 2272 Page 3 of 6  

including but not limited to notices of intent to purchase, participation 
agreements, and/or binding agreements to purchase. 

B. President or Vice President and General Manager or Business Manager. The
following contracts and instruments will require the signature of either the
President or the Vice President of the District and the signature of the General
Manager or Business Manager:

1. All contracts for the retention of accounting, auditing and legal services.

2. All contracts and instruments relating to the issuance or acquisition of
bonds or other financing; and

3. All contracts and instruments relating to the investment of District funds
unless specifically delegated by the Board to the General Manager or
Business Manager for signature at the time of approval of any contract
or instrument related to bonds or other financing.

C. General Manager. The General Manager is authorized to enter into and sign for
and on behalf of the District the following contracts and instruments, and may
do so without the prior approval of the Board of Directors, or any other person,
except as expressly required hereunder:

1. Contracts for the retention of professional services as follows:

Engineering services, 
engineering studies, 
land surveying, 
project permitting, 
environmental 
compliance, 
construction related 

i

All other services not 
covered under Sections 2, 
Subsections (A) & (B) 

Budgeted Contracts ≤$200,000 ≤200,000 

Non-Budgeted Contracts ≤50,000 <25,000≤50,000 

2. Contracts relating to employment and termination of employment as
follows:

a. The General Manager has the power and authority to employ and
discharge employees pursuant to Water Code §30580. In accordance
therewith, the General Manager is authorized to prescribe duties, fix

Section 3-E 
Page 5 of 8



DRAFT MWD Resolution No. 2272 Page 4 of 6  

compensation, and enter into and sign on behalf of the District all 
employment contracts, letters offering employment, and all termination 
or separation agreements, subject, however, to all of the following: 

i. The General Manager shall comply with all applicable
requirements of the Employee Handbook, Memorandum of
Understanding with labor unions, and other applicable District
authority and policies when signing documents or instruments
that impact the employment and/or compensation status of
District employees.

ii. All employment contracts and letters offering employment with
respect to a newly created employment position, not previously
authorized by the Board of Directors, shall require the advance
approval of the Board of Directors.

iii. All contracts or agreements relating to the termination or
separation of an employee from employment with the District
that provide for payment or payments to the employee totaling
more than two (2) months' salary and benefits shall require the
advance approval of the Board of Directors.

3. All contracts with public agencies, utilities, railroads, and private
property owners, that relate to the construction, protection, or relocation
of the District's facilities within rights-of-way owned or controlled by
such entities, except for those construction contracts referenced in
Subsection 2(A)(1) of this Section 2.

4. All performance bonds and payment bonds associated with those
construction contracts are referenced in Section 2, Subsection (A)(1).

5. All temporary construction easements or "right of entry" agreements
with property owners, for a duration of less than one year, entered into
in connection with construction projects or operations and maintenance
activities.

6. All contracts and purchase orders for construction services, and the lease
or purchase of materials, supplies and equipment, except for those
contracts described in Section 2, Subsection (A)(1).

7. All amendments to contracts for professional services and construction
services provided that any single amendment for a given contract and/or
the aggregate of all amendments shall not exceed $100,000 or 10% of
the original contract amount, whichever is less. Any amendment in
excess of these amounts shall be approved by the Board of Directors
prior to the delivery of the goods or services and executed in accordance
with Section 2, Subsection (A)(1). All amendments approved by the

Section 3-E 
Page 6 of 8



DRAFT MWD Resolution No. 2272 Page 5 of 6  

General Manager pursuant to this provision shall be reported to the 
Board at its next regularly scheduled meeting. 

8. All contracts and/or instruments required to effectuate the District’s
participation in any entity to which it is a member including, but not
limited, to the following:

i. Cachuma Operations and Maintenance Board (COMB)

ii. Cachuma Conservation Release Board (CCRB)

iii. Central Coast Water Authority (CCWA)

9. Any Memorandum of Liability Coverage or contract of insurance
including, without limitation, insurance policies and endorsements for
general liability, workers' compensation, automobile, and health benefits
for employees of the District.

10. Any contract or instrument, that has been approved in advance by the
Board of Directors and the authority to sign the contract or instrument
was specifically delegated to the General Manager pursuant to that
approval.

SECTION 3: General Terms and Conditions 
A. Authority of the Board of Directors. The express authority delegated hereunder

shall not restrict or otherwise limit the general authority of the Board of Directors
to bind the District by contract or instrument as provided under applicable law
including, without limitation, Water Code §30575, §30576 and §31004.

B. Delegation to Positions. The delegation of authority hereunder is to positions,
not to individuals. As of the effective date of this Resolution, any outstanding
delegation of signature authority to individuals which is inconsistent with this
Resolution is hereby void.

C. Further Delegation. Except as provided herein, no agent, employee or officer
given authority to bind the District hereunder shall have the right or power to
delegate that authority without the express written consent of the Board of
Directors.

D. Legal Challenges. If any section, subsection, sentence, clause or phrase of this
Resolution is for any reason held to be invalid or unconstitutional, such decision
shall not affect the validity of the remaining portions of this Resolution. The Board
of Directors hereby declares that it would have passed this Resolution by section,
subsection, sentence, clause, or phrase thereof, irrespective of the fact that any one
or more other sections, subsections, sentences, clauses, or phrases be declared invalid
or unconstitutional.

Section 3-E 
Page 7 of 8

cperry
Sticky Note
Accepted set by cperry

cperry
Sticky Note
None set by cperry

cperry
Sticky Note
Completed set by cperry

cperry
Sticky Note
None set by cperry



DRAFT MWD Resolution No. 2272 Page 6 of 6  

E. Administration. All contracts and instruments entered into by or on behalf of the
District shall be in accordance with the authority delegated under this
Resolution, unless amended, modified, changed or repealed by the Board of
Directors by resolution or ordinance.

F. Conflicts. To the extent that this Resolution conflicts with any resolution or
ordinance previously adopted by the Board of Directors with respect to the
delegation of authority to bind the District by contract or instrument, this
Resolution shall govern.

G. Counsel Review. Where practicable, all contracts and instruments are to be reviewed
by District Counsel  prior to their execution. Such review may include, but does not
require, a statement of opinion by District Counsel that the contract or instrument,
as closely as possible, embodies the agreement made between the parties concerning
the subject of the contract.

H. Emergency. Prior to execution of any contract or instrument for construction
services, or the lease or purchase of materials, supplies and equipment, in excess
of $25,000 due to an emergency, the General Manager or their designee executing
the contract or instrument must contact the District President, or Vice President, and
obtain their assent prior to executing the instrument.  In the event that the President
or Vice President is unavailable, the General Manager or their designee must contact
two other Board members and obtain their unanimous assent.  Subsequent to
executing any contract or instrument for construction services, or the lease or
purchase of materials, supplies and equipment due to an emergency, the Board must
be notified as soon as possible of any emergency contract or instrument and must
ratify the contract or instrument at the next regular Board meeting.

PASSED AND ADOPTED by the Board of Directors of the Montecito Water
District this _____ day of January 2024 by the following roll call vote: 

AYES:  
NOES:  
ABSENT: 
ABSTAIN: 

APPROVED: ATTEST 

__________________________ _________________________ 
Kenneth Coates, Board President Nick Turner, Secretary 

Section 3-E 
Page 8 of 8



MONTECITO WATER DISTRICT 
MEMORANDUM 

SECTION: 3-F

DATE: JANUARY 17, 2024 

TO: OPERATIONS AND CUSTOMER RELATIONS COMMITTEE  

FROM: ASSISTANT GENERAL MANAGER / ENGINEERING MANAGER 

SUBJECT: PROPOSED MODIFICATIONS TO THE IMPLEMENTATION OF THE 
DISTRICT WATER USE EFFICIENCY PLAN 

RECOMMENDATION: 

That the Board of Directors modify the District Conservation Program rebates and additional water 
efficiency measures as described herein.  

DISCUSSION: 

In 2021, the Board of Directors approved the use of $200,000 in surplus revenue to develop and 
implement a water conservation plan, alternatively referred to as a Water Use Efficiency Plan 
(WUEP). Maddaus Water Management Inc. (Maddaus) was awarded a contract for the 
development of the WUEP.  In December 2022, the Board of Directors reviewed the final WUEP 
and initiated a Pilot Rebate Program (Pilot Program) consisting of ten out of the 20 conservation 
measures recommended in the WUEP.  The remaining $100,000 of appropriated funds was then 
used to fund the Pilot Program with a goal of encouraging water conservation or efficient water on 
customer properties.   

The Pilot Program has been repeatedly and consistently advertised in the District enews, on the 
District website, and in customer bill inserts each month since December 2022.  The Pilot Program 
was intended to be a short-term program that could be quickly introduced to customers.  District 
staff oversee the Pilot Program and perform site inspections when necessary.  The administration 
of the Pilot Program has been successfully managed by the California Water Efficiency Partnership 
(CalWEP).  Since December 2022, the Pilot Program awarded $30,696 through 49 water efficiency 
rebates (see table below).  The most utilized rebates to date have been for mulch and residential 
landscape conversions.  The vast majority of the rebates awarded to date have been to residential 
customers.  

Section 3-F 
Page 1 of 7



Table 1 – Summary of Rebates awarded since December 2022 

Rebate Type Rebates Awarded Rebate Amount 
Mulch Program 17  $           1,529 
Indoor Appliances Rebate 6  $           1,200 
High Efficiency Toilet (HET) and Urinal Rebates 5  $             600 
Drip Irrigation Rebate 5  $           1,271 
Smart Irrigation Controller Rebates 6  $           1,023 
Landscape Conversions 10  $         25,072 

TOTAL 49  $       30,696 

The Fiscal Year 2024 (FY 2024) Board approved budget includes $100,000 for the implementation 
of the Conservation Program.  The intent of the budget was to spend $100,000 on rebates and 
administration of the rebate program.  To date during FY2024, only $2,376 has been awarded in 
customer rebates.  Approximately $12,000 in rebates is pending completion of several residential 
landscape conversion projects.  At the current pace, the current rebates would not spend all funds 
budgeted in FY2024.  

The WUEP developed a strategic conservation program specific to the District and its customer 
base that included 20 conservation measures. Ten of these measures have already been 
implemented in the Pilot Program and staff recommend that these rebates remain or be expanded.  
The remaining ten conservation measures are shown in the table below, along with a 
recommendation for each measure including whether to not change, expand, add, or place a 
measure on hold.  One additional column notes that several measures have already been 
implemented and budgeted as part of other ongoing District initiatives.  

Section 3-F 
Page 2 of 7



 

Table 2 – Conservation Measures Recommended by the Water Use Efficiency Plan 

    Recommendation 

  
Measure Expand No 

Change Add Already  
Budgeted 

1 Smart Irrig. Controller Rebates - SFR         
2 Smart Irrig. Controller Rebates - MFR/COM/INST         
3 High Eff. Toilet Rebates - SFR         
4 High Eff. Toilet Rebates - MFR/COM/INST         
5 Landscape Conversions - SFR         
6 Landscape Conversions - MFR/Comm/Inst.         
7 Indoor Appliance Rebate - SFR         
8 Mulch Program         
9 Indoor Appliance Rebate - Comm/Inst         

10 Drip Irrigation Rebate         
11 Parcel Budget Based Rates   **     
12 School Building Retrofit Rebate         
13 Commercial/Institutional Audit Program         
14 MWD System Leak Detection         
15 Grey Water System Rebates         
16 AMI Customer Portal and Outreach         
17 Outdoor Water Audit          
18 Water Budgeting at Parcel Level         
19 Demonstration Garden         
20 Community Outreach and Education         

  MFR = Multi Family Residential             C-I = Commercial-Institutional      SFR = Single Family Residential 
** The use of parcel budget based rates is currently under review by the Operations and Customer Relations 
Committee  

 

Expand 

The following conservation measures were included in the Pilot Program and are recommended to 
be expanded in the near term.  

1. Smart Irrigation Controller Rebates – Single Family Residential.  The current rebate 
is $200 and only allows for the cost of the device itself.  Past applicants have spent an 
average of about $500 on the controller itself and its installation. Staff recommend 
increasing this rebate to $400 per household and allowing the cost of installation to be 
included in the rebate.  The limit of one per property would remain in effect.  

2. Smart Irrigation Controller Rebates – Multi-Family, Commercial and Institutional 
Customers.  No customers have applied for this rebate which offers $500 per customer for 
the cost of the device.  Irrigation controllers for these properties are more complex than 

Section 3-F 
Page 3 of 7



single family and typically cost more than $800 for the device alone. Staff recommend 
increasing this rebate to $600 per customer and allowing the cost of installation to be 
included in the rebate.  The limit of one per property would remain in effect. 

3. High Efficiency Toilet Rebates – Single Family Residential.  This rebate provides up to 
$100 per toilet with a limit of two toilets per customer.  Five of these rebates were awarded 
and applicants’ actual costs were $500 on average including installation. Staff recommend 
increasing this rebate to $200 per toilet and allowing the cost of installation to be included 
in the rebate.  The limit of two per property would remain in effect. 

4. High Efficiency Toilet Rebates – Commercial and Institutional.  No customers have 
applied for this rebate which offers $300 per toilet for the cost of up to two high efficiency 
toilets. This limit of two toilets per property is likely not high enough to encourage these 
larger properties to participate. Staff recommend increasing the limit of toilets allowed to 
be included in the rebate for these properties to ten (10), resulting in a total maximum 
potential rebate of $3,000 for a single property.  

5. Landscape Conversions – Single Family Residential.  This rebate offers up to $3,000 
per property for replacing existing turf with low or no-water using landscapes such as 
native or drought tolerant plantings.  Ten customers have participated in this rebate to date.  
Actual total project costs for customers ranged from $5,000 on the low end to $32,000 on 
the high end, with an average of $15,000.  Given the documented benefit of these projects 
and rebates, and high cost of the projects for customers, staff recommend increasing this 
rebate to a maximum of $5,000 per property.  The limit of one per property would remain 
in effect.  Staff also recommend removing artificial turf as a covered expense under this 
rebate as discussed in the previous item.  

6. Landscape Conversions - Multi-Family, Commercial and Institutional.  One C-I 
customer has applied for this rebate which offers $6,000 per customer for the cost of 
converting landscape to low water using plants.  The one applicant’s total actual project 
cost was approximately $33,000.  To encourage more participation, staff recommend 
increasing the rebate amount to $10,000 per property.  The limit of one per property would 
remain in effect.  Staff also recommend removing artificial turf as a covered expense under 
this rebate given artificial turf has been shown to contain polyfluoroalkyl substances 
(PFAS) among many other concerns.  District consultants agree about the harmful effects 
of artificial turf and most water agencies in California explicitly prohibit artificial turf from 
their rebate programs.  

7. Indoor Appliance Rebate – Residential (SFR & MFR).  This rebate offers up to $200 
towards the cost of a high efficiency appliance, with a limit of one rebate per property.  Six 
properties have participated to date, with actual total project costs ranging from $800 to 
$1,750 and an average of $1,200. Staff recommend increasing this rebate to $500 per 
property per year, to encourage more participation.  

Section 3-F 
Page 4 of 7



8. Mulch Rebate – all customer classes.  This rebate offers up to $170 towards the cost of 
mulch or mulch delivery.  17 properties have participated in this rebate to date.  Applicants’ 
total costs ranged from $60 to $1,500 with an average of $300 for their mulch delivery and 
or mulch product.  Given significant participation in the program, the larger size of 
properties in the District, and positive benefits of mulch, staff recommend increasing this 
rebate to $500 per property per year.   

No Change 

9. Indoor Appliance Rebate – Commercial and Institutional Customers.  No customers 
have participated in this rebate to date.  The rebate amount is $2,000 per appliance and is 
sufficient for encouraging rebates in this category.  

10. Drip Irrigation Rebate – this rebate is $450 per property.  Five rebates have been awarded 
to date and the rebate has covered the majority of requested expenses which are generally 
only the drip irrigation materials.  The labor to install the drip irrigation materials is 
generally rebated to the customer using the landscape conversion rebate.  

11. The conservation measure Parcel Budget Based Rates was not included in the Pilot 
Program but is part of the strategic plan included in the WUEP.  However, this initiative is 
on hold pending the development of parcel water budgets by District staff and review by 
the Board of Directors.  

12. School Building Retrofit Rebate.  This measure would provide rebates to schools for 
indoor and outdoor water saving projects.  However, schools are already able to apply for 
numerous rebates that already cover expenses related to indoor and outdoor improvements. 
Staff do not recommend adding this program at this time.  

Add 

The following conservation measures were not included in the Pilot Program but are part of the 
strategic plan included in the WUEP.  Staff recommend these measures be added to the 
conservation program in the near term.  

13. Commercial/Institutional Indoor Audit Program.  This conservation measure includes 
District staff contacting C-I properties such as hotels and restaurants and performing an 
audit of interior water use.  Note: water audits for outdoor use are already offered and 
performed on C-I properties.  Each customer would be provided a brief report containing 
water saving recommendations specific to indoor uses at C-I properties such as large-scale 
washing machines, kitchens, dishwashers, etc.   

14. MWD System Leak Detection.  This measure includes performing system wide leak 
detection surveys to find and repair leaks on the distribution system, thereby reducing non-
revenue water. The cost of leak detection surveys varies depending on the method used and 
the amount of the system to be tested.  Staff recommend using $10,000 to $20,000 of the 
annual budget for WUEP implementation towards this work. Priority will be given to 

Section 3-F 
Page 5 of 7



rebate programs and if funds remain near the end of the fiscal year, they can be used for 
the leak detection work. 

15. Grey Water System Rebates.  This rebate would incentivize the installation of grey water 
systems on properties within the District.  Only one customer in the last year has shown 
interest in a grey water system rebate. Staff recommend grey water systems be incorporated 
into the landscape conversion rebate above. If a customer is installing a grey water system 
on their property, the rebate program would allow a rebate for up to $6,000 for the grey 
water system per the revised landscape conversion rebate rules. If a customer qualifies for 
a landscape conversion and grey water system rebate, the total rebate amount would still 
be capped at $6,000.  

Already Budgeted  

The following conservation measures were not included in the Pilot Program but are part of the 
strategic plan included in the WUEP. These items are ongoing or have been completed as part of 
other District initiatives.  These measures will continue to be implemented as part of the 
implementation of the WUEP.   

16. AMI Customer Portal and Outreach.  The District’s customer portal is live and 
approximately 20% of customers are signed up. Ongoing efforts include targeted 
messaging to customers identified as using water inefficiently and/or having leaks.  

17. Outdoor Water Audit.  Outdoor water audits are performed by the Water Conservation 
Specialist as requested by customers. 

18. Water Budgeting at Parcel Level.  The development of parcel water budgets is underway 
and the Board may choose to implement parcel water budgets as a tool to help manage 
water use and/or for water rate development in the future.  

19. Demonstration Garden.  The FY2024 budget includes $30,000 for the implementation of 
a demonstration garden at the front of the office property pending completion of the Office 
Property Master Plan 

20. Community Outreach and Education.  This measure is ongoing and will continue as part 
of the implementation of the WUEP.  Marketing for the expanded and added rebates above 
would be significant in spring 2024 to encourage customers to participate in outdoor water 
efficiency rebates as the weather warms. A “new customer” water use efficiency 
information packet is also in the process of being developed.  

SCHEDULE: 

If supported by the Board of Directors, staff would modify existing marketing materials to 
include the expanded conservation rebates discussed above and work with CalWEP to update 
their website with the latest rebate information.  The revised program could be introduced to 
customers by late February or early March 2024.   

Section 3-F 
Page 6 of 7



Staff would use the results of the proposed modified program to determine budget and level of 
effort for the conservation program in future fiscal years.  

 

FISCAL IMPACT: 

The FY2024 Board adopted budget includes $100,000 for the implementation of the WUEP.  
The addition and expansion of measures as described above is intended to optimize the use of 
available funds for these programs by encouraging customer participation and achieving long 
term water savings.  Staff recommend the proposed approach above of increasing rebate amounts 
offered to customers and adding several programs in accordance with the WUEP.  

ATTACHMENTS: 

None  

Section 3-F 
Page 7 of 7



Page left intentionally blank.



MONTECITO WATER DISTRICT 
MEMORANDUM 

SECTION: 3-G

DATE: JANUARY 17, 2024 

TO: OPERATIONS AND CUSTOMER RELATIONS COMMITTEE  

FROM: ASSISTANT GENERAL MANAGER & GENERAL MANAGER 

SUBJECT: OFFICE PROPERTY REPAVING OPPORTUNITY 

RECOMMENDATION:  

That the Committee recommend to the Board of Directors to authorize the General Manager to 
enter into a contract with GPM Industries for a not-to-exceed amount of $96,375 and to allocate 
funding for the project from District unassigned funds.  

DISCUSSION:  

The Operations and Customer Relations Committee reviewed this item in November 2023.  The 
Committee requested a review of the unassigned funds in January 2024 to assist in the decision 
whether to move forward with this project.  

The Montecito Fire Protection District (MFPD) notified the District in August 2023 of their 
planned project to repave their entry driveway and parking areas in front of the fire station located 
adjacent to the District office property. The area to be repaved by MFPD is contiguous with the 
District’s driveway and parking areas. The MFPD project presents a potential cost savings 
opportunity for the District, should it choose to extend the repaving to its driveways and parking 
areas. The District’s Fiscal Year 2024 budget does not include repaving at the District office 
property. A Request for Proposals from qualified contractors to perform repaving was issued by 
MFPD in early September and bids were received on October 16, 2023. The potential area of 
repaving on District property is shown in Figure 1 below. The areas located behind the District 
access gates is not included since this area may be reconfigured following completion of the Office 
Property Master Plan. As discussed during the October 30, 2023, workshop, the potential area to 
be repaved currently meets District needs and is unlikely to be reconfigured.  The condition of the 
asphalt surface along the District’s driveway and parking areas is in poor condition and contains 
significant cracking as shown in Figure 2. This type of cracking is commonly a result of failure of 
the subgrade and recompaction of the subgrade is required to help prevent it from reoccurring. 
Slurry seals and other types of surface treatments would not address the failure and would only 
provide a temporary improvement to the aesthetics of the pavement. This potential project would 
involve the removal and disposal of all existing asphalt material, compaction of the existing 
subgrade material, and the installation of 3 inches of new asphalt. If installed and maintained 

Section 3-G 
Page 1 of 12



 

properly, the newly paved driveways and parking areas can be expected to last between 20 and 30 
years.  

Figure 1.  Area of Proposed Office Property Paving 

 

Figure 2.  Pictures of existing pavement 

   

Section 3-G 
Page 2 of 12



 

FISCAL IMPACT: 

The bid results are shown in Table 1 below.  The low bidder was General Pavement Management, 
Inc. (GPM) with a bid of $96,375. There is a potential cost savings of $5,978 if the repaving work 
is done at the same time as MFPD.   

Table 1 – Office Property Repaving Bid Results 

Contractor Price if project done 
separate from MFD 

Price if project done at 
same time as MFD 

GPM $102,353 $96,375 

Toro Enterprises $169,680 $144,525 

The Fiscal Year 2024 adopted budget does not include any funding for this project. If pursued, the 
project would need to be funded by unassigned funds. At their November 6, 2023, meeting, the 
Operations and Customer Relations Committee requested staff review unassigned funds and 
present it to the Committee in January 2024. The projection of unassigned funds through June 30, 
2024, are shown in Table 2 below.  

Table 2 – Projection of Unassigned Funds through June 30, 2024 
  

Estimated 
unassigned cash at 
June 30, 2024 

 
Current Operating Cash 1/6/2024 

 

Operating Account                                    1,308,603.88  
 

Operating Money Market                                       315,539.55         1,624,143.43  
 

Cash Earned from operating activities 
 

Operating Revenue                                  11,055,916.83  
 

Operating Expenses                                   (9,590,372.51)        1,465,544.32  
 

Projected Cash from Operations      3,089,687.75  
 

Projected Non-operating activity 
 

Non-Operating Inflows                                       245,344.89  
 

Non-Operating Outflows                                      (577,743.72)        (332,398.83) 

Section 3-G 
Page 3 of 12



 

 
Bond Principal Payment      (1,260,000.00) 

 
Projected Construction In-Process & 

Related Items 

 

FEMA/Reimbursements                                    6,785,284.00  
 

Estimated Remaining CIP 
thru 6-30-24 

                                  (2,925,719.76)        3,859,564.24  

 
Estimated Cash FYE2024 Cash Impact      5,356,853.16  

 
Current Fixed Income Tbills 1/6/2024 

 

Laddered Treasury Bills                                  13,135,505.26        13,135,505.26  
 

Account for MWD Funding Restrict, 
Committed & Assigned through 06/30/24 

 

     WSA Debt Service 
Coverage Deposit 

                                     (280,924.00) 
 

     WSA Debt Service Reserve 
Deposit 

                                     (172,872.00) 
 

     Thomas Fire/Debris Flow 
CalOES/FEMA Reserve 

                                  (1,514,874.33) 
 

**SWP Prefunding Reserve                                   (2,176,236.00)      (4,144,906.33) 
   
 

Estimated Cash Impact before Committed 
& Assigned Funds 

   14,347,452.09  

 
Account for Committed & Assigned Funds 

 

     Reserve for Operations                                   (2,800,000.00) 
 

     Reserve for Emergencies                                      (500,000.00) 
 

     Reserve for 
Unanticipated/Unplanned 

Capital Repair & Repl 

                                     (500,000.00) 
 

     WSA Paygo Capital 
Reserve 

                                     (425,311.00) 
 

Section 3-G 
Page 4 of 12



 

     WSA (Desal) Prefunding 
Reserve 

                                  (1,910,809.00) 
 

**SWP Prefunding Reserve                                   (2,176,236.00)      (8,312,356.00) 
   
 

Estimated FYE2024 Unassigned Funds      6,035,096.09  

ATTACHMENTS:  

1. Bid from General Pavement Management, Inc. for Office Property Repaving 

Section 3-G 
Page 5 of 12



Page left intentionally blank.

Section 3-G 
Page 6 of 12



Section 3-G 
Page 7 of 12



Section 3-G 
Page 8 of 12



Section 3-G 
Page 9 of 12



Section 3-G 
Page 10 of 12



Section 3-G 
Page 11 of 12



Section 3-G 
Page 12 of 12



MONTECITO WATER DISTRICT 
MEMORANDUM  

SECTION: 3-H

DATE: JANUARY 17, 2024 

TO: OPERATIONS AND CUSTOMER RELATIONS COMMITTEE  

FROM: ASSISTANT GENERAL MANAGER & GENERAL MANAGER 

SUBJECT: REVIEW OF ALTERNATIVES FOR CROSSING CONFLICT AT COAST 
VILLAGE ROAD AS PART OF STATE OF CALIFORNIA HIGHWAY 101 
WIDENING PROJECT SEGMENT 4E 

RECOMMENDATION: 

• That the Operations and Customer Relations Committee consider the alternatives evaluated
for the crossing conflict at Coast Village Road as part of the State of California Highway
101 widening project Segment 4E and provide guidance to District staff regarding the
preferred approach.

• That the Operations and Customer Relations Committee consider supporting the Staff
recommendation to pursue the alternative involving an intertie with the City of Santa
Barbara and recommend the Board of Directors authorize the General Manager to enter
into a contract with Tierra Contracting for the extension of a watermain for a future intertie
with the City of Santa Barbara for a not to exceed amount of $78,180 and to allocate District
unassigned funds to cover the project costs.

DISCUSSION: 

The Santa Barbara County Association of Governments (SBCAG) and Caltrans have undertaken 
the widening of 16 miles of Highway 101, known as the Highway 101: Santa Barbara to Mussel 
Shoals project, to add carpool lanes and address a narrow portion of Highway 101 with two lanes 
in each direction. According to the SBCAG website, Phases 1 and 2 are complete, Phase 3 is 
nearing completion, and Phase 4 began in April 2020.  

Phase 4 includes 10.7 miles of roadway widening, the addition of High Occupancy Vehicle (HOV) 
lanes, a new interchange at Cabrillo Boulevard, a new interchange at Sheffield Drive, new sound 
walls, new creek bridges at Romero Creek, San Ysidro Creek, and Oak Creek, and rehabilitation 
of the existing roadway lanes. The current total project cost estimate for Phase 4 is $700 million 
to be completed by 2027.  

Section 3-H 
Page 1 of 26



Phase 4 is divided into 5 segments.  Attachment 1 shows a map of existing District crossings and 
conflicts within the District service area. Segments 4A and 4B do not impact the District as they 
are outside the District’s service area.  In Segment 4C, which generally spans from Padaro Lane 
west to Sheffield Drive, the District has one pipeline crossing conflict near Fernald Point Lane.   
Authorized by the Board on April 28, 2020, this crossing is being reinstated via jack and bore in 
March 2024.  In Segment 4D, which generally spans from Sheffield Drive to Olive Mill Road, the 
District has two pipeline crossing conflicts where Utility Agreements are in place following Board 
approval on February 22, 2022 (Danielson Crossing) and February 28, 2023 (Miramar Crossing).  
Both crossings will be abandoned and be reinstated via open cut by Granite Construction within 
approximately the next 2 years.  This open cut approach helped to reduce construction costs 
significantly. Finally, in Segment 4E, which generally spans from Olive Mill Road to Milpas 
Street, the District has one pipeline crossing conflict in which resolution has yet to be determined.  
Segment 4E is shown in Figure 1 and is scheduled to begin in 2025.  This pipeline crossing in 
conflict is a 1955, 6-inch diameter steel watermain within a 12-inch diameter steel casing.  Caltrans 
is requiring this crossing be abandoned in mid-2025 (exact date TBD).  Table 1 provides a 
summary of District’s crossing conflicts resulting from the US101 Highway widening project.  

Table 1 – Summary of Highway Widening Watermain Crossing Conflicts 

Conflict # 101 Crossing Location Proposed Solution Cost** Schedule 

1 Fernald Point Lane Jack and Bore 
$500,000 SBCAG 
$400,000 MWD Construct in March 2024 

2 Danielson Road Open Cut $400,000 (est.) Construct in 2025-2026 
3 South of Miramar Open Cut $400,000 (est.) Construct in 2025-2026 
4 Coast Village Road TDB TBD Construct in 2025-2026 

  Note:  Crossings at Butterfly Lane, Olive Mill Road, San Ysidro Road and La Vuelta are not in conflict 
  **Costs are “all in” costs including abandonments, casings, new watermains, and tie ins.  

Crossing Conflict at Coast Village Road 

Over the last several months, Wood Rodgers has developed an Alternatives Analysis to assist with 
determining a solution for the watermain crossing conflict spanning Coast Village Road to Channel 
Drive (near Vons Grocery Store and Montecito Sanitary District).  This pipeline crossing is a 
critical connection beneath the US101 which provides distribution system redundancy.  The 
Alternatives Analysis, included as Attachment 2, outlines the alternatives evaluated for reinstating 
this highway crossing.   

Section 3-H 
Page 2 of 26



Figure 1 – Segment 4E Map  

 

As discussed in the Alternatives Analysis in Attachment 2, the preferred alternative is an intertie 
with the City of Santa Barbara at Channel Drive.  The analysis indicates this alternative provides 
optimal system hydraulics, a low construction risk using open cut trenching instead of jack and 
bore technology and has the lowest estimated construction cost.  The other alternatives are more 
complex given the use of jack and bore technologies, present increased challenges for long term 
maintenance and repairs, and are projected to have a higher capital cost.  For the reasons stated in 
the alternative analysis, Staff recommends pursuing an intertie with the City for this crossing 
conflict. Staff have had a preliminary discussion with City staff who have expressed interest in the 
project. An intertie with the City would be mutually beneficial to both the City and District. 

Cost Saving Opportunity 

In January 2024, the City of Santa Barbara is expected to begin construction on a roundabout 
located at the intersection at Cabrillo Boulevard and Channel Drive, which is the same location of 
the proposed intertie.  As part of the roundabout project, the City is making modifications to its 
watermains through and in the vicinity of the intersection, a result of the Hwy 101 widening 
project. The City’s work on its watermains is expected to begin in March 2024. 

Section 3-H 
Page 3 of 26



The City roundabout project presents a cost savings opportunity for the District.  If the District 
determines the proposed intertie with the City is the preferred solution to its pipeline crossing 
conflict at Coast Village Road, proceeding with an initial phase of that intertie project, concurrent 
with the City’s roundabout project will avoid some expected future costs for the District.  The 
initial phase of the intertie project could be completed as part of the City’s roundabout project, 
which would avoid pavement replacement. The City has a four-year moratorium on any 
excavations following new paving projects.  Any excavation work occurring within 4 years of the 
roundabout project would have to perform a full lane grind and overlay in any areas disturbed by 
the intertie project.  If the intertie project is pursued after completion of the City’s roundabout 
project, the District would be responsible for pavement replacement and any other associated costs 
such as traffic control. 

The proposed initial phase of work for the intertie project involves the installation of a tee, isolation 
valving and approximately 250 feet of pipe to extend the watermain outside the limits of the City’s 
roundabout project.  Staff obtained a quote for this work from Tierra Contracting (Tierra), the same 
contractor performing the City’s watermain work.  Tierra’s proposed cost for this work is $78,180.  
The cost per linear foot of pipe for this work is approximately $315, which is about 30% lower 
than current unit cost paid on other District watermain projects. This is attributable to not having 
to provide traffic control, since the roadway will already be closed, and not having to perform 
paving, which would be completed by Granite as part of the City’s roundabout project.  As 
discussed below in the Fiscal Impact section, there is a cost savings to the District to install this 
portion of the intertie in March 2024 as part of the watermain work for the City’s roundabout 
project.  

Preliminary design plans for the proposed intertie are shown in Attachment 3.  These plans were 
necessary to obtain the bid provided by Tierra.  

SCHEDULE:  

The preliminary schedule for watermain work as part of the City’s roundabout project is March 
2024.  If the intertie project is pursued by the District, Tierra and Granite have agreed to allow this 
work to occur as part of the roundabout project schedule.  

The District’s existing crossing at Coast Village Road may remain in place and utilized through 
mid-2025.  Between now and mid-2025, the District could work with the City to finalize an 
interconnection agreement, design, and construct the watermain and appurtenances for the intertie.  

FISCAL IMPACT:  

The Alternatives Analysis includes rough order of magnitude costs for each alternative evaluated.  
The City Intertie is identified as the preferred and is the lowest cost option at approximately $700k.  
While Intertie Project is not currently a planned future capital improvement project, a jack and 
bore project at the Coast Village crossing location is a planned project and is estimated to cost 
approximately $1.3-$2M depending on the impacts to adjacent utilities, depth of the casing, and 

Section 3-H 
Page 4 of 26



need for dewatering of the jacking pit.  If the intertie project is pursued, it would replace the need 
for the jack and bore project and reduce the planned cost to address the Coast Village crossing 
conflict to between $600k-$1.3M.  The timing of project expenditures would involve $78,180 in 
March/April 2024 (FY2024) and the remaining $630,000 in FY2026 prior to the US101 crossing 
being abandoned.  

The cost of the work at the roundabout is $78,180 which is approximately $315 per linear foot.  If 
the District chooses to postpone this work and install the watermain extension for an intertie after 
the roundabout project is complete, this unit cost would likely rise to approximately $450 per linear 
foot or $112,500 or more depending on inflation and additional asphalt repair requirements from 
the City.  A cost savings of to approximately $34,320 would be realized if the City watermain is 
extended now for the intertie project.  

Prior Right 

In order to determine if the State is partially responsible for re-establishment of the US101 crossing 
at Coast Village Road, the State utilizes approved regulations and guidelines contained in the 
Caltrans Right of Way Manual.  To establish a prior right, the District would need to prove its 
watermain existed prior to the state’s acquisition of the land for US101 highway in 1916.   

District staff have reviewed documentation related to the conflict at Coast Village Road.  The 
crossing was installed in 1955. Therefore, preliminary investigations by staff and legal counsel 
indicate the District does not have a prior right at this location. 

ATTACHMENTS: 

1. US101 Crossing Conflict Overall Map 

2. Coast Village Road Crossing Alternatives Analysis by Wood Rodgers 

3. Preliminary design plans for a potential City of Santa Barbara Intertie  

Section 3-H 
Page 5 of 26



Page left intentionally blank.

Section 3-H 
Page 6 of 26



Key to Features

DISCLAIMER: This map is for reference only. Although every effort 

has been made to ensure the accuracy of information, errors and 

conditions originating from physical sources used to develop the 

database may be reflected on this map. No level of accuracy is 

clamied for the boundary lines shown hereon and lines should not 

be used to obtain coordinate values, bearings or distances.

482

Feet

Montecito Water District

Compiled on ##-##-##

0

964.8

Provided by zworldgis.com

State Plane California Zone V NAD 83

Santa Barbara County, California

MWD Boundary

Water Mains

Service Laterals

Fire Hydrant Laterals

Appurtenance Pipes

Private Firelines

Private Pipes

City Laterals

Abandoned Pipes

South Coast Conduit

Freeway

Streets

Highway

Tax Parcels

Section 3-H 
Page 7 of 26

akanold
Call Out
COAST VILLAGE ROADTBD

akanold
Call Out
DANIELSON GRANITE CASING $400,0002024

akanold
Call Out
SOUTH OF MIRAMARGRANITE CASING $400,0002024

akanold
Call Out
FERNALD POINT LANE $900,000SUMMER 2023

akanold
Call Out
BUTTERFLY NO CONFLICT

akanold
Call Out
OLIVE MILL NO CONFLICT(ROUNDABOUT IMPROVEMENTS $20K)

akanold
Call Out
SAN YSIDRONO CONFLICT(ROUNDABOUT IMPROVEMENTS $150K)

akanold
Call Out
LA VEREDA NO CONFLICT



Page left intentionally blank.

Section 3-H 
Page 8 of 26



1 of 11 

Technical Memorandum 

To: Adam Kanold P.E. 
Assistant General Manager/Engineering Manager 
Montecito Water District 

From: Karl F. Meier, P.E. 
Daniel Valencia, PE. 

Date: January 10, 2024 

Subject: Coast Village Road Crossing Alternatives Analysis 

Introduction 

Due to a conflict with planned Caltrans upgrades to the US 101, the Montecito Water District (District) must 

relocate or modify the existing Coast Village Road pipeline crossing.  The District has requested that Wood 

Rodgers Inc. (Wood Rodgers) analyze several alternative crossings to determine the best solution for 

reinstating the water main crossing.  It should be noted that the crossing at Coast Village Road is not needed 

to meet the fire flow demand requirements of the Montecito Fire District of 750 gallons per minutes (gpm) 

at commercial properties such as the cemetery and Montecito Sanitary District.  However, without the US 

101 crossing, the piping network on the south side of the US 101 lacks redundancy, with the only feed coming 

from Butterfly Lane.  If the feed from Butterfly Lane were to break or require repair, approximately 36 

residential and 3 large commercial properties would be out of water service until the repairs were made.   

This memo assumes the crossing must be reinstated for the purposes of redundancy, and to improve fire 

flow conditions to a level beyond 750 gpm which are required by the Insurance Services Office (ISO) for 

insurance ratings.  ISO requires 3,500 gpm for commercial areas and 1,500 gpm for residential areas.  

Hydraulic Modeling 

The District’s InfoWater hydraulic model was used to evaluate the hydraulic performance of the District’s 

potable water system under several alternatives when specific pipes were taken out of service.  There are 

several existing District pipelines that cross the US 101 and the following settings were used within the 

District’s hydraulic model for each pipeline crossing: 

• Coast Village Road Crossing: Closed in all Alternatives

• Butterfly Lane Crossing: Open/Active (Size is Alternative Dependent)

• Olive Mill Crossing: Open and As-Is in all Alternatives

• Danielson Crossing: Closed in all Alternatives

• San Ysidro Crossing: Open and As-Is in all Alternatives

• South of Miramar Crossing: Closed in all Alternatives

• La Vuelta Crossing: Open and As-Is in all Alternatives

• Fernald Point Crossing: Open and Upgraded to 8-inch in all Alternatives

Section 3-H 
Page 9 of 26



Coast Village Road Crossing Alternatives Analysis 
January 10, 2024 

 

J:\_ADMINISTRATION\AGENDAS\Committee Meetings\Operations Committee\2024\January 17, 2024\3-H US101 Conflict at Coast Village 

Road\Crossing Analysis_v5.docx 2 of 11 

The status of the pipeline crossings noted above stayed constant for each alternative with the exception of 

the Butterfly Lane pipeline crossing. It should also be noted that the proposed 8-inch Monte Cristo Water 

Main improvement project, which runs from the intersection of Channel Drive the Montecito Sanitary District 

driveway entrance, down Monte Cristo Lane and connects on the east end of the Music Academy of the West 

is included in the model and these analyses.  All alternatives were evaluated using the District’s InfoWater 

model using a maximum day demand scenario at the peak hour.   

Alternatives Analysis 

The following summarizes the results for each alternative while also providing further evaluation of the 

proposed alignments.  An evaluation matrix was developed to compare and rank the alternatives.  The 

alternatives considered by this analysis include the following, which are conceptually shown in Exhibit 1 

attached: 

• Alternative 1 – No action.  Do not reinstate the US 101 crossing once abandoned.  

• Alternative 2 – New Jack and Bore at Butterfly Lane  

• Alternative 3 – New Water Main at Cabrillo Road Underpass  

• Alternative 4 – New Jack and Bore from Music Academy Property  

• Alternative 5 – New Jack and Bore from Montecito Sanitary District Property 

• Alternative 6 – Channel Drive Intertie with the City of Santa Barbara  

Alternative 1 

Alternative 1 represents baseline conditions with the status of the pipeline crossings noted above and no 

upgrades to the Butterfly Lane crossing. Under this alternative the lowest observed available fire flow on the 

western side of the study area was 772 gallons per minute (gpm) at the end of the watermain in Fairway 

Road, and approximately 1,367 gpm near the Montecito Sanitary District. This alternative achieves the 

minimum required fire flow by the Montecito Fire District of 750 gpm and provides baseline results that will 

be used to compare to the alternatives presented herein. 

Alternative 2 

Alternative 2 considers a 12-inch diameter pipeline within a 36-inch steel casing which would be installed 

via jack and bore trenchless construction near Butterfly Lane.  Under Alternative 2, the Butterfly Lane 

crossing was evaluated with proposed upgrades consisting of a 12-inch pipeline.  This upgrade would allow 

for more flow to be conveyed by this crossing and would allow for the abandonment of the existing Butterfly 

Lane crossing. Modeling results indicate that a 12-inch pipeline conveys approximately 1,175 gpm with 

headloss through the pipe of approximately 3.5 ft/kft.   

Evaluation Criteria 

The following criteria were used to evaluate Alternative 2 consisting of an upgrade of the Butterfly Lane 

crossing to a new 12-inch diameter pipeline.  This new pipeline crossing would be constructed using 

trenchless construction (i.e. jack and bore, etc.). 

Temporary Community & Traffic Impacts 

Due to the location of this pipeline, there will be minor traffic impacts. The receiving shaft would be in Coast 

Village Drive which is a minor road and will only take up a few parking spots, but traffic could be redirected 

Section 3-H 
Page 10 of 26



Coast Village Road Crossing Alternatives Analysis 
January 10, 2024 

J:\_ADMINISTRATION\AGENDAS\Committee Meetings\Operations Committee\2024\January 17, 2024\3-H US101 Conflict at Coast Village 

Road\Crossing Analysis_v5.docx 3 of 11 

in order to reach the businesses on this minor road. The jacking shaft would be located at the end of Butterfly 

Lane and will impact the residents at the end of this street. 

Hydraulic Performance of System 

As noted above, this option would require a 12-inch diameter pipeline in order to meet the District’s design 

criteria and improves available fire flows but not to as much as other alternatives evaluated.  The available 

fire flow near the Montecito Sanitary District is approximately 1,429 gpm. 

Potential Need for New Easements 

The pipeline will be located within City of Santa Barbara and County of Santa Barbara right of way. The 

alignment will cross under Caltrans right of way and the Union Pacific Railroad (UPRR) right of way.  It is 

unlikely that this alignment will require an easement, but it will require a new lease agreement with the  

UPRR. 

Construction Costs 

This pipeline has the shortest run of all alternatives examined. Also, the depth of the jacking and receiving 

shafts will be approximately 10 feet deep. This depth of cover for the casing (assumed to be 36-inch 

diameter) will meet the requirements of cover for UPRR and Caltrans.  The total estimated cost of this 

alternative is shown in Table 1 below. 

Table 1 – Alternative 2 Rough Order of Magnitude Costs 

Description Quantity Unit Unit Cost Total Cost 

12" DIP Water Main (Open Cut) 30 LF $400 $12,000 

36" Steel Casing and 12" DIP Water Main  (Trenchless) 270 LF $2,200 $594,000 

Receiving Shaft (12x12x12) 64 CY $500 $32,000 

Jacking Shaft (12x40x14) 249 CY $500 $124,444 

Contingency (35%) $266,856 

Subtotal $1,029,300 

Planning, Design, Permitting, Administration (10% of Subtotal) $102,930 

Total $1,132,230 

Risk and Constructability 

Coast Village Road is approximately 20 feet wide and has at least four existing utilities buried within the 

roadway. Of note is an existing 16-inch high pressure gas line that may be close to the receiving shaft. On the 

jacking shaft side, there are two residents who will have limited access to their driveways during 

construction. Coordination with these residents is important to ensure construction would be allowed in 

front of their properties and allow for unrestricted access to these properties. There is a sewer line that runs 

through Butterfly Lane on the south side of the UPRR.  The use of trenchless construction for this alternative 

brings with it the risks associated with trenchless construction (i.e. groundwater conditions, unforeseen 

obstructions, difficult boring conditions, utility conflicts, etc.). 

Stakeholder Coordination 

The major stakeholders for this option include Caltrans and UPRR. This is due to the trenchless crossing that 

is necessary to construct this proposed pipeline alignment.  

Section 3-H 
Page 11 of 26



Coast Village Road Crossing Alternatives Analysis 
January 10, 2024 

J:\_ADMINISTRATION\AGENDAS\Committee Meetings\Operations Committee\2024\January 17, 2024\3-H US101 Conflict at Coast Village 

Road\Crossing Analysis_v5.docx 4 of 11 

Future Operation & Maintenance of Pipeline 

Due to its location, both connection points are easily accessible. If necessary, isolation valves can be placed 

near both connection points to shut down the line if there is a break underneath the Caltrans and UPRR right 

of ways. 

Advantages 

- Shortest alignment

Disadvantages 

- Coordination with private residents

- Congested jacking and receiving shaft areas

- Congested utilities including a high pressure gas line

Alternative 3 

Alternative 3 considers a new 8-inch pipeline that would run through E Cabrillo Boulevard and connect back 

at the end of the District’s water main in Channel Drive. The rest of the distribution system piping would stay 

as is, including the Butterfly Lane crossing remaining as a 6-inch pipeline. Under this alternative, the available 

fire flow at the end of Channel Drive was observed to be higher than that of Alternatives 1 and 2. This is due 

to the connection point being closer to the end of the line on Channel Drive. When running a static fire flow 

of 1,500 gpm at the connection point, results indicate that the 8-inch pipeline would convey approximately 

594 gpm with a headloss of 7 ft/kft.    

Evaluation Criteria 

The following criteria were used to evaluate the Alternative 3 alternative consisting of a new 8-inch pipeline 

connecting the District’s distribution system near the Coast Village Road roundabout to the District’s pipeline 

on Channel Drive.  This new pipeline crossing would be constructed using open cut construction. 

Temporary Community & Traffic Impacts 

This alignment will be within public roads and will be installed using traditional open cut methods. 

Construction of this pipeline will cause traffic disruption and will require extensive traffic control and traffic 

handling to mitigate traffic impacts in this heavily traveled area. 

Hydraulic Performance of System 

This connection will end at Channel Drive which would eliminate a dead end within the District’s system. As  

noted above, this alternative provides satisfactory flows that exceed the results of Alternatives 1 and 2.  The 

available fire flow near the Montecito Sanitary District is approximately 2,000 gpm. 

Potential Need for New Easements 

The alignment will likely need an encroachment permit from the City of Santa Barbara due to the alignment 
being largely within the City’s limits. There may be a need to obtain an encroachment permit from Caltrans 

even though the pipeline goes beneath the freeway overpass within a City roadway.  There are no easements 

required for this pipeline alternative.   

Section 3-H 
Page 12 of 26



Coast Village Road Crossing Alternatives Analysis 
January 10, 2024 

J:\_ADMINISTRATION\AGENDAS\Committee Meetings\Operations Committee\2024\January 17, 2024\3-H US101 Conflict at Coast Village 

Road\Crossing Analysis_v5.docx 5 of 11 

Construction Costs 

This pipeline alignment is the longest of the alternatives considered. Also, this alignment will likely require 

a casing underneath the Caltrans right of way and UPRR even though both are elevated bridges.  The casing 

will be required to extend beyond the rights of way, requiring approximately 520 feet of casing which can be 

installed via open cut methods. The total estimated cost of this alternative is shown in Table 2 below. 

Table 2 – Alternative 3 Rough Order of Magnitude Costs 

Description Quantity Unit Unit Cost Total Cost 

8" DIP  Water Main (Open Cut) 2,030 LF $400 $812,000 

Steel Casing With 8" DIP Water Main (Open Cut) 520 LF $950 $494,000 

Contingency (35%) $457,100 

Subtotal $1,763,100 

Planning, Design, Permitting, Administration (10% of Subtotal) $176,310 

Total $1,939,410 

Risk and Constructability 

This option will be constructed using open cut methods and will not require trenchless construction,  

reducing the construction risks associated with trenchless construction techniques. 

Stakeholder Coordination 

The major stakeholders for this alternative are Caltrans, the City of Santa Barbara, and UPRR. Although there 

will not be any trenchless construction needed for this alternative, the need to coordinate with UPRR and 

Caltrans is still necessary due to crossing underneath both entities via underpasses. The City will also need 

to be involved due to the alignment being within City limits. 

Future Operation & Maintenance of Pipeline 

Due to its location, this pipeline will be easily accessible within public roads. 

Advantages 

- No trenchless construction

Disadvantages 

- Longest alignment

- Need to coordinate with three major stakeholders

- Significant traffic and community impacts

Alternative 4 

Alternative 4 considers a 12-inch diameter pipeline within a 36-inch steel casing which would be installed 

via jack and bore trenchless construction crossing the US 101 near the Music Academy of the West property 

and connect to the District’s distribution system in Coast Village Circle. The rest of the distribution system 

piping would remain as-is.  

Section 3-H 
Page 13 of 26



Coast Village Road Crossing Alternatives Analysis 
January 10, 2024 

J:\_ADMINISTRATION\AGENDAS\Committee Meetings\Operations Committee\2024\January 17, 2024\3-H US101 Conflict at Coast Village 

Road\Crossing Analysis_v5.docx 6 of 11 

Evaluation Criteria 

The following criteria were used to evaluate Alternative 4 consisting of a new 12-inch pipeline connecting 

the District’s distribution system on Coast Village Circle and extending the pipeline to connect near Music 

Academy of the West.  This new pipeline crossing would be constructed using a combination of open cut and 

trenchless construction. 

Temporary Community & Traffic Impacts 

This alignment will require trenchless construction to cross the US 101 and UPRR. The receiving shaft may 

be located within the median on Coast Village Road. In order to connect to the existing distribution system 

on the south side of the US 101, the pipeline will need to be extended via open cut methods through the Music 

Academy of the West parking lot. On the jacking pit side, the construction will need to be coordinated with 

the Music Academy of the West. Parking stalls will be needed to for both construction equipment, material 

staging and construction activities. 

Hydraulic Performance of System 

As noted above, this connection and a 12-inch pipeline will yield satisfactory results under fire flow 

conditions.  The available fire flow near the Montecito Sanitary District is approximately 2,003 gpm. 

Potential Need for New Easements 

This alternative will require extensive coordination with the Music Academy of the West as the project will 

require both temporary construction easements and a permanent easement. 

Construction Costs 

Due to topography of the area on both sides of the crossing, the receiving shaft will need to be approximately 

15 to 18 feet deep. The total estimated cost of this alternative is shown in Table 3 below. 

Table 3 – Alternative 4  Rough Order of Magnitude Costs 

Description Quantity Unit Unit Cost Total Cost 

12" DIP  Water Main (Open Cut) 200 LF $400 $80,000 

36" Steel Casing and 12" DIP Water Main (Trenchless) 310 LF $2,200 $682,000 

Receiving Shaft (12x12x18) 96 CY $500 $48,000 

Jacking Shaft (40x12x18) 320 CY $500 $160,000 

Contingency (35%) $339,500 

Subtotal $1,309,500 

Planning, Design, Permitting, Administration (10% of Subtotal) $130,950 

Total $1,440,450 

Risk and Constructability 

Coast Village Road is heavily travelled and has four existing utilities. On the jacking shaft side there is little 

information about existing utilities in the area on the Music Academy of the West property, however, there 

is a sewer line that runs through Butterfly Lane on the south side of the that must be avoided.  As noted, the 

shafts will be deeper for this alternative, bringing with them additional construction risks and 

constructability concerns.  The use of trenchless construction for this alternative brings with it the risks 

Section 3-H 
Page 14 of 26



Coast Village Road Crossing Alternatives Analysis 
January 10, 2024 

J:\_ADMINISTRATION\AGENDAS\Committee Meetings\Operations Committee\2024\January 17, 2024\3-H US101 Conflict at Coast Village 

Road\Crossing Analysis_v5.docx 7 of 11 

associated with trenchless construction (i.e. groundwater conditions, unforeseen obstructions, difficult 

boring conditions, utility conflicts, etc.). 

Stakeholder Coordination 

The major stakeholders for this option are  the City of Santa Barbara, Caltrans, the Music Academy of the 

West, and UPRR. As noted above, both temporary and permanent easements will be needed from the Music 

Academy of the West. 

Future Operation & Maintenance of Pipeline 

This alternative results in a portion of the pipeline within Music Academy of the West parking lot.  While 

there would be an easement providing future permanent access, this configuration limits unrestricted access 

and could result in other impediments such as parked cars obstructing an emergency repair. 

Advantages 

- Low traffic impact

Disadvantages 

- Jacking shaft is in private parking lot

- Somewhat restricted access for pipeline on private property

Alternative 5 

Alternative 5 analyzes an 8-inch pipeline crossing the US 101 near the Montecito Sanitary District (MSD) 

within a 36-inch steel casing installed via jack and bore.  The rest of the distribution system piping would 

remain as-is. This would place the connection point on the south side of the US 101 near the end of Channel 

Drive.  While running a static fire flow, model results indicate that this pipeline alternative would convey 642 

gpm with a headloss of about 8ft/kft.  

Evaluation Criteria 

The following criteria were used to evaluate Alternative 5 consisting of a new 8-inch pipeline connecting the 

District’s distribution system on Coast Village Road and extending the pipeline to connect near the Montecito 

Sanitary District.  This new pipeline crossing would be constructed using a combination of open cut and 

trenchless construction. 

Temporary Community & Traffic Impacts 

This alignment will require trenchless construction to cross the US 101 and UPRR. The receiving shaft could 

be located within the median on Coast Village Road.  The  jacking pit could be located within the Montecito 

Sanitary District’s property and the pipeline extending from the jacking pit to the District’s pipeline within 

Channel Drive would be constructed via open cut and may require coordination with MSD for access control. 

Hydraulic Performance of System 

As noted above, this connection and an 8-inch pipeline will yield satisfactory results under fire flow 

conditions.  The available fire flow near the Montecito Sanitary District is approximately 2,079 gpm. 

Section 3-H 
Page 15 of 26



Coast Village Road Crossing Alternatives Analysis 
January 10, 2024 

 

J:\_ADMINISTRATION\AGENDAS\Committee Meetings\Operations Committee\2024\January 17, 2024\3-H US101 Conflict at Coast Village 

Road\Crossing Analysis_v5.docx 8 of 11 

Potential Need for New Easements 

This alternative will require extensive coordination with the Montecito Sanitary District as the project will 

require both temporary construction easements and a permanent easement. 

Construction Costs 

Similar to Alternative 4, due to topography of the area on both sides of the crossing, the receiving shaft will 

need to be approximately 15 to 18 feet deep. The total estimated cost of this alternative is shown in Table 4 

below. 

Table 4 – Alternative 5  Rough Order of Magnitude Costs 

Description Quantity Unit Unit Cost Total Cost 

8" DIP  Water Main (Open Cut)  277 LF $400  $110,800  

36" Steel Casing and 8" DIP Water Main  (Trenchless) 290 LF $2,200  $638,000  

Receiving Shaft (12x12x15) 80 CY $500  $40,000  

Jacking Shaft (40x12x10) 178 CY $500  $88,889  

Contingency (35%) $307,191  

Subtotal $1,184,880  

Planning, Design, Permitting, Administration (10% of Subtotal) $118,488  

Total  $1,303,368  

 

Risk and Constructability  

Similar risks and constructability concerns for Alternative 4 are applicable to this alternative.  Coast Village 

Road is heavily travelled and has four existing utilities. On the jacking shaft side there is little information 

about existing utilities in the area on the MSD property, however it is possible that several process pipes or 

other subterranean features for the MSD facility could pose a conflict.  As noted, the shafts will be deeper for 

this alternative, bringing with them additional construction risks and constructability concerns.  The use of 

trenchless construction for this alternative brings with it the risks associated with trenchless construction 

(i.e. groundwater conditions, unforeseen obstructions, difficult boring conditions, utility conflicts, etc.). 

Stakeholder Coordination 

The major stakeholders for this option are the City of Santa Barbara, Caltrans, the Montecito Sanitary District, 

and UPRR. As noted above, both temporary and permanent easements will be needed from the Montecito 

Sanitary District. 

Future Operation & Maintenance of Pipeline 

This alternative results in a portion of the pipeline within Montecito Sanitary District’s treatment plant 

facility.  While there would be an easement providing future permanent access, this configuration limits 

unrestricted access. 

Advantages 

- Provides adequate hydraulic performance 

 

Section 3-H 
Page 16 of 26



Coast Village Road Crossing Alternatives Analysis 
January 10, 2024 

J:\_ADMINISTRATION\AGENDAS\Committee Meetings\Operations Committee\2024\January 17, 2024\3-H US101 Conflict at Coast Village 

Road\Crossing Analysis_v5.docx 9 of 11 

Disadvantages 

- Somewhat restricted access for pipeline on private property

Alternative 6 

Alternative 6 analyzes a proposed 8-inch pipeline inter-connection to the City of Santa Barbara’s (City) 351 

Pressure Zone. Wood Rodgers was provided pipe information and static and residual pressures from the City 

to establish a boundary curve for the City’s distribution system.  The boundary curve represents the future 

condition when the City’s pipeline is no longer a looped connection and is unidirectional feed from the west. 

A pressure reducing station and a flow control valve were added to the District’s hydraulic model to simulate 

the proposed condition for this connection.  In this alternative, the available fire flow at the end of Channel 

drive, near the Montecito Sanitary District, would be approximately 2,500 gpm.  It was determined that under 

this fire flow condition, approximately 1,360 gpm at a velocity of 8.68 ft/s would be supplied by the City 

connection.  While running a static fire flow of 1,500 gpm at the Montecito Sanitary District, the model results 

indicate that the flow coming through the proposed City connection would be approximately 957 gpm with 

a corresponding velocity of 6.11 ft/s.  

Evaluation Criteria 

The following criteria were used to evaluate Alternative 6 consisting of a new 8-inch pipeline connecting the 

District’s distribution system to the City’s system.  This new pipeline would avoid any crossing of the US 101 

and would be constructed open cut methods. 

Temporary Community & Traffic Impacts 

The majority of this alignment is within Channel Drive and will require traffic control and traffic handling 

considerations, including those needs of the nearby Santa Barbara Cemetery.   

Hydraulic Performance of System 

Several hydraulic runs were performed to test the system to ensure that both the City and the District benefit 

from the new connection. It was found that the City’s system could handle up to 1,481 gpm without residual 

pressures dropping below 20 psi within their system.  

The turnover rate within the City’s pipeline segment analyzed was also calculated to determine the amount 

of water moved through the City’s system in this area. Under an average day demand scenario it was 

determined that the average flow provided by the City’s connection would be approximately 130 gpm. This 

flow was used to determine the average volume that would be provided by the City’s pipeline on a day-to-

day basis. Utilizing the lengths and diameters provided by the City, it was determined that the total volume 

that the pipeline contains is 12,545 gallons. Assuming that an average day demand of 130 gpm is supplied by 

the City, this section of City pipeline would be turned over approximately 15 times per day.   

Potential Need for New Easements 

While there will not be a need for easements, this alternative will require an encroachment permit from the 

City of Santa Barbara.  In addition, a water supply agreement or similar agreement will be required between 

the District and City of Santa Barbara for this inter-connection. 

Section 3-H 
Page 17 of 26



Coast Village Road Crossing Alternatives Analysis 
January 10, 2024 

J:\_ADMINISTRATION\AGENDAS\Committee Meetings\Operations Committee\2024\January 17, 2024\3-H US101 Conflict at Coast Village 

Road\Crossing Analysis_v5.docx 10 of 11 

Construction Costs 

This alternative has the lowest estimated costs due to the open cut construction and lack of other constraints. 

The total estimated cost of this alternative is shown in Table 5 below. 

Table 5 – Alternative 6  Rough Order of Magnitude Costs 

Description Quantity Unit Unit Cost Total Cost 

8" DIP  Water Main (Installed w/ Roundabout) 250 LF $313 $78,180 

8" DIP  Water Main (Open Cut) 850 LF $400 $340,000 

Pressure Reducing/Flow Control Valves & Vault 1 LS $60,000 $60,000 

Contingency (35%) $167,363 

Subtotal $645,543 

Planning, Design, Permitting, Administration (10% of Subtotal) $64,554 

Total $710,097 

Risk and Constructability 

This alternative consists largely of open cut construction and could be considered a relatively 

straightforward project.  Therefore, from a construction perspective the risks and complexity for this 

alternative are low. 

Stakeholder Coordination 

The only stakeholder for this alternative is the City of Santa Barbara.  Both an encroachment permit and 

water supply agreement will be needed for the connection and construction of the pipeline. 

Future Operation & Maintenance of Pipeline 

Due to its location within the public right of way, this pipeline would be easily accessible for any future 

maintenance. 

Advantages 

- No trenchless construction

- Provides best hydraulic performance of all alternatives evaluated

- Least construction risk

- Lowest construction cost

Disadvantages 

- Coordination with the City of Santa Barbara

Section 3-H 
Page 18 of 26



Coast Village Road Crossing Alternatives Analysis 
January 10, 2024 

J:\_ADMINISTRATION\AGENDAS\Committee Meetings\Operations Committee\2024\January 17, 2024\3-H US101 Conflict at Coast Village 

Road\Crossing Analysis_v5.docx 11 of 11 

Summary 

The weighted matrix shown in Table 6 below contains the results comparing the various alternatives.   As 

shown in the table, Alternative 6 Channel Drive Intertie with the City of Santa Barbara, is the preferred 

alternative.  This alternative provides the best hydraulic performance of all alternatives, avoids the 

complexities of crossing underneath the US 101 via trenchless methods, has the least construction risk, and 

is the lowest cost.   

Table 6 – Alternatives Analysis Matrix 

Evaluation Criteria 
Criteria 
Weight 

Alternative 2 Alternative 3 Alternative 4 Alternative 5 Alternative 6 

Score Total Score Total Score Total Score Total Score Total 

Temporary 
Community & Traffic 

Impacts 
2 3 6 1 2 4 8 3 6 2 4 

Hydraulic 
Performance of 

System 
7 1 7 2 14 3 21 4 28 5 35 

Potential Need for 
New Easements 

1 5 5 5 5 1 1 2 2 5 5 

Construction Cost 6 4 24 1 6 2 12 3 18 5 30 

Risk and 
Constructability 

5 1 5 4 20 2 10 2 10 4 20 

Stakeholder 
Coordination 

4 4 16 2 8 2 8 2 8 2 8 

Future Operation & 
Maintenance of 

Pipeline 
3 4 12 4 12 2 6 2 6 4 12 

Total - - 75 - 67 - 66 - 78 - 114 

A summary of the rough order of magnitude project costs are shown in Table 7 below. 

Table 7 – Summary of Rough Magnitude Project Costs 

Alternative Total Cost 

Alternative 2 - New Jack & Bore at Butterfly Lane $1,132,230 

Alternative 3 - New Water Main at Cabrillo Underpass $1,939,410 

Alternative 4 - New Jack & Bore at Music Academy of the West $1,440,450 

Alternative 5 - New Jack & Bore at MSD $1,303,368 

Alternative 6 - Channel Drive Intertie with City of Santa Barbara $710,097 

Section 3-H 
Page 19 of 26



Page left intentionally blank.

Section 3-H 
Page 20 of 26



Hot Springs Rd

E Cabrillo Bl
Hot

Springs R
d

Coast
Village Rd

He
rm

os
illo

 D
r Butterfly Ln

101

Old Coast Hwy

Los Patos Wy

Channel Dr

Butterfly Ln

Coast Village Rd

High Rd

Pa
lm

 Tr
ee

 Ln

E Cabr
illo

 Bl

Channel Dr

Oriole Rd

Hill Rd

Coast Village Ci

Monte Cristo Ln

Old Coast Hwy

101

Fairway Rd

Source: Esri, Maxar, Earthstar Geographics, and the GIS User Community

Legend

0 250 500125

Feet

EXHIBIT 1 
COAST VILLAGE ROAD CROSSING 

ALTERNATIVES ANALYSIS
MONTECITO, CA

JANUARY 2024 

J:\Jobs\8774_Montecito Water On Call\001_FY 18 & 19\Special Projects\2022 10 26 CVR Trenchless Evaluation\Model\Alignment Alternatives\Alignment Alternative.mxd 1/11/2024 12:23:06 PM dvalencia

NORTH

Crossing Alternatives
Alternative 2 Open Cut

Alternative 2 Trenchless

Alternative 3 Open Cut

Alternative 4 Open Cut

Alternative 4 Trenchless

Alternative 5 Open Cut

Alternative 5 Trenchless

Alternative 6 Open Cut

Section 3-H Page 21 of 26

dvalencia
Callout
PROPOSED CONNECTION TO CITY OF SANTA BARBARA (ALTERNATIVE 6)



Page left intentionally blank.

Section 3-H 
Page 22 of 26



Sh
ee

t N
o

D
ra

w
in

g 
Sc

al
e

D
at

e

M
O

N
TE

C
IT

O
 W

A
TE

R
 D

IS
TR

IC
T

(8
05

)9
69

-2
27

1 
/ (

80
5)

96
9-

27
61

 F
ax

58
3 

SA
N

 Y
SI

D
R

O
 R

O
AD

, S
AN

TA
 B

AR
BA

R
A,

 C
A 

93
10

8
M

O
N

TE
C

IT
O

 W
AT

ER
 D

IS
TR

IC
T

D
es

ig
n

D
ra

w
n

D
at

e
R

EV
.

D
AT

E
BY

D
ES

C
R

IP
TI

O
N

R
EV

IS
IO

N
S

w
w

w
.m

on
te

ci
to

w
at

er
.c

om

MONTECITO WATER DISTRICT

CABRILLO CHANNEL DR CITY
INTERTIE PROJECT

DRAWING INDEX
SHEET DESCRIPTION

CA
BR

IL
LO

 C
HA

NN
EL

 D
R 

CI
TY

 IN
TE

RT
IE

 P
RO

JE
CT

D
EC

EM
BE

R
 2

02
3

K.
 M

EI
ER

F.
 A

BB
O

TT

Section 3-H 
Page 23 of 26



Sh
ee

t N
o

D
ra

w
in

g 
Sc

al
e

D
at

e

M
O

N
TE

C
IT

O
 W

A
TE

R
 D

IS
TR

IC
T

(8
05

)9
69

-2
27

1 
/ (

80
5)

96
9-

27
61

 F
ax

58
3 

SA
N

 Y
SI

D
R

O
 R

O
AD

, S
AN

TA
 B

AR
BA

R
A,

 C
A 

93
10

8
M

O
N

TE
C

IT
O

 W
AT

ER
 D

IS
TR

IC
T

R
EV

.
D

AT
E

BY
D

ES
C

R
IP

TI
O

N

R
EV

IS
IO

N
S

w
w

w
.m

on
te

ci
to

w
at

er
.c

om

DIAL TOLL FREE

ATTENTION:

contractors sole responsibility to verify, locate and protect all  
information as being accurate and complete. It shall be the  
from others, the Montecito Water District cannot guarantee said  
accurate and complete, but since the information was obtained  
obtained from the best available sources and are presumed to be  
All underground utilities and substructures shown hereon were  

AT LEAST TWO DAYS
BEFORE YOU DIG

811

UNDERGROUND SERVICE ALERT OF SOUTHERN CALIFORNIA all utilities and substructures shown or not shown hereon.

D
es

ig
n

D
ra

w
n

D
at

e
CA

BR
IL

LO
 C

HA
NN

EL
 D

R 
CI

TY
 IN

TE
RT

IE
 P

RO
JE

CT
D

EC
EM

BE
R

 2
02

3

K.
 M

EI
ER

F.
 A

BB
O

TT

CONSTRUCTION NOTES:

Section 3-H 
Page 24 of 26



12+39

10+00

11+00

12+00

10+50

11+50

L1

L2
L3

Sh
ee

t N
o

D
ra

w
in

g 
Sc

al
e

D
at

e

M
O

N
TE

C
IT

O
 W

A
TE

R
 D

IS
TR

IC
T

(8
05

)9
69

-2
27

1 
/ (

80
5)

96
9-

27
61

 F
ax

58
3 

SA
N

 Y
SI

D
R

O
 R

O
AD

, S
AN

TA
 B

AR
BA

R
A,

 C
A 

93
10

8
M

O
N

TE
C

IT
O

 W
AT

ER
 D

IS
TR

IC
T

R
EV

.
D

AT
E

BY
D

ES
C

R
IP

TI
O

N

R
EV

IS
IO

N
S

w
w

w
.m

on
te

ci
to

w
at

er
.c

om

8" WATER PLAN VIEW

D
es

ig
n

D
ra

w
n

D
at

e
CA

BR
IL

LO
 C

HA
NN

EL
 D

R 
CI

TY
 IN

TE
RT

IE
 P

RO
JE

CT
D

EC
EM

BE
R

 2
02

3

K.
 M

EI
ER

F.
 A

BB
O

TT

CONSTRUCTION NOTES:

GENERAL NOTES:

Section 3-H 
Page 25 of 26



Sh
ee

t N
o

D
ra

w
in

g 
Sc

al
e

D
at

e

M
O

N
TE

C
IT

O
 W

A
TE

R
 D

IS
TR

IC
T

(8
05

)9
69

-2
27

1 
/ (

80
5)

96
9-

27
61

 F
ax

58
3 

SA
N

 Y
SI

D
R

O
 R

O
AD

, S
AN

TA
 B

AR
BA

R
A,

 C
A 

93
10

8
M

O
N

TE
C

IT
O

 W
AT

ER
 D

IS
TR

IC
T

R
EV

.
D

AT
E

BY
D

ES
C

R
IP

TI
O

N

R
EV

IS
IO

N
S

w
w

w
.m

on
te

ci
to

w
at

er
.c

om

D
es

ig
n

D
ra

w
n

D
at

e
CA

BR
IL

LO
 C

HA
NN

EL
 D

R 
CI

TY
 IN

TE
RT

IE
 P

RO
JE

CT
D

EC
EM

BE
R

 2
02

3

K.
 M

EI
ER

F.
 A

BB
O

TT

Section 3-H 
Page 26 of 26



MONTECITO WATER DISTRICT 
MEMORANDUM  

SECTION: 3-I

DATE: JANUARY 17, 2024 

TO: OPERATIONS AND CUSTOMER RELATIONS COMMITTEE 

FROM: GENERAL MANAGER  

SUBJECT: DECLARATION OF SURPLUS EQUIPMENT 

RECOMMENDATION: 

That the Operations and Customer Relations Committee recommend that the Board of Directors 
declare the District equipment listed in this staff report as surplus and offer the equipment to 
auction. 

DISCUSSION: 

The District’s Vehicle Replacement Policy, dated November 16, 2004, provides replacement 
criteria for District vehicles of either 8 years of age, or 90,000 miles. Pursuant to the Policy, the 
General Manager shall evaluate the physical condition, maintenance history, and safety and 
functionality of District vehicles and make recommendations to the Board of Directors on vehicle 
replacements. The table below presents information about District trucks previously identified as 
having reached the end of their useful life pursuant to the Vehicle Replacement Policy, and which 
have been removed from service and replaced.  The table below also presents information about a 
small utility trailer and camper that are no longer needed.  

Asset 
ID 

Year Description Mileage Notes 

F001 2002 CHEVROLET SILVERADO 2500 HD  63,000 Faulty knock sensors, faulty lift-bed, 
damaged interior 

F002 2005 CHEVROLET SILVERADO 1500 112,000 Broken fuel injectors; cylinder head 
gasket leaks coolant 

F011 2011 CHEVROLET SILVERADO 2500 HD 127,000 Excessive Body/Frame Rust 

F013 2017 CHEVROLET SILVERADO 1500 110,000 Failed transmission; electrical 
problems; frequent start/stop mileage 

N/A ? Custom Built Utility Trailer N/A Fabricated by Staff; no longer in use 

F032 2018 KEYSTONE COUGAR X-LITE 5th 
WHEEL RV N/A Purchased by JPIA for Jameson after 

1/9 event; proceeds due back to JPIA 

Section 3-I 
Page 1 of 2



The equipment listed in the table above is recommended for disposal in accordance with the 
District’s Fixed Asset Disposal Policy adopted on June 27, 2023.  The equipment will be sent to 
auction.    Any monies received at auction will be added to the District’s unassigned funds except 
for those monies related to the camper, which will be reimbursed to the District’s insurance 
company, ACWA JPIA.   

Section 3-I 
Page 2 of 2



MONTECITO WATER DISTRICT 
MEMORANDUM 

SECTION: 3-J

DATE: JANUARY 17, 2024 

TO: OPERATIONS AND CUSTOMER RELATIONS COMMITTEE 

FROM: ASSISTANT GENERAL MANAGER & GENERAL MANAGER 

SUBJECT: CONTRACT AMENDMENT FOR THE JUNCAL PIPELINE REPAIR 
PROJECT RESULTING FROM THE JANUARY 2023 STORMS 

RECOMMENDATION: 

That the Operations and Customer Relations Committee recommend the Board of Directors 
authorize a contract amendment for the Juncal Pipeline Repair Project to Schock Contracting 
Corporation for a not to exceed amount of $52,400.20, to be allocated from District unassigned 
funds and which is 95% reimbursable by FEMA/CalOES. 

DISCUSSION: 

In April 2023, the Board of Directors authorized a contract with Schock Contracting Corporation 
(Schock) for construction services related to the repair of the Juncal Pipeline which was damaged 
during the January 9 and 10, 2023 storms. The Schock contract has been amended twice to account 
for unforeseen requests from the US Forest Service during construction.  The project was 
completed on November 17, 2023.    

During the demobilization process, the US Forest Service staff required Schock to make repairs to 
the road prior to full demobilization. The repairs included grading the dirt road in 8 locations to 
remove ruts and rocks and adding drainage berms in 12 locations where runoff crosses the road.  
Schock communicated the additional requirement to District management before performing any 
extra work.  District management requested Schock proceed with the work and demobilize as soon 
as possible.  The roadway work was completed by November 17, 2023.  As shown in Attachment 
1, Schock has requested a contract amendment of $52,400.20 to cover the costs of labor and 
equipment to perform the road repairs.  

FISCAL IMPACT: 

The requested contract amendment would increase project costs by $52,400.20, of which the 
District would be responsible for 6.25% or $3,275.01.  The remainder is reimbursable by 
FEMA/CalOES.  

ATTACHMENTS 

1. Request for Contract Amendment from Schock Contracting Corporation

Section 3-J 
Page 1 of 4



Page left intentionally blank.

Section 3-J 
Page 2 of 4



 
SCHOCK CONTRACTING CORP. 

GENERAL ENGINEERING 
 

 

January 11, 2024 
 
 
 
Attention: Adam 
Montecito Water District 
583 San Ysidro Road 
Santa Barbara, CA 93108 
Phone: 805.969.2271 
 
 
Adam, 
 
Per your request, below is additional cost associated with the Juncal Pipeline project.  The 
extra was incurred due to the Forest Service requiring reconstruction/repairs to the road 
from the worksite to the Romero Saddle.  The extra work was not considered in the 
original bid and could not have been anticipated. 
 
Total amount of extra work $52,400.20 
 
Work item Number 1: Constructing rolling dips in 12 different locations. The work included 
excavating and compacting at select locations in a 2-3 mile stretch of road. The 
equipment required for this work included excavators, loaders, water trucks, crew trucks 
and various hand tools. 
 
Work item Number 2: Regrading Road at 8 locations to allow for proper drainage of water. 
The work included excavating/filling 8 locations in a 2-3 mile stretch of road. The 
equipment required for this work included excavators, loaders, dozer, water truck, crew 
trucks and various hand tools. 
 
If you have any questions or need any additional information, please contact me. 
 
 
Sincerely,  
John  
 
 
 
 
 

p.o. Box 61505 Santa Barbara, California 93160 
Phone: 805-681-9796 Fax: 805-681-9717 

License # 691211 DIR# 10000012248 
www.SchockContracting.com Section 3-J 

Page 3 of 4

http://www.schockcontracting.com/


Page left intentionally blank.

Section 3-J 
Page 4 of 4



MONTECITO WATER DISTRICT 
MEMORANDUM 

SECTION: 3-K

DATE: JANUARY 17, 2024 

TO: OPERATIONS AND CUSTOMER RELATIONS COMMITTEE 

FROM: GENERAL MANAGER / PUBLIC INFORMATION OFFICER  

SUBJECT: CUSTOMER RELATIONS AND PUBLIC INFORMATION UPDATE 

RECOMMENDATION: 

Information only. 

DISCUSSION: 

District outreach methods include e-News, bill inserts, bill messages, press releases, website 
updates, articles, social media posts, advertisements, regular updates in meeting presentations to 
community organizations, and participation in events.  

Ongoing themes in communications are consistent with the District’s 2022 5-Year Strategic Plan 
and local and State initiatives including “Water Conservation is a California Way of Life.” Recent 
highlights include: 

Holiday Activities. Toys for Tots toy collection in partnership with Unity Shoppe; Montecito 
Association and Community Partner Holiday Parade. 

 Partner Programs. Current countywide initiatives include promotion of the Green Gardener 
program and the High School Video Contest. A new Facebook campaign developed to improve 
reach through sharing across organizations is launched with a focus on native plants / landscaping. 

AMI “Smart Meters.” Outreach is ongoing and customer registration is now at 20%.  Internally 
staff continue to coordinate to ensure responsiveness and consistency while developing best 
practices for customer support through the new Watersmart program.  

Rebates. With regular inclusion in all outreach materials and advertising, the rebate program 
continues to receive attention.   

Rate Study.  Pertaining to the Board’s consideration of a new rate structure which may be adopted 
by July 1, 2024, customer information and outreach will be supported by consultants from Raftelis 
consistent with the prior rate study.  

Section 3-K 
Page 1 of 6



Position Openings. The employment page of the District web site is up to date with open positions 
and application information.  

ATTACHMENTS: 

1. December Bill Insert

2. Enews (1-5-2024)

Section 3-K 
Page 2 of 6



Section 3-K 
Page 3 of 6



Section 3-K 
Page 4 of 6



Trouble Viewing this email? View it in your browser.

Latest News from Montecito Water District

RAIN ON!

IRRIGATION OFF?
The District measured 6-10 inches of rain (depending on location)

in the month of December, and nearly half an inch so far in January. 

To make the most of winter's bounty, turn off all irrigation systems
before, during, and after rainfall.

Perhaps no outdoor watering will be needed for the remainder of the month?
Now that's a great way to start the new year!

> Click here for a direct link to National Weather Service
> Click here to access local rainfall data

GREAT OPPORTUNITIES

Green Gardener Program - Next Session Starts January 22, 2024

Enroll yourself or encourage someone you know to learn more
> Click Here for Flyer (PDF - Bilingual)

For over 20 years, the Green Gardener Program for Santa Barbara County has
educated local gardeners in resource efficiency and pollution prevention

landscape maintenance practices. The Green Gardener Program is a regional
program designed to offer education, training, and promotion of participating

gardeners and landscape maintenance contractors. Since Fall 2000, thousands of
students have completed the certification program offered through the Santa
Barbara City College's School of Extended Learning in Santa Barbara and Allan

Hancock College in Santa Maria.

____________________________________________________

Annual High School Video Contest 

This year's contest theme is "Tips for an Inspired Water Wise Garden"
Application Deadline: Friday, March 8th 2024
Click Here for More Information

2024 marks the 25th Annual WaterWise High School Video Contest!
High school filmmakers throughout Santa Barbara County are challenged to

produce creative and high-quality 30 second videos on the importance of water
use efficiency in Santa Barbara County. The winning videos are aired on local TV,

digital, and movie theater ads as a Public Service Announcement on water
conservation. Students also win prizes for themselves and their schools. Up to six

video entries, three Spanish and three English, are allowed per school.
 

Section 3-K 
Page 5 of 6

https://click.icptrack.com/icp/rclick.php?cid=1446240&mid=178764&destination=https%3A%2F%2Fforecast.weather.gov%2FMapClick.php%3Flat%3D34.42291110000008%26lon%3D-119.64422789999998%23.X6WVyWhKiUk&cfid=3186&vh=bb15ca17b07a53a7813a61e447cd2f039607813d2de0ac67db762353f35f7449
https://click.icptrack.com/icp/rclick.php?cid=1446240&mid=178764&destination=https%3A%2F%2Frain.cosbpw.net%2F&cfid=3186&vh=13cae1803048a3abdf46d2bab2cddf5c307d54edf2e6d84951c63a94e016a87d
https://click.icptrack.com/icp/rclick.php?cid=1446240&mid=178764&destination=https%3A%2F%2Fcontent.civicplus.com%2Fapi%2Fassets%2Fbeac2da6-da85-43c5-8d65-0ae887d2c974&cfid=3186&vh=6b1cc13453406f48305f375f395154a9e8d75a12877f15b047f131a433cbb6a6
https://click.icptrack.com/icp/rclick.php?cid=1446240&mid=178764&destination=https%3A%2F%2Fcontent.civicplus.com%2Fapi%2Fassets%2Fbeac2da6-da85-43c5-8d65-0ae887d2c974&cfid=3186&vh=6b1cc13453406f48305f375f395154a9e8d75a12877f15b047f131a433cbb6a6
https://click.icptrack.com/icp/rclick.php?cid=1446240&mid=178764&destination=https%3A%2F%2Fcontent.civicplus.com%2Fapi%2Fassets%2Fbeac2da6-da85-43c5-8d65-0ae887d2c974&cfid=3186&vh=6b1cc13453406f48305f375f395154a9e8d75a12877f15b047f131a433cbb6a6
https://click.icptrack.com/icp/rclick.php?cid=1446240&mid=178764&destination=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.waterwisesb.org%2F2499%2FHigh-School-Video-Contest&cfid=3186&vh=56754f8104cd7e0ea9515dd87c6d4cf65a810c1e6d898ffa24812ab9aca0b8d9


REBATES - AVAILABLE NOW

Winter months are the perfect time to maintain or update irrigation systems and
reinvent landscaping with water wise solutions, such as native plants and mulch,

to lower property water needs long-term.
Looking for a little incentive to get things rolling? 

> Click here for program details

CAPITAL IMPROVEMENTS

Water main replacement on Channel Drive and Monte Cristo Lane
Now Underway

Montecito Water District is one hundred years old—and so are some of its
pipelines! As part of its Capital Improvements program, the District will be
upgrading approximately 1/3 mile of water main that dates back to the 1920's.
These projects improve water delivery reliability by helping prevent unplanned
water outages and water loss experienced during main breaks. While work is
planned in efficient short stretches to minimize impacts, avoiding the area during
construction hours when possible is advised.

Project Information
Anticipated completion date: January 31, 2024

Hours: Monday-Thursday 8 a.m. to 4 p.m., Friday 8 a.m. to 1 p.m
Contractor: Tierra Contracting Inc. 

Traffic Impacts: Road to remain passable, possible delays up to 5 minutes.
No work will take place on weekends or holidays.

Customers will be notified prior to any water shut offs.
Questions? Please call 805.969.2271 

Connect with us on Social Media

  Facebook  — facebook.com/montecitowater.com
Twitter  — @montecitowater
Web — montecitowater.com

Know Interested Readers? Please FORWARD this message.
Have Questions? Please CONTACT the District

583 San Ysidro Road, Montecito, CA 93108-2124 • 805.969.2271 • email: info@montecitowater.com
BOARD OF DIRECTORS: Kenneth Coates, President | Brian Goebel, Vice President

Cori Hayman, Director | Tobe Plough, Director | Floyd Wicks, Director
General Manager and Board Secretary: Nick Turner

Section 3-K 
Page 6 of 6

https://click.icptrack.com/icp/rclick.php?cid=1446240&mid=178764&destination=https%3A%2F%2Fmontecitowater.com%2Fconservation%2Frebates%2F&cfid=3186&vh=be2d3ea5981e859d08628b6744a30016cc993ce1e80d82bfdc19874074f004de
https://click.icptrack.com/icp/rclick.php?cid=1446240&mid=178764&destination=tel%3A805.969.2271&cfid=3186&vh=7139f01dcb6e636b0a2aa576b47278f35ca236ff10aec14bbecd6a9816756a4b
https://click.icptrack.com/icp/rclick.php?cid=1446240&mid=178764&destination=https%3A%2F%2Fmontecitowater.com%2Fnews-information%2Fnews-and-press%2F%23&cfid=3186&vh=88f98323d7eb13f653ee0f50e880c5a9cd0211f1919617765f9292bfb33bad34
https://click.icptrack.com/icp/rclick.php?cid=1446240&mid=178764&destination=https%3A%2F%2Fmontecitowater.com%2Fnews-information%2Fnews-and-press%2F%23&cfid=3186&vh=88f98323d7eb13f653ee0f50e880c5a9cd0211f1919617765f9292bfb33bad34
https://click.icptrack.com/icp/rclick.php?cid=1446240&mid=178764&destination=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.facebook.com%2Fmontecitowater%3Fref%3Dhl&cfid=3186&vh=112ae7fd17929e1c205cb708b56f1bb76aa7c14d0b0adaaa1423fbd06e4a8a11
https://click.icptrack.com/icp/rclick.php?cid=1446240&mid=178764&destination=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.facebook.com%2Fmontecitowater%3Fref%3Dhl&cfid=3186&vh=112ae7fd17929e1c205cb708b56f1bb76aa7c14d0b0adaaa1423fbd06e4a8a11
https://click.icptrack.com/icp/rclick.php?cid=1446240&mid=178764&destination=https%3A%2F%2Ftwitter.com%2Fmontecitowater&cfid=3186&vh=e62b303ba4f48418a363d0f1f5a59ef2fefe7598aa7c88d389e7651fe1d58777
https://click.icptrack.com/icp/rclick.php?cid=1446240&mid=178764&destination=https%3A%2F%2Ftwitter.com%2Fmontecitowater&cfid=3186&vh=e62b303ba4f48418a363d0f1f5a59ef2fefe7598aa7c88d389e7651fe1d58777
https://click.icptrack.com/icp/rclick.php?cid=1446240&mid=178764&destination=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.facebook.com%2Fmontecitowater%23&cfid=3186&vh=b95f230444b244f2da8fc7dfa86c6f8cff257326e94e3043ac7bc2a071026310
https://click.icptrack.com/icp/rclick.php?cid=1446240&mid=178764&destination=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.twitter.com%2Fmontecitowater&cfid=3186&vh=4054e72f6b70da5a9ee93817413f4a2cc4d6749e1e3d50402f341bfab6d87a31
https://click.icptrack.com/icp/rclick.php?cid=1446240&mid=178764&destination=http%3A%2F%2Fwww.montecitowater.com&cfid=3186&vh=041102e1573b2c28e8f23ca7a45e73187c6a286368713aeff9cdb9f187767ff6
https://click.icptrack.com/icp/rclick.php?cid=1446240&mid=178764&destination=http%3A%2F%2Fwww.montecitowater.com%2Fcontact-us.htm&cfid=3186&vh=f9da9fbffc09cb525c8aa1ce490b3412afc6387bffaf2d1a7294c42a5dabbb45
mailto:info@montecitowater.com?subject=Enews%20response

	January 17, 2024 OPS Agenda
	3-A Parcel Budgets 1-17-24 rev2
	3-B 2024 Employee Handbook Update 1-17-23.pdf
	3-B 2024 Employee Handbook 1-17-23.pdf
	FORWARD
	1. INTRODUCTION
	1.1 MISSION STATEMENT
	1.2 VISION STATEMENT

	2. EMPLOYMENT PRACTICES
	2.1 PRE-EMPLOYMENT PHYSICAL EXAMINATIONS
	2.2 REHIRED EMPLOYEES
	2.3 AUTHORIZATION TO WORK
	2.4 DEFINITIONS
	2.5 EQUAL EMPLOYMENT OPPORTUNITY
	2.6 EMPLOYEE REFERENCES
	2.7 HIRING PRACTICES AND APPLICATION PROCEDURES
	2.8 ANNIVERSARY DATES
	2.9 JOB PERFORMANCE REVIEW
	2.10 PERSONNEL FILES
	2.11 JOB DESCRIPTION
	2.12 CLASSIFICATION STUDY REQUESTS
	2.13 NOTICE OF CHANGES TO EMPLOYEE INFORMATION
	2.14 OUTSIDE EMPLOYMENT

	3. HOURS, PAY PRACTICES AND BREAK TIME
	3.1 NORMAL WORKING HOURS
	3.2 OVERTIME
	3.3 AFTER HOURS POLICY (ON-CALL AND OTHER PAY)
	3.4 COMPENSATORY TIME
	3.5 PAYDAY AND TIMESHEETS
	3.6 REST AND MEAL BREAKS
	3.7 LACTATION ACCOMMODATION Policy
	3.8 RESIDENCY

	4. BENEFITS
	4.1 HEALTH INSURANCE BENEFITS
	4.2 FLEXIBLE SPENDING ACCOUNT & DEPENDENT CARE ACCOUNT
	4.3 RETIREMENT PROGRAM
	4.4 VACATION
	4.5 HOLIDAYS
	4.6 LONGEVITY PAY
	4.7 COST OF LIVING ADJUSTMENT OF WAGES AND SALARIES (COLA)
	4.8 WORKERS' COMPENSATION
	4.9 CONTINUATION OF HEALTH COVERAGE (COBRA)
	4.10 EMPLOYEE ASSISTANCE PLAN (EAP)
	4.11 REIMBURSABLE ITEMS
	4.12 CERTIFICATION INCENTIVE PAY
	4.13 TEMPORARY PROMOTION

	5. LEAVES OF ABSENCE
	5.1 SICK LEAVE
	5.2 FAMILY AND MEDICAL LEAVE
	5.3 MILITARY LEAVE
	5.4 MILITARY FAMILY LEAVE
	5.5 DOMESTIC VIOLENCE LEAVE
	5.6 PREGNANCY-RELATED DISABILITY LEAVE (PDL)
	5.7 PERSONAL LEAVE OF ABSENCE
	5.8 NEW PARENT LEAVE
	5.8 BEREAVEMENT LEAVE/REPRODUCTIVE LOSS LEAVE
	5.9 JURY/WITNESS DUTY
	5.10 RELIGIOUS OBSERVANCE LEAVE
	5.11 TIME TO VOTE
	5.12 OTHER LEGALLY REQUIRED LEAVES OF ABSENCE
	5.13 GENERAL STATUS DURING UNPAID LEAVES OF ABSENCE
	5.14 EARLY RETURN TO WORK Program
	5.15 FITNESS-FOR-DUTY EXAMINATION

	6. RULES OF CONDUCT
	6.1 DISCIPLINARY ACTION
	6.2 PERSONAL BUSINESS CONDUCT
	6.3 DISTRICT PROPERTY
	6.4 WORKPLACE VIOLENCE
	6.5 PERSONAL APPEARANCE
	6.6 ANTI-HARASSMENT, ANTI-DISCRIMINATION, ANTI-RETALIATION POLICY
	6.7 COMPLAINT PROCESS
	6.8 GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE
	6.9 SAFETY PROGRAMS
	6.10 INJURY AT WORK
	6.11 EMERGENCY PREPAREDNESS
	6.12 SAFE DRIVING PROGRAM
	6.13 USE OF DISTRICT and Personal VEHICLES
	6.14 CELLULAR PHONE, PDA, RADIO POLICY
	6.15 SMOKE FREE ENVIRONMENT
	6.16 VOICE MAIL, E-MAIL AND TECHNOLOGY POLICY
	6.17 RECORDING WITHOUT CONSENT POLICY
	6.18 MERCHANDISING OR SOLICITING ON DISTRICT PREMISES
	6.19 BULLETIN BOARD
	6.20 PARKING FACILITIES
	6.21 LOANS, ADVANCES, PERSONAL CHECKS
	6.22 LUNCHROOM

	7. SUBSTANCE ABUSE
	7.1 PURPOSE OF POLICY
	7.2 DEFINITIONS
	7.3 EMPLOYEE ASSISTANCE
	7.4 USE OF LEGAL DRUGS
	7.5 PROHIBITED CONDUCT

	8. TESTING FOR ILLEGAL DRUGS AND ALCOHOL
	8.1 JOB APPLICANTS
	8.2 TESTING OF EMPLOYEES

	9. DISCIPLINARY GUIDELINES
	9.1 CAUSES FOR TERMINATION
	9.2 DISCRETION NOT TO TERMINATE
	9.3 EFFECT OF CRIMINAL DRUG CONVICTION
	9.4 EFFECT OF SECOND DRUG VIOLATION

	10. SOCIAL MEDIA
	10.1 KNOW AND FOLLOW THE RULES
	10.2 BE RESPECTFUL
	10.3 BE HONEST AND ACCURATE
	10.4 POST ONLY APPROPRIATE AND RESPECTFUL CONTENT
	10.5 USING SOCIAL MEDIA AT WORK
	10.6 RETALIATION IS PROHIBITED
	10.7 MEDIA CONTACTS
	10.8 FOR MORE INFORMATION

	ACKNOWLEDGMENT FORM


	3-C COVID-19 Prevention and Response Plan Rev 6 1-9-24
	1.0   PURPOSE
	2.0   AUTHORITY AND RESPONSIBILITY
	3.0   PLAN REVISIONS
	4.0   DEFINITIONS
	5.0   PREVENTION PROCEDURES
	6.0   EXPOSURE CONTROL
	7.0   COVID-19 HAZARD IDENTIFICATION, REVIEW AND CORRECTION
	8.0   INVESTIGATING AND RESPONDING TO COVID-19 AND CLOSE CONTACT CASES
	9.0   TRAINING AND INSTRUCTION
	10.0   REPORTING AND RECORDKEEPING
	11.0   RESOURCES
	APPENDIX A: IDENTIFICATION OF COVID-19 HAZARDS
	APPENDIX B: COVID-19 WORKPLACE INSPECTIONS
	APPENDIX C: INVESTIGATING COVID-19 CASES
	APPENDIX D: COVID-19 TRAINING ROSTER
	APPENDIX E: MULTIPLE COVID-19 INFECTIONS AND OUTBREAKS

	3-D Reso 2271 Updated Procurement Policy 1-17-24
	3-E Reso 2272 Updated Signatory Authority Policy 1-17-24
	3-F Conservation Program rev1
	3-G Office Repaving Opportunity REV1
	3-H CVR Crossing1
	3-I Surplus Equipment 1-17-24 REV1
	3-J Juncal Pipe Change Order 1-17-24
	3-K Customer Relations 01-17-24



